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Shareholder Information Online

www.gwpaholdings.com

Our website contains up-to-date information about our Company
including financial information, corporate communications and

other corporate information
Authorised Representatives

Mr. Meng Xuefeng
Mr. Kong Hok Kan

Company Secretary
Mr. Kong Hok Kan (ACS and ACIS)

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Agent in
Bermuda

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
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Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Registered Office in Bermuda

Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in
Hong Kong

21st Floor, Bank of America Tower
12 Harcourt Road

Central

Hong Kong

Stock Listing

Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Stock Code: 583

A ERRESR

www.gwpaholdings.com

AAFMBUEBERAMAR AL BIER - 01

BEER - ATBRREATER

RERK

mEERLE
TEEEE

NREIMWE
TTEH A (ACSRACIS)

REFENTERNBFETE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4th Floor North, Cedar House, 41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda
EEROBFERTE
BEPREBEAELARAT
BT 2B AER183%
BRALTTME
BREDMRER

Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

RNEERNEB2ERE RN

B

IR

BRE129%
EBRITHO 218

R EhER

AR AT EMR £
PSR - 583

REBRDZERERIE — T NFERE

3



CORPORATE INFORMATION
2 | % R

Principal Bankers

1. The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

2. Bankof China (Hong Kong) Limited
1 Garden Road, Hong Kong

3. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
33/F, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

4. China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
28/F, CCB Tower, 3 Connaught Road Central, Central
Hong Kong

5. Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch
25/F., Agricultural Bank of China Tower
50 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

6. Bankof China Limited, Macau Branch
Bank of China Building, Avenida Doutor Mario Soares, Macau

7. United Overseas Bank Limited
23/F, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong Legal Adviser

lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries
Rooms 2201, 2201A & 2202
22nd Floor, Tower |

Admiralty Centre

No. 18 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

4 |

FEERELT

1. BRLSESRITARAR
BRERANEP 1R

2. HERTT(FE)BRAT]
BBILEB 15

3. WEITRAERT (M) ERAT
FBPIREEBE3R T B TRRITAEI3E

4. PEIEFRIRIT (M) BRIDERAR
EARBRTHER I hEERBITAE
2812

5. REERERITEENIT
EARBRTHER0FPEEERITAE
2512

6. FERTRNERARRFMDTT
SRPIER T NI T XS h BRI TAE

7. RERTBRAF
BB IRIEEB357 2318

BREEER

PRRRE AT T

00

BRE 185

BEHL

—RE2218

2201 % » 2201AE ] 2202

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019



CORPORATE INFORMATION

=t = ©
AE B R
Auditor A=l
PricewaterhouseCoopers EORFKESFRISET
Certified Public Accountants BANEGE
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor RPN EESS 4 2t G
22/F, Prince’s Building BEATIR
Central, Hong Kong RFRE2218

REBDERBRAR —Z—NFEHRSE | 5



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am pleased
to report that we continued to successfully execute our strategic
objectives in year 2019.

Financial Results

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately HK$168.4 million and a consolidated
net profit attributable to Shareholders of approximately
HK$487.0 million, which included fair value gain on investment
properties of approximately HK$169.2 million.

Carving out this exceptional item, the consolidated net profit
attributable to Shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2019 amounted to approximately HK$317.8 million, representing
an increase of 73.9% as compared with HK$182.8 million in
2018. The increase in net profit was mainly due to the share of
profits of associates for the year ended 31 December 2019 of
approximately HK$427.4 million, representing an increase of
52.8% as compared with HK$279.7 million in 2018. Earnings per
share were HK31.1 cents in 2019, based on weighted average of
1,567,745,596 Shares in issue, compared with HK37.2 cents in
2018.

Property Investment

During the year 2019, the Group’s property investment segment
continued to contribute stable rental income and profit to the
Group by maintaining satisfactory occupancy rates of and
income from the investment properties in Hong Kong, comprising
of Kwai Fong Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower
in Central, Yue King Building in Causeway Bay (including the
outdoor billboards at the exterior wall), Ko Fai Industrial Building
in Yau Tong and Sea View Estate in North Point. These investment
properties generated segment operating revenue of HK$120.9
million and recorded an aggregate property revaluation gain of
HK$169.2 million during the year, which were benefited from the
stable property market in Hong Kong.
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The Group had made substantial steps in improving its
existing positions within the property industry in Hong Kong
by completing the investment, through a joint venture, in a
diversified retail portfolio in Hong Kong in February 2018.
The portfolio comprises a number of strategically-located
commercial properties and shopping centres, plazas
and carparks across Hong Kong that sit in the heart of
densely-populated communities and in close proximity to Mass
Transit Railway stations. The Group subsequently completed
the acquisition of one of the commercial properties in the
portfolio, namely Kwai Fong Plaza in June 2018, which enabled
the Group to further expand its property investment business,
thereby creating additional source of revenue and enhancing its
profitability. These transactions mark a new milestone for the
Group in gaining sizeable retail presence in Hong Kong.

Financial Services

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
holds license under the SFO to carry out Type 1 (dealing in
securities) (restricted by certain conditions), Type 4 (advising
on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type
9 (asset management) regulated activities in Hong Kong. The
asset management business generates revenue by charging
management fees based on the amount of assets under
management and the scope of services of corporate finance
services includes advising on corporate finance transactions,
advising on deal structure and financing strategies in the context
of mergers and acquisitions, takeovers and other notifiable
transactions. The revenue and profit generated from financial
services segment decreased by approximately 10% and 50%
respectively, from HK$52.5 million and HK$13.9 million in prior
year to approximately HK$47.5 million and HK$6.9 million in the
current year. The decreases were mainly due to the unfavourable
economic environment and fluctuating capital markets during
the year.

The 2020 fiscal year is expected to be full of challenges in view of
the global macroeconomy. We expect the operating performance
of relevant assets and businesses and the estimation of changes
in the fair value of investment properties will be temporarily
affected by the unrelenting trade disputes between China and
the United States, the local social political events and the recent
outbreak of COVID-19, yet we believe the current epidemic and
disputes will soon be resolved, and remains confident of the
long-term economic prospects of Hong Kong.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Moreover, the Group will actively seize the investment
opportunities, especially the development opportunities arising
from the China’s Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area strategic plan, in expanding its scope of businesses
and exploring potential investment projects by continuously
leveraging on the brand of GWAMCC. With the support and
experience of the Group’s controlling Shareholders, the Board
and the management of the Company are committed to
expanding prudently and thoroughly the Group’s businesses to
generate favourable investment returns to our Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express the Board’s sincere
gratitude to all our Shareholders, investors, customers and
business partners for their continuous support and to express
my appreciation to my fellow Directors, management and all
the staff of the Company, who have contributed substantially
to our success, for their hard work, dedication and contribution
throughout the year.

Mr. Chen Zenan
Chairman of the Board

18 March 2020
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Hu, aged 56, was born in Ledong County, Hainan
Province, and graduated from postgraduate course. He has
engaged in finance-related work since August 1983, and
obtained the title of senior economist in 1998. He holds a Master
degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business, and has investigated and studied asset
management and investment banking business in the United
States of America, United Kingdom, Germany and Japan. He
served as a non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company from 5 November 2016 until 15
March 2019. He was subsequently re-designated as an executive
Director and was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company on 15 March 2019. From August 1983 to October
1995, Mr. Huang served as deputy division chief, division chief
of human resources department, assistant to director and
deputy director of human resources department (in charge of
comprehensive work) in Guangdong branch of Agricultural Bank
of China (“ABChina”). From October 1995 to October 1996, he
served as deputy governor and Party member in Guangdong
Province Jiangmen branch of ABChina, and governor of Jiangmen
Waihai sub-branch. From October 1996 to June 1998, he served
as Party member in Guangzhou branch and Party secretary in
Guangzhou Suixi sub-branch of ABChina. From June 1998 to
December 1999, he served as Party secretary to the governor
in Guangdong Province Shaoguan branch. From December
1999 to January 2007, he served as deputy general manager,
Party member and secretary of the Commission for discipline
inspection of the Guangzhou office of GWAMCC. From January
2007 to January 2014, Mr. Huang served as general manager and
Party secretary of the Haikou office of GWAMCC. Since January
2014, Mr. Huang has served as supervisor and chief supervisor
of Great Wall Financing Assurance Co., Ltd.* (KRB EERE
R 7)), while also holding the positions of supervisor and vice
chairman of the supervisory committee of Great Wall Xinsheng
Trust Co., Ltd. (RWFEEFLAREEAR]). Since May 2015,
he has served as director of Great Wall Guofu Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.* (RIMBEIE BB AH). Since June 2015, he has served as
director of Great Wall International.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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Mr. Meng Xuefeng, aged 49, has been an executive Director and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company since
5 November 2016, and a Deputy Chief Executive Officer since
22 March 2017. Mr. Meng is also currently a director of various
subsidiaries and associates of the Company. Mr. Meng holds a
Master degree in economics from Jinan University. From 2000 to
June 2006, Mr. Meng worked in Guangzhou office of GWAMCC,
and served as deputy director of the business development
department of Guangzhou office of GWAMCC from May 2005 to
June 2006. From June 2006 to July 2010, Mr. Meng served as
director of Guangdong Zhongchangxin Investment Management
Co., Ltd.* (BRAREIKEEEARAF). From July 2010 to
February 2012, Mr. Meng held the position of senior deputy
manager and senior manager of the assets operation department
of Guangzhou office of GWAMCC. From February 2012 to March
2015, Mr. Meng served as senior manager of the intermediary
business department of Guangzhou office of GWAMCC, where he
also once acted as senior manager of the second intermediary
business department. From March 2015 to July 2017, Mr. Meng
served as senior manager of Great Wall International and has
served as deputy general manager of Great Wall International
since July 2017.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Zenan, aged 57, was born in Chaozhou City, Guangdong
Province. Mr. Chen holds a postgraduate degree in economics
and holds the title of senior economist. Mr. Chen has been
a non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Board, the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company since 15 March 2019. He
has engaged in finance-related work since 1979 and has over
40 years of experience in finance field. He served as the vice
president and deputy secretary of the Party affairs committee
of the Chaozhou Branch of ABChina; the director of the
finance department, Party member, deputy general manager,
secretary of the Commission for discipline inspection, deputy
Party secretary, Party secretary and general manager of the
Guangzhou office of GWAMCC; the director and chairman of the
board of directors of Guangzhou Zhongchangxin Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (B/MNFREREEEBRAF). He has
served as the chief operating officer of GWAMCC since February
2015 and he has served as a director and chairman of the board
of directors of Great Wall International since January 2018. Mr.
Chen is currently a director of the 15th session of the Board of
the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association.

Ms. Lv Jia, aged 45, has been our non-executive Director since 5
November 2016. Ms. Lv holds a Master degree in Management
from Beijing Technology and Business University. From
December 2007 to January 2011, Ms. Lv served as chief financial
officer of Golden Credit Rating International Co., Ltd. (RA &
CA=ARHMEARAR]). From January 2011 to December 20711,
she served as vice president and chief financial officer of Golden
Credit Rating International Co., Ltd. (RA & HEFREALE
22 a]). From December 2011 to June 2013, Ms. Lv worked as
general manager assistant in the subsidiaries management
department (formerly known as division synergy department) of
GWAMCC, and she has been a deputy general manager of such
department since June 2013.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Song Ming, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee of the Company on 5 November 2016.
Dr. Song graduated from Zhejiang University in July 1982 with a
bachelor degree in applied mathematics. Dr. Song obtained his
master degree in applied mathematics from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (formerly known as Huazhong
Institute of Technology), and was awarded a doctorate by Ohio
State University. He has over 27 years of experience in the
research of bank regulation and management, financial market,
derivatives and macroeconomics. Between 1991 and 1997,
Dr. Song was the associate professor and assistant professor
at the department of economics, Cleveland State University.
From 1997 to 2018, Dr. Song was employed by the school of
economics and finance of the University of Hong Kong, and
he was a professor, the director of Centre for China Financial
Research and the associate director of the Institute for China
and Global Development at the University of Hong Kong. He is
currently the Dean of the Economics and Management School of
Wuhan University and the vice chairman of the Chinese Financial
Association of Hong Kong. Dr. Song has been heavily involved
in various academic conferences, researches and consultation
projects. Dr. Song is currently an independent non-executive
director of Wuzhou International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1369), The United Laboratories International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3933) and Guotai Junan International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1788), all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. In addition, Dr. Song is also an
independent director of Tande Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600665), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRERENE

Dr. Sun Mingchun, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company on 5 November 2016. He is the Chief Economist of
Haitong International Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since
November 2019. During the period from October 2014 to October
2019, Dr. Sun served as the chairman and chief investment
officer of Deepwater Capital Limited. Prior to joining Deepwater
Capital Limited, Dr. Sun held the positions as the senior partner
and chief economist at China Broad Capital Co., Limited, the
managing director, head of China research and chief Greater
China economist at Daiwa Capital Markets Hong Kong Limited,
the chief China economist, head of China equity research and
managing director at Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited
and the senior China economist, vice president at Lehman
Brothers Asia Limited. During the period from July 1993 to August
1999, Dr. Sun was also an economist of the State Administration
of Foreign Exchange of the PRC. Dr. Sun is currently the vice
chairman of the Chinese Financial Association of Hong Kong
and a member of the China Finance 40 Forum. He is also a guest
professor of the Finance EMBA program of Shanghai Advanced
Institute of Finance, the School of Economics of Fudan University
and the PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University, and the
honorary institute fellow of The Asia-Pacific Institute of Business
of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. Sun received a
bachelor’'s degree in international economics from Fudan
University in July 1993. He also obtained a master’'s degree in
engineering economic systems and operations research and a
doctoral degree in management science and engineering from
Stanford University in June 2001 and June 2006, respectively.
Dr. Sun is an independent non-executive director of HJ Capital
(International) Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 982) and
Weimob Inc. (stock code: 2013), both are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRERENE

Ms. Liu Yan, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and the chairlady of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 26 November 2018. Ms. Liu obtained a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Central University of Finance
and Economics in 1992 and a Master degree in Business
Administration from University of Rochester in 2005. She is a
member of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(CICPA) and passed all three levels for Chartered Financial
Analyst (CFA) Program. Ms. Liu has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, financial management, taxation and fund management.
From 1992 to 1994, Ms. Liu worked at Brilliance Group Holdings
Limited in Shanghai. From 1994 to 2001, she worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Guangzhou. From 2005 to 2007, she
worked at the Global Financial Risk Management Department
at Barclays Capital in New York City. From 2007 to 2010, Ms. Liu
served as vice president at Angelo Gordon Asia Limited. From
2010 to 2015, she served as managing director of Investment
Management Department and Fund Management Department
at China Everbright Limited (Hong Kong). From November 2016
to September 2018, Ms. Liu served as an independent non-
executive director of U Banquet Group Holding Limited (stock
code: 1483), a company listed on the Stock Exchange. She is
currently an independent non-executive director of Tai United
Holdings Limited (stock code: 718) and Haitong International
Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665), both of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Senior Management

Mr. Xiao Ling, aged 49, was appointed as the Deputy General
Manager of the Company with effect from 11 October 2019. He
holds a Doctoral degree in economics and holds the title of senior
economist. He graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University with
a Bachelor degree in engineering majoring in thermal turbine
in 1992, and obtained a Master degree in economics majoring
in monetary banking and a Doctoral degree in economics
majoring in finance from Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics in 1997 and 2007, respectively. From July 1992
to September 1994, Mr. Xiao served as an assistant engineer of
the second chemical factory of Chengdu (AX#&ME T —&). From
July 1997 to February 2000, he served as senior staff member of
international business department of Sichuan Province branch
of ABChina. From February 2000 to August 2010, Mr. Xiao served
as deputy division chief of the asset operation and management
department, principal staff member of third division of asset
operation department, and business executive of general affairs
department of Chengdu office of GWAMCC. He was re-designated
to the human resource department of the headquarter of
GWAMCC in August 2010 and served as business executive of
remuneration management division, senior deputy manager
of remuneration management division and senior manager of
veteran cadre management division. From March 2015 to June
2019, he worked in the capital management department of the
headquarter of GWAMCC, served as senior manager of capital
market division, senior manager of capital management division
and senior manager of debt planning division.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Ms. Li Li Hua, aged 57, was appointed as the Deputy General
Manager of the Company with effect from 21 September 2017
and the Chief Operating Officer of the Company with effect
from 15 March 2019. Prior to joining our Company, she was
an executive director of Shanghai Zendai Property Limited
(“Shanghai Zendai”), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 755), during 18 August 2014 to
20 September 2017. From March 2008 to June 2015, she held
various positions in Shanghai Zendai, including manager of
finance department, general manager of the Hong Kong region,
vice president and chief executive officer and her principal duties
were corporate governance, expansion of overseas business,
financial management, financing arrangement and public
relations management. Ms. Li was an on-the-job postgraduate
majoring in monetary banking in the finance division of the
Graduate School of Renmin University of China. Ms. Li has over
22 years of experience in the investment and management of
securities investment and capital markets. She served as chief
economist of Xiangcai Securities Co., Ltd. and general manager of
its southern headquarter, as well as deputy chief economist and
general manager of the finance department of Hainan Securities
Company Limited.

Ms. Zheng Yuanyuan, aged 41, was appointed as the Deputy
General Manager of the Company with effect from 15 March
2019. She was the company secretary of the Company from
31 October 2016 to 11 October 2019 and acted as head of
the legal department of the Company from the same date to
June 2018. Ms. Zheng has extensive experience in handling
large investment and transaction projects. She passed the
National Judicial Examination of the PRC and obtained the Legal
Profession Qualification Certificate in 2002. She acquired bar
qualification in the New York State of the United States in 2008
and qualified as a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong in 2015. After
obtaining a Master degree in Common Law from the University of
Pennsylvania in the United States, Ms. Zheng worked in the Hong
Kong office of Baker & McKenzie from 2007 to 2015, and served
as special counsel prior to her resignation. From December
2015 to June 2018, Ms. Zheng served as co-head of the legal
department of Great Wall International and acted as the Chief
Administrative Officer of the general affairs department of Great
Wall International from June 2018 to March 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Wang Han, aged 39, was appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company with effect from 22 March 2017. Mr. Wang
has extensive experience in financial analysis, valuation analysis
and audit. He obtained his bachelor degree majoring in finance
from the business school of The University of Auckland in New
Zealand in 2004 and master degree of business administration
from City University of Seattle in the United States of America in
2014. He is also a Certified Public Accountant and a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. From 2012
to 2015, Mr. Wang worked in the debt valuation department of
Great Wall Golden Bridge Financial Consulting Co., Ltd.. He acted
as the head of finance department of Great Wall International
from 2015 to August 2019. Prior to 2012, he worked as Assistant
to chief financial officer of Carlton Party Hire in New Zealand,
auditor of Ernst & Young Hua Ming and worked in the research
department of ICBC Credit Suisse Asset Management Co., Ltd..

Company Secretary

Mr. Kong Hok Kan, aged 36, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 11 October 2019.
He joined the Company as the Deputy Company Secretary
in April 2017 and is primarily responsible for the company
secretarial and listing compliance functions of the Group. He is
a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional,
and an associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom. He holds a Bachelor
of Arts degree from the University of Brighton and a Master
of Science degree in Professional Accounting and Corporate
Governance from City University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Kong has served various listed companies during the
period from August 2006 to March 2017 and has over 13 years
of extensive experiences in company secretarial and corporate
governance practices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Operating Results of the Group

The Group’s consolidated operating results for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

REEEERE

rEFRE_T-NFR-Z-N\F+A=+
—HILFEZGREEXENT

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t-BLEE

(HK$ millions, except percentages (R8BSl 2019 2018 % Change
and per share amounts) LEke@kR) “E-hE “E-N\E - EER
Revenue 2 168.4 144.9 16%
Production costs EERAR - (5.2) (100%)
Rental and utilities e k&t (13.6) (17.5) (22%)
Other operating expenses HipgQ ey (64.0) (69.6) (8%)
Operating costs before depreciation RETTE 2 &R A (77.6) (92.3) (16%)
Depreciation wE (20.9) (2.1) *x
Adjusted operating profit* RARKERF 69.9 50.5 38%
Other income HipA 0.2 2.4 (92%)
Fair value gain on investment properties KEMEATEKR 169.2 400.6 (58%)
Operating profit Rea R 239.3 453.5 (47%)
Net finance cost B FE (173.4) (143.7) 21%
Share of profits of associates FEREE DA B 427.4 279.7 53%
Income tax expense FriatiF X (6.3) 6.1) 3%
Profit for the year 2ERF 487.0 583.4 (17%)
Profit attributable to Shareholders RRELEF 487.0 583.4 (17%)
Earnings per share (HK cents) BRER (L) 311 37.2 (17%)

A

Adjusted operating profit is defined as operating profit before other

income and fair value gain on investment properties.

** Represents a change in excess of 100%.

BB R RFIRE AR E AR ENE
ATHENEZ TR BT -

x> RINEENRIBE100% °
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Profit attributable to Shareholders for the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to HK$487.0 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 17% as compared with profit
attributable to Shareholders of HK$583.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. Earnings per share were HK31.1
cents for the year end 31 December 2019, based on weighted
average of 1,667,745,596 Shares in issue (for the year ended 31
December 2018: HK37.2 cents based on 1,567,745,596 Shares in
issue).

Excluding the revaluation gain of investment properties for the
year ended 31 December 2019 of HK$169.2 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2018: HK$400.6 million), the net profit
attributable to Shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2019 was HK$317.8 million (for the year ended 31 December
2018: HK$182.8 million), representing a year-on-year increase
of HK$135.0 million or of 73.9%. The increase in net profit
attributable to Shareholders (excluding revaluation gain) was
mainly contributed by the operating profit generated from share
of profits of associates of approximately HK$427.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (for the year ended 31 December
2018: HK$279.7 million).

Business Review

The Group principally engages in the operation of two segments,
namely, the property investment segment and the financial
services segment.

The positive results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are primarily attributable to the contribution by the property
investment segment. The Group has maintained a diversified
investment property portfolio in Hong Kong which comprises
Kwai Fong Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower, Yue
King Building, Ko Fai Industrial Building and Seaview Estate. On
the other hand, the Group has also participated in the investment
in the JV Group (as defined below) which holds a diversified
portfolio of properties in Hong Kong and has thus enjoyed a
considerable share of profits of associates. Details of the said
investment in the JV Group have been set out in the paragraph
headed “Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in an
Associate and Share of Profit of an Associate” below. The Group
continues to leverage on the successful strategy in diversifying
its portfolio of investment properties as outlined in our 2018
Annual Report. This strategy has proven to be successful in year
2019 and we are confident that it will continue to succeed in the
future so as to generate sustainable return for our Shareholders.
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The Group also operates in the financial services segment which
comprises provision of asset management and corporate finance
services (licensed by the SFC to carry out Types 1, 4, 6 and 9
regulated activities). Although the Group recorded a year-on-year
decrease in the revenue generated from the financial services
segment for the year ended 31 December 2019 given the volatile
financial market in year 2019, as more particularly discussed
in the paragraph headed “Financial Services” below, the Group
will continue to explore and seize opportunities to develop its
financial services segment.

Revenue
The consolidated revenue for the years ended 31 December

2019 and 2018 by business segments and for the Group were as
follows:

AEENME LS BB O - BREREEE
REXBERY (EEESREREST - 4 6
ROBRRRETRS) o BN X[ & BARTS |
—BAMEEZAEHE  BEX_T-NFg
MTEBHEYE  AEERNHE_T-NAF+=
A=+t—REFENS RIS FEENKRAR
EEFEEAEL TR - AEESEERRIIMERR
TRIRE D HOHE

Wz

BHE-T-NFER-_FT-\FT-_A=t—HL
FE - ?ﬁ%i%’\*ﬁ)i%@%%f fralamT

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1+—-HLFE

(HK$ millions, (BBETT - 2019 2018 % Change
except percentages) BRI —E-hF —N\FE BEH O
Property investment MEKRE 120.9 92.4 31%
Financial services T R AR 47.5 52.5 (10%)
Total revenue Weas 4258 168.4 144.9 16%

20 |

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B ﬂ’%n_j B(i?\*ﬁ

Financial Review by Operating Segments

The Group’s reportable and operating segments during the year

ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

(@) property investment segment which comprises the
investment in retail shops, office buildings, industrial
buildings and car parking spaces for rental income; and

(b) financial services segment which comprises provision of
asset management and corporate finance services (licensed

by the SFC to carry out Types 1,

activities).

Property Investment

4, 6 and 9 regulated

LED 2 T ERE

AEERBE-F-AF+-A=t—ALFE
ZAIZHREESBMT -

(a) MEREHHBBEFERENEHESRAZTE
JEAKE TEREESEMN: &

(b) EARMEDH a%h{/\,\?gﬁ&i%vﬂﬁ

AR (EEEGRELES - 4 6ROKEM
XHEED) °
MERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+-BHLHFE

(HK$ millions, (A8AT 2019 2018 % Change
except percentages) BALLERIN —E-hE —T-N\F =EER g
Revenue 6 120.9 92.4 31%
Adjusted EBITDA* RARHKRFE
BE - HER
B BRI 74.2 47.8 55%
Depreciation e (9.4) (0.3) *k
Adjusted operating profit RARKERT 64.8 475 36%
Fair value gain on investment BREMERTE
properties and other income Wiz K E U A 180.3 400.6 (55%)
Net finance cost ISR T 58 (38.6) (20.6) 87%
Income tax expense SR> (6.3) (4.6) 37%
Profit attributable to Shareholders* PR S B A 200.2 422.9 (53%)

~ Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, other income and fair value gain on investment

properties.

# Including fair value gains on investment properties of HK$169.2
million for 2019 and HK$400.6 million for 2018.

** Represents a change in excess of 100%.
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Revenue of property investment segment for the year ended 31
December 2019 was HK$120.9 million, compared with HK$92.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase is
mainly driven by the revenue generated from Kwai Fong Plaza of
approximately HK$69.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2019, compared with HK$35.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 since the acquisition in June 2018.

The decrease in profit attributable to Shareholders from property
investment segment was mainly due to the decrease in fair value
gain on investment properties for the year ended 31 December
2019. Excluding the fair value gain on investment properties
and the tax impact, the adjusted operating profit increased by
HK$17.3 million, which was mainly attributable to the increase in
revenue generated from Kwai Fong Plaza.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Group’s diversified
investment property portfolio in Hong Kong comprises Kwai Fong
Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower, Yue King
Building, Ko Fai Industrial Building and Seaview Estate.

Revaluation gain on investment properties for the year ended 31
December 2019 was HK$169.2 million, compared with HK$400.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The revaluation
gain for the year ended 31 December 2019 was mainly
contributed by the increase in fair value of Kwai Fong Plaza of
around HK$132.1 million and of certain floors of the Bank of
America Tower of around HK$43.8 million.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31
December 2019 by two independent professionally qualified
valuers, Cushman & Wakefield Limited and Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited. Both firms hold a recognised
relevant professional qualification and have recent experience in
the locations and segments of the investment properties being
valued. For all investment properties, their current use equates
to the highest and best use. The revaluation gains or losses are
shown as “Fair value gain or loss on investment properties” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Fair values
of the office buildings, retail shops, car parking spaces and
industrial buildings are derived using the income capitalisation
approach. There were no changes to the valuation techniques
during the year.
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Financial Services

TR

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-RHLEE

(HK$ millions, (ABATL 2019 2018 % Change
except percentages) BRI —E-NF —T-N\F =R g
Revenue 6 47.5 52.5 (10%)
Adjusted EBITDAA EEBURITFE -

BE - HER

Bz BRN 10.9 19.4 (44%)
Depreciation e (0.6) (0.3) 100%
Adjusted operating profit RARLEET 10.3 19.1 (46%)
Net finance cost B TS AR F R (3.4) (3.6) (6%)
Income tax credit PSR - (1.6) (100%)
Profit attributable to Shareholders PR 3R 1t B2 ) 6.9 13.9 (50%)

~  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and other income.

The revenue derived from asset management services for year
2019 was around HK$36.6 million (2018: HK$31.6 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 16%). The corporate
finance services fees for year 2019 were around HK$1.1 million
(2018: HK$10.5 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 90%). The revenue from loan investment for the
year 2019 was around HK$9.8 million (2018: HK$10.4 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 6%).
The decrease of revenue generated from the financial service
segment was mainly due to the drop in revenue contributed
by corporate finance services as a result of the decrease in
the number of projects under corporate finance services as
compared with 2018.
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Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in an
Associate and Share of Profit of an Associate

Investment in an Associate represents the Group’s 35.78% equity
interests in a joint venture, Everwell City Limited (together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “dV Group”), which owns 16
diversified commercial properties and shopping centres, plazas
and carparks across Hong Kong at Cheung Hang Shopping
Centre, Kai Yip Commercial Centre, Kam Tai Shopping Centre,
Lei Cheng Uk Shopping Centre, On Ting Commercial Complex,
Shek Lei Shopping Centre | & II, Tai Wo Hau Commercial Centre,
Tsz Ching Shopping Centre, Yau Oi Commercial Centre, Yung
Shing Shopping Centre, Kwai Shing East Shopping Centre, Lai
Kok Shopping Centre, Lee On Shopping Centre, Retail and Car
Park within Shun Tin Estate, Tsing Yi Commercial Complex and
Lions Rise Mall. The initial investment was HK$3,123.4 million
in 2018. The fair value of the investment is HK$3,806.9 million
as at 31 December 2019 and is around 47.4% of the total assets
of the Group. The Group’s share of profit of an associate from
JV Group was approximately HK$424.5 million in 2019 (2018:
HK$280.2 million). This encouraging result has proven that such
investment can enhance the Group’s profitability and benefit
our future development. The Group presently intends to hold the
above-mentioned equity interests in the JV Group as long-term
investment.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Group’s main source of liquidity is its recurring cash flows
from the property investment and financial services segments.
The Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018 were as follows:

31 December

BER - ZBERACEARERELE—X
BENTRARR

REE AR 2R E BRNEBRE E A F]Everwell
City Limited CERIEMBRARSBI S EE])
Z235.78% 2 ik - EEEBHEADHNEEL
16IEZ T L EEMEUAREDFL - BSRES
% BERTES  BERS - BRE5E - T8
% REES - AEES k-8 XS
M - BiEES « REWS  BEES - 25
Rims - BREES - AR5 - IBXEE 2 Eiha
B85 EREBIRZLES - RZZT—N\F
BHERIR B R3,123.4BEBTT - R-E—N4EF
+ZA=+—8 BENAQFEAS8069EHE
BT AERNAREBRBREENLT L% - —T—A,
F - AEEEAEEENE—REEARATY
424 5BBET(ZT—N\F : 280288 T)
It 3B AB AR 4B FEBA SR 4R B R IR T A S B ) B F B
7 BRERMORKER - NEBE B Ai# g Lt
RNEEEBORIEFERIIRE -

RBEERERKR

AEBZETERBDESKREAREEMERER
TRBBHEFIKEEHRERE - AEER=-Z
—NWEF+-A=+—HER=ZFE—NF+=_A=+
—B2ZHBARRNT

31 December

2019 2018 % Change
(HK$ millions, (BBET —B-NEF —E-N\F
except percentages) BRI tT=ZA=+-—H +-A=1+—H 2Haolt
Cash and bank balances Re LRI 182.3 169.6 7%
Shareholders’ funds REES 2,959.2 2,472.6 20%
Current ratio BN = 3.99 1.77 o
Gearing ratio BEEARLEK 60.7% 65.5% (7%)

** Represents a change in excess of 100%.
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The Group’s cash and bank balances are held predominantly
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has no significant exposure
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group has maintained a
strong cash position and expects its cash and cash equivalents,
and cash generated from operations to be adequate to meeting
its working capital requirements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$182.3 million, as compared to
HK$169.6 million as at 31 December 2018. The Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31 December 2019 was 60.7% (as at 31 December
2018: 65.5%), being calculated as total debts (which includes
the loans from an intermediate holding company and bank
borrowings) less cash and bank balances, over the Company’s
total capital employed. The drop in gearing ratio is due to the
drop in borrowings as a result of the Group’s partial repayments
to both the loans from an intermediate holding company and
bank borrowings amounted to HK$66.6 million and HK$49.8
million respectively following the repayment of a loan receivable
by the debtor to the Group. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
had outstanding principal of unsecured shareholder loans
of HK$3,848.4 million (as at 31 December 2018: HK$3,915.0
million). As at 31 December 2019, the Group has undrawn bank
facility of approximately HK$485.0 million (as at 31 December
2018: HK$335.0 million), and the Group had outstanding
bank borrowings of approximately HK$897.3 million as at 31
December 2019 (as at 31 December 2018: HK$943.3 million). The
Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its liquidity
position and financial resources and makes adjustments in light
of changes in economic conditions and business development
needs.

For the SFC licensed corporations under the Group, the Group
has ensured that each of the licensed corporation maintains
a liquidity level adequate to support the level of activities
with a sufficient buffer to accommodate increases in liquidity
requirements arising from potential increases in the level of
business activities. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
all the licensed subsidiaries have complied with the liquidity
requirements under the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules.
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Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2019, an investment property of the Group
with fair value of approximately HK$1,832.0 million (as at
31 December 2018: investment property with fair value of
approximately HK$1,680.0 million) and restricted cash of
HK$10.2 million (as at 31 December 2018: restricted cash of
HK$9.2 million) were pledged to secure the mortgage loan
granted to the Group.

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities for the year ended
31 December 2019 was HK$67.7 million, compared with net
cash generated from operating activities of HK$1,507.4 million
in 2018. The decrease in operating cash inflow was mainly due
to the increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
by HK$4.1 million during the year ended 31 December 2019
while there is a decrease in such balances by HK$1,433.6 million
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Investing Activities

Net cash generated from investing activities for the year ended
31 December 2019 was HK$112.7 million, compared with the net
cash used in investing activities of HK$3,965.2 million in 2018.
The cash inflow was mainly generated from repayment of loan
receivable by the debtor to the Group of HK$116.7 million and
repayment of loan from an associate of HK$13.7 million, netting
off by capitalised expenses for investment properties of HK$20.0
million.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2019 was HK$167.6 million, compared with the net
cash generated of HK$2,508.9 million in 2018. During the vear,
HK$66.6 million loan from an intermediate holding company of
the Company, HK$49.8 million bank borrowing and interest of
HK$38.0 million were repaid.
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Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 19 employees
(as at 31 December 2018: 21). As the Group’s businesses
continue to grow, its remuneration philosophy is designed to
provide its employees with the opportunity to excel and grow,
while aligning with our business strategies and values.

The Group’s remuneration and benefit policies, which are
structured in accordance to market terms and statutory
requirements, aim to recognise employees with outstanding
performance, motivate and reward employees in order to achieve
its business performance targets, retain and attract key talents
and ensure alignment with the interests of our businesses, and
thereby enhancing shareholder value. In addition, other staff
benefits such as medical insurance, medical check-up scheme,
mandatory provident fund scheme and rental reimbursement
scheme are offered to eligible employees.

The Group’s employee recruitment and promotion are primarily
based on individuals’ merits, relevant experiences, development
potentials for the positions offered and performance.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint venture during the year ended 31 December
2019.

Outlook

The management expects that the 2020 fiscal year will be full of
challenges in view of the global macroeconomy. While China’s
economy remains stable with enhanced resilience of economic
growth, it is still confronted with complicated internal and
external situations. Numerous uncertainties arising from the
unrelenting trade disputes between China and the United States
coupled with the unsettled local social political events and the
recent outbreak of COVID-19 have dampened the investment
sentiment in the financial market and deepened market concerns
about economic growth in year 2020, which have presented us
with unprecedented severe challenges.
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To cope with such challenges, the Board and management of
the Company will fully leverage on the competitive edges of the
Group to drive the performance of core businesses at a steady
pace and will also actively seize investment opportunities
prudently and thoroughly in order to generate favourable returns
for our Shareholders while maintaining strong cash position.

Currently, the Group’s investment properties continue to
contribute stable stream of income. During 2019 fiscal year, the
Group had successfully diversified its tenant mix and enhanced
the rental performance following the partial upgrade and
renovation of its commercial asset, Kwai Fong Plaza.

The Company expects that the operating performance of relevant
assets and businesses and the estimation of changes in the fair
value of investment properties will be temporarily affected, yet
the management believes the current epidemic and disputes
will soon be resolved, and remains confident of the long-term
economic prospects of Hong Kong.

Looking ahead, in the complicated and constantly-changing
macro-economic environment with fierce competition, the
Group will seize the development opportunities arising from
the China’'s Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
strategic plan and further strengthen the synergy effect by
leveraging on the substantial resources from GWAMCC, our
controlling Shareholder, through the integration of domestic and
foreign capital markets, and aggressively expanding its domestic
business, to ensure the Group can make full use of its role as the
sole overseas listed platform of GWAMCC.
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The Board and the Company’s management are committed to
upholding the Group’s obligations to Shareholders. We regard the
promotion and protection of Shareholders’ interests as one of our
priorities and keys to success.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders and enhance corporate value,
formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its
transparency and accountability.

The Group has put in place sound corporate governance practices
to ensure it adheres to high ethical and business standards. The
key test of corporate governance practices is whether they can
align the interests of management with those of Shareholders
to adequately protect and promote Shareholders’ interests. The
Group is committed to the continuous improvement of corporate
governance practices to support the performance of our
business and enable effective oversight. The Group constantly
reviews these guidelines and policies and implements new ones
to ensure they remain relevant and practical in today’s fast
changing business environment and market expectations.

The Group has adopted and applied the applicable principles
and code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its corporate
governance practices. The Group also adheres to certain
recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance Code
insofar as they are relevant and practicable.

The Board is of the view that, throughout the year ended 31
December 2019, the Company has complied with the applicable
principles and code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, save for the deviations from code provisions
A1.7, A.2.1 (for the period from 1 January 2019 to 15 March
2019) and F.1.2 as explained in this report.
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The Group believes that its current corporate governance
practices, which combine governance framework and practices
that develop over time and new practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, provide the Group with a sound and sensible
framework for balancing the business of the Group and the
interests of its Shareholders. The Group will continue to evaluate
its corporate governance practices in light of its business needs,
regulatory changes and new corporate governance philosophies.

Set out below are our current framework of governance and
explanations about how the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code have been applied.

The Board of Directors

The Board recognises its responsibility to represent the
interests of Shareholders. As at the date of this Annual Report,
the Board comprises seven Directors: two executive Directors
and five non-executive Directors (including three independent
non-executive Directors). Independent non-executive Directors
represent more than one-third of the Board.

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date
of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Huang Hu (re-designated from non-executive Director to
executive Director on 15 March 2019)

Mr. Meng Xuefeng

Mr. Ou Peng (resigned on 15 March 2019)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Zenan (appointed on 15 March 2019)
Ms. Lv Jia

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Song Ming

Dr. Sun Mingchun

Ms. Liu Yan

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship) among members of
the Board. The biographies of all the Directors and senior
management are set out on pages 9 to 17 of this Annual Report.
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The Board’s main responsibility and purpose is to deliver the
long-term success of the Group and to create long-term value
for its Shareholders by providing strategic and entrepreneurial
leadership, and by exercising prudent oversight and control over
the Company. As the business continues to grow, the Board
needs to ensure that the Company has sufficient resources —
both funding and talent — to deliver success. The Board also
recognises the need for effective engagement by the Company
with its key stakeholders, including all its investors.

Each Director brings a wide range and years of business
experience to the Board to meet our long-term objectives.
The Directors’ combined knowledge, expertise and experience
are extremely valuable in overseeing the Group’s business
operations.

The Board sets the strategic direction and oversees the
performance of the Group’s business and management. The
principal matters the Board is responsible for include:

« approval of strategic direction, policies and objectives

« review and approval of business plans and budgets

« monitoring operational and financial performance

« review and approval of annual results and interim results

« review and approval of annual report and interim report as
well as the related financial statements

« review and approval of dividend policy and recommendation
of final dividend, and declaration of interim dividend and
where appropriate, special dividends

« appointment of auditor

« review and approval of significant acquisitions and disposals
and major financings, borrowings and guarantees

« approval of material contracts

« overseeing the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring their effectiveness

In addition, the Board discusses major operating issues,
evaluates opportunities and business risks. Decisions and
conduct of matters other than those specifically reserved to
the Board are delegated to the management whilst structured
monthly updates on the Group’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient details are provided to the Directors to
enable them to discharge their duties.
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The Board reviews the arrangements between the responsibilities
of the Board and the matters delegated to the management
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group and its businesses.

Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code and adopted a revised Terms of
Reference of the Board on Corporate Governance Functions in
March 2017, including:

develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance

review and monitoring of the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management

review and monitoring of the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

development, review and monitoring of the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors

review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report as specified under the Listing Rules

Key corporate governance matters reviewed by the Board during
the year were:

32

review of the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirement

review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code

review of the effectiveness of the internal control system
proposal on the re-appointment of the Company’s external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers

appointment of Mr. Chen Zenan as Chairman of the Board,
non-executive Director, chairman of the Nomination
Committee and member of the Audit Committee
re-designation of Mr. Huang Hu as executive Director
appointment of Chief Executive Officer and senior
management
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« review and adoption of revised Whistleblowing Policy, the
Dividend Policy and certain internal policies

« annual review of continuing connected transactions

« approval of continuing connected transactions

The Group has devised a Whistleblowing Policy (updated on 21
June 2019) on malpractice reporting and investigation setting
out specific procedures facilitating whistle-blowing reports and
investigation thereof.

The Company is also committed to upholding sound corporate
governance practices and complying with its obligations to
disclose inside information under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance as well as the Listing Rules. The Company had
adopted a Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information setting
out specific policies and procedures facilitating the Company’s
compliance with these obligations.

Board Proceedings

The Board holds four regular meetings annually as a minimum,
usually quarterly, and also meets at such other times as
necessary. The Company generally gives notice and draft agenda
of regular Board and Board Committees meetings at least 14
days in advance. For other Board and Committees meetings,
notice is generally given pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws
and the respective Terms of Reference of the Committees.

Agenda of Board meetings are prepared by the Company
Secretary in consultation with the Chairman, and based on a
forward calendar that helps to ensure that all relevant matters
for the year ahead are considered by the Board in a timely
manner. Each Director is encouraged to contribute to the agenda
setting process The Board is provided with adequate, timely
and reliable information about the Group’s businesses and
developments before each Board meeting at which the Directors
actively participate and make informed discussions. Each
Director is asked to review and comment on the Board minutes
within a reasonable time after each meeting to maintain accurate
records of Board discussions and decisions.
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During the year, the Board held four Board meetings. The
attendance of each Director at Board and Committee meetings,
and the annual general meeting and special general meeting is

detailed in the table

below.

R EFZGCHETOREFSEE - REFE
EEeMZREeeH  WEBRRBFERE LR
Rl RgmFERFHMT -

Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)

HERY, &88E

Audit  Remuneration ~ Nomination Annual Special
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENEEE ¥HzEEE  REZEE RRAEF RR#H
Name of Director BEpR e LS LS EES A& -1
Mr. Chen Zenan” REmELY 3/3 2/2 -/- -/- 11 11
Mr. Huang Hu® A 44 17 -/- -/~ (Al 17
Mr. Meng Xuefeng el St 414 -/- 2/2 -/- (Al 7
Ms. Lv Jia AERT 4/4 -/~ -/~ -/~ 0/1 0/1
Dr. Song Ming AEEL 4/4 3/3 2/2 11 17 0/1
Dr. Sun Mingchun FREEL 44 -/- 2/2 1/1 17 7
Ms. Liu Yan 2%+ 414 3/3 -/- -/- 17 7
Mr. Ou Peng® B pe /1 -/~ -/~ 1/1 -/~ -/~

Notes: PiHEE -

(1) Appointed as Chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director, (1)
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee on 15 March 2019. Three Board meetings and two Audit
Committee meetings were held on or after 15 March 2019.

(2) Re-designated as an executive Director and appointed as the Chief ~ (2)
Executive Officer and ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee
on 15 March 2019. One Audit Committee meeting was held on or
before 15 March 2019.

(3) Resigned as the Chairman of the Board, an executive Director and ~ (3)
chairman of the Nomination Committee on 15 March 2019. One
Nomination Committee meeting and one Board meeting were held

on or before 15 M

arch 2019.
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All the Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary to ensure all board procedures and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are complied with.
The Directors update the Board regarding offices held in
public companies and organisations, and other significant
commitments once every half year. There are also procedures for
the Directors to obtain independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense.

Apart from regular Board meetings, Mr. Chen Zenan, the
Chairman of the Board, also held a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of the executive
Directors during the year 2019 pursuant to code provision A.2.7.

Board Diversity Policy

The Group recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of the Company’s
performance.

The Nomination Committee of the Board is primarily responsible
for leading the process for Board appointments and for
identifying and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The
benefits of diversity continue to influence the succession
planning of the Board.

When identifying candidates for Board membership of the
Company, the Nomination Committee takes into account the
board diversity policy of the Company (‘Board Diversity Policy”).
A range of diversity factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional and
industry experience, skills, knowledge and time commitments
will be considered in selection of each candidate to become
member of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on
merits and contribution that the selected individuals will bring
to the Board. The Company’s own business model and specific
needs has also been taken into consideration in setting the
Board Diversity Policy. External recruitment professionals might
be engaged to carry out the selection and recruitment process
when necessary.
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In conducting the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider the balance
of talents, skills, experience and background and the diversity
representation of the Board. The Nomination Committee reviews
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The
Nomination Committee reports annually on the process it has
used for Board appointments.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process and
Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”),
which aims to set out the relevant selection criteria and
nomination procedures to assist the Nomination Committee
and the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirement of the Group’s businesses. A summary of the
Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

7. Criteria

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

« Character and integrity.

« Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

« Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships and
significant commitments.

+ Requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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« Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives ¢ REZE@NEFTEAENEESZ0/bm

adopted by the Nomination Committee or the Board for KM EFEL T LERE RMEMAIFTER
achieving diversity on the Board. R o

«  Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s ¢ EARAQRIEBHNEMIIERE -
business.

2. Nomination Process 2. BEBRE

2.1 Appointment of New Director 2.1 FEENZEE

LINRBREEREFTEARRINZRE

2.1.1The Nomination Committee or the Board shall,

upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in section 1 above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

2.1.21f the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

2.13The Nomination Committee shall then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship.

2.1.4For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and the
Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship
and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.
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2.2 Re-election of Director at General Meeting

2.2.1The Nomination Committee and the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

2.2.2The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out in section 1 above.

2.23The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the
general meeting.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Board confirms the term of appointment and functions of
all non-executive Directors and Board Committee members with
formal letters of appointment.

Directors who are appointed to fill vacancies or as an addition to
the Board are subject to re-election at the next following general
meeting of the Company after his or her appointment. In addition,
every Director, including every non-executive Director, shall retire
from office no later than the third annual general meeting after
he/she was last elected or re-elected. One-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then a number not less than one-third, are required to
retire by rotation from office at every annual general meeting
under the Company’s Bye-Laws. A retiring Director is eligible for
re-election.

The Company maintains procedures for Shareholders to propose

a person for election as a director of the Company. The details of
these procedures are published on the Company’s website.
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Directors’ Remunerations

The Directors’ fees and all other reimbursements and
emoluments (if any) paid or payable to the Directors during the
year are set out, on an individual and named basis, in Note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report on
pages 199 to 202.

The remuneration policy of the Group is set out on page 27 of this
Annual Report.

Compliance with the Model Code and the Company’s
Guidelines

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019 and
up to the date of this Annual Report.

The Company has also adopted written guidelines (the
“Company’s Guidelines”), which are equally stringent as the
Model Code, in respect of securities transactions by relevant
employees of the Company who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company pursuant to code
provision A.6.4 of the Corporate Governance Code. No incident
of non-compliance against the Model Code or the Company’s
Guidelines by the Company’s relevant employees has been noted
after making reasonable enquiry.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules and is grateful for the
contribution and independent advice and guidance that they
have been giving to the Board and the Board Committees.

Directors are required to declare their direct or indirect interests,
if any, in any proposals or transactions to be considered by the
Board at Board meetings and withdraw if appropriate.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors are arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics are distributed to Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, all the Directors
had participated in continuous professional development
programmes, including but not limited to internally-facilitated
briefings organised by the Company and qualified professionals
and trainings conducted by law firm, and reading materials
relevant to directors’ duties and responsibilities. A record of
the trainings received by the respective Directors are kept and
updated by the Company. The training areas that the Directors
received during the year were as follow.
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Training Areas

I g8
Corporate
Governance, Risk
Management and Legal and
Internal Control Regulatory Group’s Business
TEER - BRER EER
Name of Director B R ABEEEE EERE FEEFEE
Mr. Chen Zenan®™ BRIZER LD v v v
Mr. Huang Hu BREE v v v
Mr. Meng Xuefeng mEELE v v v
Ms. Lv Jia AfEzt v v v
Dr. Song Ming REEL v v v
Dr. Sun Mingchun FHREBL v v v
Ms. Liu Yan 2% 27 + v v v
Mr. Ou Peng® EN Pt - - -
Notes: BT

(1) Appointed as a non-executive Director on 15 March 2019.

(2) Resigned as an executive Director on 15 March 2019.

() RZE-NF=RTHEEZERERTES -

(2) RZE-NF=RTHABHERTES -

RBBHERERAT —T—NFERE | 41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

3% 86

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting in
respect of Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Other matters relating to the Board

The Group has appropriate insurance in place to cover the
liabilities of the Directors and officers of the Group.

Code provision A.1.7 of the Corporate Governance Code provides
that if a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the board which the
board has determined to be material, the matter should be
dealt with by a physical board meeting rather than a written
resolution. Independent non-executive directors who, and whose
close associates, have no material interest in the transaction
should be present at that board meeting. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Board approved the continuing
connected transactions in relation to the proposed tenancies
of portions of certain floors of the Group’s premises in the Bank
of America Tower to its controlling Shareholder, Great Wall
International, by way of circulation of written resolutions in lieu
of physical board meeting on 8 March 2019, for which certain
Director who is nominated by the controlling Shareholder of the
Company, was regarded as having material interests therein.
However, the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that such proposed tenancies and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and reasonable,
are on normal commercial terms or better and are in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Company and are in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. In
addition, Mr. Huang Hu, being the Director of the Company and
a director of Great Wall International, had abstained from voting
on the relevant written resolutions of the Board in approving
the proposed tenancies and the transactions contemplated
thereunder pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and the Listing
Rules. Before formal execution of the written resolutions, the
Directors had discussed the matters via electronic means and
the Board considers that adoption of written resolutions would
facilitate and maximise the effectiveness of its operation. The
Board shall nevertheless review its board meeting arrangement
from time to time to ensure appropriate arrangement is being
taken to comply with the requirements under the Corporate
Governance Code.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The primary role of the Chairman is to provide leadership for the
Board. He is responsible for the proper functioning of the Board
and for securing the application of good corporate governance
practices. The Chairman ensures the Board has formulated the
corporate goals and objectives, long-term business model and
strategy for delivering the corporate strategy of the Group, and
establishes an effective system for monitoring the progress of
their effective implementation and achievement. He directs the
corporate development activities of the Group, and ensures that
effective steps are taken to provide effective communication
with Shareholders and that their views are communicated to the
Board as a whole. The Chairman is also responsible for setting
the Board’s agenda and ensuring that adequate time is available
for discussion of all agenda items in particular strategic issues.
He promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors. Furthermore, the Chairman is
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely
manner, accurate, clear, complete and reliable information.

The primary role of the Chief Executive Officer is to focus on
attending to the formulation and implementation of Group’s
policies and overseeing the implementation of the strategies
and objectives agreed by the Board. The senior management
should support the Chief Executive Officer in performing this.
The Chief Executive Officer has principal responsibility for
overseeing day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses
and operations, maintaining the operational performance of the
Group and monitoring the operating and financial results of the
Group’s businesses against plans and budgets.
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The roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company had been performed by Mr. Ou Peng, our former
executive Director, since 9 November 2016 until his resignation
from the above positions on 15 March 2019. Although under
code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual, the combination
of the roles of chairman and chief executive officer by Mr. Ou
was considered to be in the best interests of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole. The Company believed that the
combined roles of Mr. Ou promoted unity of command and
developed strong, clear and better leadership for both the Board
and the management and enabled more focused development
of business strategies and implementation of objectives and
policies. The balance between power and accountability is
maintained by the openness and cooperative spirit of the senior
management and the Board, which comprise experienced and
high-calibre individuals. The structure was supported by the
Company’s well established corporate governance structure
and internal control policies. Subsequent to the appointments
of Mr. Chen Zenan as the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Huang
Hu as Chief Executive Officer on 15 March 2019 respectively,
the Company has complied with the requirements under code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code as from that
date.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees with mandates to deal with certain
corporate governance affairs of the Group. The Terms of
Reference of each of the above-mentioned Committees
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website.

From time to time, the Board will also establish other board
committee(s) to deal with specific aspects of its business.

Each Committee is established with written terms of reference
which are no less exacting than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, setting out its roles and functions. Each
member of the Committee has a formal letter of appointment
setting out key terms and conditions relating to his/her
appointment.
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Each Committee meets as frequently as required by business
developments and the operation of the Group. Committee
members are provided with adequate and timely information
before each meeting or discussion. All Committee members are
asked to review and comment on the minutes of their meetings
within a reasonable time after the meetings.

The procedures and arrangements relating to the meetings of
the Board are applied to meetings of the Board Committees
whenever it is appropriate.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1998 with its defined
written terms of reference (which was revised in August 1998).
As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Yan
(chairlady of the Audit Committee) and Dr. Song Ming, and a
non-executive Director, Mr. Chen Zenan. A majority of Audit
Committee members are independent non-executive Directors,
with Mr. Liu Yan and Dr. Song Ming possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise.

The Audit Committee members have professional qualifications
and experience in financial matters that enable the Committee
to exercise its powers effectively and provide the Board with
independent views and recommendations in relation to financial
matters.

The principal roles of the Audit Committee are to ensure that
the Company has formal and transparent arrangements for
considering matters relating to the Group’s financial reporting,
and risk management and internal control systems and for
maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’s
internal auditor (if any) external auditor.

The duties of the Audit Committee, as set out in its terms of
reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code.
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The Audit Committee holds two regular meetings annually
and also meets at such other times as circumstances require.
Any Audit Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee. The external auditor may also request the Committee
Chairman to convene a meeting of the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee may invite the external auditor and/or members
of management to attend any of the meetings. Special meetings
may be called at the discretion of the Committee Chairman or at
the request of management to review significant internal control,
risk management or financial issues. The Committee Chairman
reports to the Board at least twice a year on the Committee’s
activities and highlights any significant issues.

During the year, Audit Committee held three meetings and the
individual attendance records of each of the Audit Committee
members are set out on page 34 of this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee’s main works during the year included
reviewing:

« 2018 Annual Report, including the Corporate Governance
Report, Directors’ Report and the audited consolidated
financial statements, as well as the related results
announcement (with recommendations made to the Board
for approval)

« 2019 Interim Report and interim results announcement (with
recommendations made to the Board for approval)

« compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, the SFO,
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules

» in relation to the external auditor, their report on the review
of interim consolidated financial information and the audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, key audit
findings, audit services plan and letter of management’s
representation, and their re-appointment and terms of
engagement

« advancement of the Enterprise Risk Management framework

« Internal Control Assessment Report (with areas of concerns
discussed and highlighted to the Board)

- effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems and associated
procedures within the Group

« annual review of the continuing connected transactions
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- continuing connected transactions

« amendments to the Whistleblowing policy (i.e. procedures
to facilitate employees to raise, in a strictly confidential
manner, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters) and
recommendation to the Board for adoption

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is
different from that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any
recommendation presented by the Audit Committee.

There were no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which in turn
endorsed the view) that, subject to Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, PricewaterhouseCoopers
be re-appointed as the external auditor for year 2020.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2000 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in March
2017). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Song Ming (chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Dr. Sun Mingchun, and an executive Director, Mr.
Meng Xuefeng.

The Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration policies
and structure of the Group with the delegated responsibility to
determine the remuneration packages of executive Director(s)
and senior management of the Group (as defined in the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee). It also
makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

In conducting its work in relation to the determination of
remuneration of Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee ensures that no individual (or any of
his/her close associates) was involved in determining his or her
own remuneration.
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The duties of the Remuneration Committee, as set out in its
terms of reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Remuneration Committee meets once a year and at such
other time as necessary. Any Committee member may convene a
meeting of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings and the individual attendance records of each of the
Remuneration Committee members are set out on page 34 of
this Annual Report.

The Remuneration Committee’s main works during the year
included:

48

review of the remuneration policy and structure of the Group
review and determination of the remuneration package of
executive Directors and senior management

review and recommendation of the Directors’ fees of all the
independent non-executive Directors for approval by the
Board

review of the letter of appointment of Mr. Chen Zenan as
Chairman of the Board and non-executive Director

review of the renewed letter of appointment setting out the
remuneration package of Mr. Huang Hu as executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer

review of the renewed letter of appointment setting out the
remuneration package of Mr. Meng Xuefeng as executive
Director

review of the renewed letter of appointment of Ms. Lv Jia as
non-executive Director

review of the renewed letter of appointment setting out the
remuneration package of Dr. Song Ming as independent
non-executive Director

review of the renewed letter of appointment setting out the
remuneration package of Dr. Sun Mingchun as independent
non-executive Director
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2005 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in March
2017). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises a non-executive Director, Mr. Chen Zenan
(chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Song Ming and Dr. Sun
Mingchun.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors and senior management, reviewing
the size, structure and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board, reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company’s Board Diversity Policy annually
and making recommendations to the Board on the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board. It also assesses
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Before an appointment is made, the Nomination Committee
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the
Board and, in the light of this evaluation, prepares a description
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment.
If deemed appropriate, external consultants may be engaged to
identify suitable candidates.

The duties of the Nomination Committee, as set out in its
terms of reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least annually or meet
at such time as the Committee Chairman shall require. Any
Nomination Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
and the individual attendance records of each of the Nomination
Committee members are set out on page 34 of this Annual
Report.
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During 2019, the Nomination Committee completed the review of
the size, structure and composition of the Board and assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to code provision A.5.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code and made recommendations to the Board on the re-election
of retiring directors. It also conducted a review on the diversity
of the Board and recommended to the Board for approval of the
appointment of Mr. Chen Zenan as Chairman of the Board and
non-executive Director, the re-designation of Mr. Huang Hu as
executive Director, the appointment of Mr. Huang Hu as Chief
Executive Officer and the appointment of Mr. Xiao Ling as Deputy
General Manager.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer and is responsible
for ensuring there is a good and timely flow of information
to Directors, both in their roles as Board members and as
members of individual Board Committees. He also assists with
the continuing professional development of Board members.
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board and Board Committee meetings.

The Company Secretary also plays an important role in advising
the Board on all corporate governance-related matters and is
also available to provide advice to the Board.

On 11 October 2019, Mr. Kong Hok Kan was appointed as the
Company Secretary of the Company in place of Ms. Zheng
Yuanyuan. Mr. Kong has complied with the professional training
requirements under the Corporate Governance Code.

Pursuant to code provision F.1.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code, a board meeting should be held to discuss the appointment
of the company secretary and the matter should be dealt with by
a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution. The
appointment of the current company secretary of the Company
was dealt with by way of passing a written resolution duly signed
by all the Directors in October 2019. Prior to such appointment,
all Directors were individually consulted with no dissenting
opinion on the proposed matter. As such, it was considered that
a physical Board meeting was not necessary for approving the
said appointment.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

All activities conducted and all decisions made by the Company
may involve risks to a certain extent. The Board plays a critical
role of monitoring the risk exposure of the Company. The Board
considers the risks in an active manner in setting of strategies.
The Board also considers the risks in assessing opportunities for
business development and growth so as to determine the risk
appetite of the Company.

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the
risk management and internal control systems and for reviewing
the effectiveness of these systems annually so as to safeguard
the Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.
Accordingly, the Company has established internal control and
risk management systems to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement or loss and manage or mitigate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Company’s objective is to establish a comprehensive and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board is aware of its responsibility to ensure that an appropriate
and effective risk management system is established and
maintained by the Company.

The Group has in place an Enterprise Risk Management (‘ERM”)
framework to effectively identify, assess, report, mitigate and
monitor key risks. The framework provides a proactive and
structured approach to identify, manage and monitor risks
on an on-going basis with a common framework across the
organisation to evaluate risk significance and likelihood of
occurrence.

Risks faced by the Company fall into a number of principal
categories: strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk,
financial risk and information risk. The procedures of ERM
of the Company involve risk identification, risk assessment/
prioritisation, risk response and risk monitoring and reporting.
Risks and uncertainties associated with the business of the
Company may have an adverse effect on business, financial
conditions and results of the Company. The Company has
identified certain principal risks through risk identification and
assessment, and has developed risks monitoring mechanism to
facilitate risk monitoring and control.
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The Group operates a “Three Lines of Defence” risk governance
model to delegate and coordinate essential risk management
and control duties in a clear and cohesive manner:

(a)

First line of defence — Business units are responsible for
maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk
and control procedures on a day-to-day basis. Operational
management identifies, assesses, controls, and mitigates
risks, guides the development and implementation of
internal policies and procedures and ensures that activities
are consistent with goals and objectives. Through a
cascading responsibility structure, mid-level managers
design and implement detailed procedures that serve as
controls and supervise execution of those procedures by
their employees.

Second line of defence - (1) Business Management
Department monitors the risk management system,
and facilitates the development, setting and effective
implementation of policies and guidelines. It provides
advice and guidance to the first-line functional units on
implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems; (2) Legal and Compliance Department
monitors various specific risks such as non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations; (3) Company Secretarial
Department monitors various specific risks such as violation
of applicable rules and regulations; (4) Finance Department
serves as a controllership function that monitors financial
risks and financial reporting issues.

Third line of defence — internal audit function, which reports
to the Audit Committee, provides independent assessment
over the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems and makes recommendations based on the
audit findings.

During the year, an independent professional advisory firm
has been engaged by the Company as the consultant of the
Group. It is responsible for conducting in-depth review on
risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The advisory firm has issued a report with its opinion that
the Company has maintained effective and adequate risk
management and internal control systems, which are compliant
and align with the Company’s operational and management
systems.
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The purpose of the internal control system of the Company is to
improve the operating effectiveness and efficiency, safeguard
assets against abuse and unauthorised disposition, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records and that the financial
statements give a true and fair view, and ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. It provides reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss,
and manages, rather than eliminates, risks associated with the
business activities of the Company.

The Board together with the Audit Committee have reviewed
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company during the year.
The Board will upgrade the existing systems of the Company
with reference to the recommendations given by the above-
mentioned independent professional advisory firm, in the areas
of financial management, operation and corporate controls
and risk management. The Board is satisfied that effective and
adequate risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are maintained and align with the operational and
management systems of the Company. The Directors consider
that it is necessary for the Company to continuously improve its
internal control system to the extent that the risks preventing the
Company from achieving its objectives can be properly managed.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and implemented specific policies
and procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, including limiting employees’
access to inside information on a “need-to-know” basis and
ensuring that those who need to know understand their
obligations to maintain the confidentiality of any confidential
information of the Group. Appropriate confidentiality agreements
are put in place when the Company enters into significant
negotiations. All inside information is disclosed to the public
pursuant to the requirements under the SFO and the Listing
Rules and is kept strictly confidential before disclosure.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and operating results. Key risks affecting the Group are
identified below. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently
known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may
also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Group
employs an ERM framework to identify current and foreseeable
risks at different levels of the organisation so as to take
preventive actions to manage and mitigate their adverse impacts.

(1) Regulatory compliance risks

54

The Hong Kong financial market in which the Group operates
is highly regulated. The Company, as a listed company in
Hong Kong, together with certain subsidiaries with SFC
licences to carry out relevant regulated activities, are
required to comply with the rules and regulations from
various regulatory bodies. The regulatory and compliance
regime in the financial industry of Hong Kong is changing
constantly, which increases the likelihood of regulatory
non-compliance as new rules are introduced and existing
ones are tightened. The Group may encounter challenges
in keeping abreast of the changes and managing regulatory
compliance risks, particularly in the areas of handling
connected transactions, notifiable transactions and
managing the disclosure of inside information, preventing
money laundering transactions for money lending business.
In case of failure to comply with the applicable rules and
regulations, the Group may be subject to fines, or even
suspension or revocation of some or all of the licenses for
carrying on the business activities. Accordingly, the Group’s
business operations and financial results might be materially
and adversely affected.
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)

3)

The Group requires the right people, skills and
capability to manage growth and change

The Group has established an organisation structure
to address business changes and relevant regulatory
requirements. Staff roles and responsibilities, authorities
and limits, reporting lines and segregation of duties need to
be clearly defined. Since most of the Group’s core businesses
commenced operation with limited number of key personnel
in each business segment, the Group is required to review
the needs of staff resources in order to cope with the
business expansion and deliver success in the future.
Given that the competition for competent personnel in the
industry is intense, there is high likelihood that competent
personnel may leave the Company, therefore, the Group may
encounter difficulties in attracting or retaining the services
of the necessary key personnel for that business segment.
The Group should hire and retain highly skilled employees
with particular expertise or leadership capability in order
to remain competitive. The implementation of the Group’s
strategic business plans could be undermined by failure to
build a resilient corporate culture, failure to recruit or retain
key personnel, unexpected loss of key senior employees,
failures in the Group’s succession planning and incentive
plans, or failure to invest in the development of key skills.

The Group is subject to a competitive and changing
industry

Financial services segment is one of the reportable and
operating segments of the Group. The financial service
industry in Hong Kong has a large number of participants
which makes the industry highly competitive. The Group has
to compete against competitors which may have greater
brand recognition in the market, more human and financial
resources, a wider range of services and longer operating
history than that of the Group. Apart from large multinational
financial institutions, the Group also faces competition from
local small and medium-sized financial services firms which
offer a similar range of services. Failure to maintain the
Group’s competitive strengths by responding rapidly to the
changing business environment and intensified competition
may erode the Group’s market share and result in an adverse
impact on the operating performance and financial results.

(2) FEBEEEAY - HERELIUEE

BRREE

AEE DR ABRBARE XIS 28 M AR
REERA - ETRBMEME BERR
B EREERBEDTHFRBREMNE
$%@Kﬁ§ﬁl’f§/u¥i‘“ﬁaﬁ)§5 P BEBOH
ARAOBETBABEITEE  AEEFRIA
ﬁﬁﬂﬁ?Zﬁ?ﬁ‘?MﬁE%%ﬂ‘k%%&B@EK%ﬁ
XY o HRTTREBREDALHBEF R
BERENATRAIGEGRERA LR - RIEAE
AIREE RS SR B ML X Bl 5 B 4%
ENTEABZRE LEBRN - i%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ‘
FhH $§‘%Zwﬂ§ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂiﬁr%&
BEENNEEMET - HRE i__ﬂEEE']
EEXE - REHEIRETIEAR - 80X
FERIZEESREIRK - AREETLHE
KA BN ET IR I SOR BE IR B RRSR Bl 2 3%
R AEEREE R ZETREEAM

XRaETE -

(3) FEEEREFAREBENITR

S EIRTE D BB AR B E A —EA] s K&
ENH BECRBBEL2HEERS - #1F
ZITEBFIETRR - AEBNMEFETIS
PRI EReRENEE c ARZ AR
HBEIR - IREESERG N AR KALE
FEEHBEFERT - BT AR BRSRIKE
SN REETNERR B E R ECRE
/NS B RS HIB RO B S o MR BELR D]

B A RIRE RS ZINRFARIEAEE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ REB AL RATISMHREL L&
BRIANIEEEFTHEE -

REBRTEZERERAR T NFEHRE | 55



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
&R

(4) Risks related to strategic planning and reputation

56

GWAMCC, one of the four major state-owned financial
asset management corporations in the PRC, is engaged in
the businesses of acquisition, management and disposal
of non-performing assets, asset management, banking,
securities, insurance, trust, leasing, investment, etc. As a
result of changes in the Group’s shareholding structure and
businesses in 2016 and 2017, GWAMCC became the ultimate
controlling Shareholder of the Company. The Group is now
principally engaged in property investment and provision
of financial services including asset management and
corporate finance. The Board has formulated development
plans and strategies to accomplish the strategic objectives of
transforming the Group into a conglomerate with businesses
in property investment and integrated financial services,
and developing the Company as a major listed entity and
an integrated development platform of GWAMCC outside
Mainland China.

The Group will leverage the solid foundation, strengths and
reputation that GWAMCC has formed in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, in order to constantly expand its businesses.
As such, the Group is exposed to inherent reputation risks,
failure to deliver quality services to clients could result in an
adverse impact on Great Wall’'s brand reputation.
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(5) BREEHEEE

(5) Financial and regulatory reporting risks

As a listed company, the Company has statutory and social
responsibilities to prepare accurate and timely financial
statements which provide objective and reliable information
for stakeholders to base their decisions upon. Inaccurate
or untimely reporting could seriously damage the Group’s
position such as a drop in share price, or impaired sourcing/
financing ability. The Group introduced various new
businesses in 2017 (i.e. asset management and corporate
finance businesses), which indicates that new financial
reporting processes are implemented and experienced
finance staff would be required to extract, assemble,
aggregate and analyse financial data to ensure accurate
financial reporting. The process of financial reporting
becomes more complex and frequent, and transactions may
involve complex accounting treatment or estimation. In 2019,
the Group has adopted revised accounting standards (i.e.
HKFRS 16 — “Lease”). The Finance Department is required
to assess the impact of the new or revised standards upon
adoption. In addition, licensed corporations are subject to
various statutory returns (i.e. the Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules, Disclosure of Interests, etc.)
under the requirement of the SFC and other regulatory
bodies.

The Group is exposed to various key risks including credit
risks, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Details of the
aforesaid key risks and risk mitigation measures are
elaborated in Note 32 “Financial Risk Management” to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report.
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The Group requires a robust internal control system
and controls

The Group is operating under a highly regulated environment.
As a listed company with SFC licensed subsidiaries,
members of the Group are required to establish sound and
effective internal controls which are designed to identify and
manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
ensure reliable financial reporting, effective and efficient
operations, and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. Apart from the investment property business,
other core businesses, including asset management and
corporate finance were introduced in 2017. The Group has
established relevant policies and procedures to cope with the
business development. Strengthening of the internal control
and risk management systems is an ongoing process, the
Group is expected to continue designing and implementing
appropriate measures to meet the changing business
environment. Failure in delivering services in a proper
manner, the Group may result in facing a loss in market
share, reputation and sales revenue.

Risks pertaining to investment properties

The prospects of the Group’s property investment business
depend on the performance of the property market in
Hong Kong. The property market in Hong Kong is affected
by many factors, including but not limited to, changes
in local and international economic, political, social and
legal environments and changes in Hong Kong’s fiscal
and monetary policies, all of which are beyond the control
of the Group. The Group holds various commercial, retail
and industrial buildings in Hong Kong and derives revenue
through leasing out the properties. Being one of the Group’s
core businesses, any property market downturn in Hong
Kong may materially and adversely affect the financial
position, operations, businesses and prospects of the Group
and may lead to fair value loss of the Group’s investment
properties.
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External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was first appointed as the Group’s
external auditor in 2001.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, PricewaterhouseCoopers
provided the following audit and non-audit services to the Group:

NS R BA R

BEBKEBEMESIN S FEREZ
FE RN B 2 SIS AR BRI -

HE_T-NF+A=T+T—HIEFERN &S
BUGE S RN E SR AR BRI T 5= &L IE
FAR -

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$' 000

BT T BT T

External audit SNEE X 1,279 1,350
Tax services M5 AR5 221 184
Other services HAth iR % 521 950

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and offer themselves for
re-appointment at the annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Thursday, 18 June 2020.

The statement by PricewaterhouseCoopers about their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of
this Annual Report on pages 130 to 137.

Investor Relations & Shareholders’ Rights

All of the Company’s Shares are ordinary shares carrying equal
voting rights. Please refer to the “Directors’ Report” section of this
Annual Report on page 84 for information regarding the public
float status of the Company.

The Company recognises its responsibility to look after the
interests of its Shareholders. Shareholder relations play an
integral part in corporate governance. The Company keeps
Shareholders informed of its performance, operations and
significant business developments by adopting a transparent
and timely corporate disclosure policy, i.e. the Shareholders’
Communication Policy, which complies with the Listing Rules and
provides all Shareholders with equal access to such information.
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The Shareholders’ Communication Policy of the Company is
available on the website of the Company.

The Company reports on financial and operating performance
to the Shareholders twice each year through annual and interim
reports. Shareholders are given opportunities to raise concerns
or propose recommendations to the Board at the Company’s
annual general meetings. The Company’s external auditor attend
annual general meetings to answer questions about the external
audit and the audit report. Shareholders may visit our website
(www.gwpaholdings.com) for share price information, latest
business developments, announcements, corporate governance
policies and practices and other relevant shareholder
information.

The Company Secretary is responsible for responding
enquiries from Shareholders and other interested parties.
Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board’s and
management’s attention (to the extent it is publicly available
and appropriate to provide) can be sent to the Company, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, by mail to 21st Floor, Bank
of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.

Note: Any such letter from the Shareholders should be marked

“Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

The Company promotes fair disclosure of information to all
investors and uses best endeavours to ensure that disclosures
made by the Company comply with the Listing Rules’ prohibition
against selective disclosure of inside information.

From 1990 to 2019, all annual general meetings of Shareholders
held by the Company were attended by the then incumbent
chairman of the Board. During the year, the Company held one
annual general meeting and one special general meeting, and the
attendance records of each of the individual Directors are set out
on page 34 of this Annual Report.
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Shareholders have specific rights to convene special general
meetings. A Shareholder or Shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth of the Company’s Shares may require the Directors to
convene a special general meeting of the Company by depositing
a signed requisition at the registered office of the Company,
pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, with a copy
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
stating the purpose of the meeting.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be

marked “Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a
resolution at general meeting. The Shareholders shall represent
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the general meeting to which the requisition relates, or
shall not be less than one hundred Shareholders. The written
requisition must be signed by all the requisitionists and state
the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited at the
Company’s registered office pursuant to the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, with a copy to its principal place of business
in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, not
less than six weeks before the general meeting in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the general meeting in the case of any other
requisition. If, after the requisition requiring notice of a resolution
has been deposited at the registered office of the Company, an
annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after
the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not
deposited within the above-mentioned time shall be deemed
to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof. The
requisitionists shall be responsible for the relevant expenses
incurred in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
unless the Company otherwise resolves.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be
marked “Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.
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The Company held an annual general meeting in June 2019,
during which matters including re-election of retiring Directors,
authorisation of the Board to fix Directors’ remuneration,
re-appointment of external auditor, and grant of general
mandates for the issuance and buy-back of the Shares by the
Group, were presented for Shareholders’ approval. At such
annual general meeting, details of the poll voting procedures and
the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll were set out in the
circular to Shareholders. All proposed resolutions were voted by
poll and the poll results were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year 2019, the Company has not made any significant
amendment to its Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws.
The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws
is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held
on Thursday, 18 June 2020. A circular containing, among other
matters, further information relating to the forthcoming annual
general meeting will be dispatched to the Shareholders of the
Company as soon as practicable.

Disclosure of Director’s Information Pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Other Major Appointment

- Dr. Sun Mingchun (our independent non-executive
Director) was appointed as the Chief Economist of Haitong
International Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665), a
company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, with
effect from 1 November 2019.

Disclosures Pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing
Rules

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21
of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included
in respect of three of the Company’s loan agreements, which
contain covenants requiring performance obligations of the
controlling Shareholders of the Company, as follows:
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(1) On 1 February 2018, the Company (as the borrower) entered (1) R-Z—N\F-HA—H » X275 ({EAER

into a facility letter with a bank (‘Bank A”) (as the lender)
in relation to an uncommitted revolving loan facility in an
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$50,000,000 (or its
equivalent amount in the optional currency(ies)) for a period
of 1 year from the date of acceptance of the facility letter.
Pursuant to the facility letter, the Company has undertaken
to the Bank A that during the term of the facility letter,
(i) Great Wall International directly or indirectly owns not
less than 50.1% of the total share capital of the Company
and retains management control of the Company; and (ii)
GWAMCC directly or indirectly owns not less than 50.1% of
the total share capital of Great Wall International and retains
management control of Great Wall International. A breach
of such undertakings will constitute an event of default
and Bank A may terminate the facility letter and demand
immediate payment and/or repayment of all amounts
outstanding (together with interest accrued thereon and any
other amounts owing to Bank A) under or in connection with
the uncommitted revolving loan facility from the Company.

On 1 February 2019, the Company and Bank A entered into
a supplemental letter to the facility letter to, among other
things, extend the term of the loan facility to 1 February
2020.

On 20 February 2020, the Company and Bank A entered into
a subsequent supplemental letter to the facility letter and
supplemental letter to, among other things, extend the term
of the loan facility to 1 February 2021.

Save for the extension of the loan facility and certain other
amendments, the specific performance obligations on Great
Wall International and GWAMCC as disclosed above remain
unchanged.
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On 11 June 2018, the Company (as the borrower) entered
into a facility letter with a bank (“‘Bank B”) (as the lender) in
relation to a one-year uncommitted revolving loan facility
in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$300,000,000
and that such loan facility continues in full effect after expiry
of the said one-year term until terminated by either party
pursuant to the facility letter. Pursuant to the facility letter,
the Company has undertaken to Bank B that during the
term of the facility letter, (i) Great Wall International directly
or indirectly owns not less than 50.1% of the total share
capital of the Company and retains management control of
the Company; and (i) GWAMCC directly or indirectly owns
not less than 50.1% of the total share capital of Great Wall
International and retains management control of Great Wall
International.

On 11 October 2019, the Company (as the borrower) entered
into a loan agreement with a bank (“‘Bank C”) (as the lender)
in relation to an uncommitted revolving loan facility in an
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$100,000,000 (or its
equivalent amount in the optional currency(ies)) for a period
of 1 year from the date of the loan agreement. Pursuant
to the loan agreement, the Company has undertaken to
the Bank C that during the term of the loan agreement,
(i) Great Wall International directly or indirectly owns not
less than 50.1% of the total share capital of the Company
and retains management control of the Company; and (ii)
GWAMCC directly or indirectly owns not less than 50.1% of
the total share capital of Great Wall International and retains
management control of Great Wall International. A breach
of such undertakings will constitute an event of default and
Bank C may terminate the loan agreement and demand
immediate payment and/or repayment of all amounts
outstanding (together with interest accrued thereon and any
other amounts owing to Bank C) under or in connection with
the uncommitted revolving loan facility from the Company.

(2)
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Remuneration of Senior Management SREEENS
The remuneration of the members of the senior managementby #HEZZT—NF+-_A=+—HIEFESRER
band for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below: B Bz E S » B eF AT
Number of
members of
senior
management
BREEEREEE
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 A~ 2
HK$1,000,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7T — 2,000,000 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T - 3,000,000 7T 1
Total a&t 4

RBBHERBRAT T NFERE | 65



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
=W

The Board is pleased to submit this report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal Activities and Segments Information

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group during the year are property investment
and provision of financial services.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Business Review

A fair review of the Group’s business and the analysis of its
performance as well as prospects of the Group’s business are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this Annual Report (which
form part of the Directors’ Report).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers represented 52% of the Group’s
total revenue and revenue attributable to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 22%.

Save for the continuing connected transactions entered with the
Company’s controlling Shareholder, Great Wall International, as
disclosed in this report, as far as the Directors are aware, neither
the Directors, their close associates, nor Shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2019 had any interest in the five
largest customers.

Since the Group is engaged in property investment and provision

of financial services, in the opinion of the Directors, it is of no
value to disclose details of the Group’s suppliers.
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Financial Results

The profits of the Group for the year and the financial position of
the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2019 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 138 to 223 of
this Annual Report.

Dividends

The Board resolved not to declare any interim dividend for the six
months ended 30 June 2019 (for the six months ended 30 June
2018: Nil).

The Board has resolved not to recommend any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (for the year
ended 31 December 2018: Nil).

Five-year Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 224 and
225 of this Annual Report.

Investment Properties

(L of the Group’s investment properties were revalued by
independent professionally qualified valuers as at 31 December
2019 using the fair value model. Details of investment properties
of the Group are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2019 are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Associates
Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 December

2019 are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Share Capital

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2019,
calculated under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted
to HK$639,101,000 (2018: HK$639,101,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$4,745.7million (2018: HK$4,858.3 million).
Particulars of borrowings are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

Charitable Donations

During the year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to HK$29,000 (2018: HK$26,000).
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date

of this Annual Report are:

=S

FARRKAFEREBPNARRTERNT

Executive Directors Title Notes

HITES B et

Mr. Huang Hu Chief Executive Officer Appointed as non-executive Director on 5
BREE TTHARH November 2016 and re-designated from non-

Mr. Meng Xuefeng
aEEEE

Mr. Ou Peng
BT

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
BT ARE

executive Director to executive Director on 15
March 2019
“E-RE+—ARRAEZAAERITESE I
RZE-NF=B+HBHEFNTEZHAT AR
TES

Appointed on 5 November 2016
—E-RFET-ARBREEHE

Appointed on 5 November 2016 and resigned
on 15 March 2019
“E-RET—RAABEZRE  IRZT-NEF
ZA+THARE

Mr. Chen Zenan

Chairman of the Board

Appointment on 15 March 2019

b Jeab ke EXQTR “E-NF=ATHBEZHE
Ms. Lv Jia Appointed on 5 November 2016
AfELT —E-RET-ARBEEE
Independent Non-executive Directors

BUFRTES

Dr. Song Ming Appointed on 5 November 2016
REIEL “ERFT-ARHEZRE
Dr. Sun Mingchun Appointed on 5 November 2016
FREEL T RFT-ARREEE
Ms. Liu Yan Appointed on 26 November 2018
2%+ ZE-N\FT-AZTRAEZME
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The Board has established three committees, being the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The table below details the membership and
composition of each of the three committees as at the date of
this Annual Report.

EXeR IRE=-MEEZEE  DHAEREE
g FHREERERZEE - TROBHFIIN
AEEHEAH=EZ 888K E KAKE

=

Remuneration Nomination
Audit Committee Committee Committee
Director B EREES FHZEES RERES
Mr. Chen Zenan PRIZR LA M C
Mr. Meng Xuefeng hEEEAE M
Dr. Song Ming REEL M C M
Dr. Sun Mingchun AR+ M M
Ms. Liu Yan 2 47+ C
C: Chairman/Chairlady of the Committee C. ZEGXE
M: Member of the Committee M: ZEGKE

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Chen Zenan,
Dr. Song Ming and Dr. Sun Mingchun shall retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company and is appointed for a specific term.

No Director proposed to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Group, which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

There are no service contracts with Directors that are exempt
under Rule 13.69 of the Listing Rules. No emoluments were paid
to any Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year (2018:
Nil).
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Interests of Directors and Chief Executives

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors,
none of the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company
had any interest or short position in any Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Rights to Acquire
Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors and Chief
Executives (including their spouses and children under 18 years
of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or exercised,
any rights to subscribe for Shares (or warrants or debentures, if
any) of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

The interests of substantial Shareholders in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO or as the Company is aware, are set out in the
table below.
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ARBBEBETIEEBRRRN _E-NF+ A=
T—RBENARRRMOERI T

The Company had been notified of the following substantial

Shareholders’ interests in the Shares of the Company as at 31

December 2019:

Approximate

Number of percentage of
ordinary the issued
Name of substantial Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest shares held share capital®
HERITRAM
FTERREB By, REmtE BEZERYA R
China Great Wall Asset Management Interestin a controlled 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Co., Ltd. ™ corporation
FERBEEEERNBRARO Rt EEER
China Great Wall AMC (International) Interestin a controlled 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Holdings Company Limited™ corporation
FERMEE (BR) ERERARO Rt EEER
Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Beneficial owner 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Holding Limited™ BERFEBA
Central Huijin Investment Ltd.? Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
FRIESRERREETAF corporation
Rt EEER
China Construction Bank Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
Corporation®? corporation
PRI RITIRID AR A A Rt EEER
Wan Tai Investments Limited® Beneficial owner 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%

BHREARAR

BEmfEE A

The letter “L” denotes the entity’s long position in such shares.
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Notes:

(1) Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings
Company Limited which, in turn, is wholly-owned by China Great
Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd.. Under the SFO, China Great Wall
AMC (International) Holdings Company Limited and China Great Wall
Asset Management Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares of the Company owned by Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding
Limited.

(2) Central Huijin Investment Ltd. holds 57.31% of China Construction
Bank Corporation which, in turn, indirectly owns 100% of Wan Tai
Investments Limited. Wan Tai Investments Limited is therefore a
controlled corporation of China Construction Bank Corporation and
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. pursuant to Section 316 of the SFO.

(3) Approximate percentage was calculated based on the 1,567,745,596
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company
had not been notified of any persons who had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which
was approved at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 24 May 2010. The Scheme is designed to motivate the
eligible persons, whose contributions are or will be beneficial to
the performance, growth and success of the Group, to optimise
their future contributions to the Group and reward them for their
past contributions and enable the Group to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant
options to the eligible persons as defined in the Scheme (the
“Eligible Persons”) to subscribe for Shares. The basis of eligibility
of any of the Eligible Persons to the grant of any options shall be
determined by the Board from time to time on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Bk

(1) Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited A& B
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme (and
under any other scheme of the Company) shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the adoption
of the Scheme (the “Mandate Limit”) provided that the Company
may seek approval from its Shareholders to refresh the Mandate
Limit. Moreover, the maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme (and under any other scheme
of the Company) shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to any one Eligible
Person (including exercised and outstanding options) under
the Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

There are no outstanding options under the Scheme at the
beginning of the year ended 31 December 2019.

The period within which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but no option
may be exercised later than 10 years from the date on which the
option is granted. The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised is determined by the Board
upon the grant of an option. The amount payable on acceptance
of an option is HK$1.

The subscription price of the options under the Scheme shall be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion at the time of
grant of the options but it shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of: (i) the nominal value of a Share; (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of the Board’s approval of grant of the
option (the “Offer Date”); and (iii) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date.

The Scheme will expire on 23 May 2020.

No share option was granted or cancelled under the Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (‘Dividend Policy”)
that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholding value.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The recommendation and
declaration of payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute
discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

When deciding whether to propose or declare a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall also take into
account, inter alia, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves,
working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans, liquidity position, shareholders’
interests, general economic conditions and business cycle of the
Group’s businesses, any restrictions on payment of dividends
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Group
and other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Listing Rules and all relevant
applicable rules and regulations in Bermuda, Hong Kong and the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend
Policy shall not constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.
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Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors of the Company has any interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, or with the businesses of the Group during the year.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which the Company,
the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding
company was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2019
or at any time during the year.

Management Contracts

(1) A Tenancy Management Agreement was entered into
between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
(“C&W”) whereby C&W is responsible for the management of
certain investment properties of the Group.

The Tenancy Management Agreement was entered for a
term of 2 years commencing from 14 November 2018 to
13 November 2020 and will be renewed automatically on a
year to year basis unless terminated in accordance with the
terms of such agreement. Management fee of approximately
HK$197,000 was paid by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.

(2) A Services Agreement was entered into between a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Asiaray
Advertising Media Limited whereby Asiaray Advertising
Media Limited, as the exclusive advertising agent, is
responsible for management of our outdoor billboards, which
are at the exterior wall of 1/F. to 3/F. of Yue King Building at 1
Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Services Agreement was entered for a term commencing
from 1 June 2018 and ending on 30 April 2020. Approximately
HK$4,567,000 was paid by the Company for the year ended
31 December 2019.
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(8) An Asset Management Agreement was entered into between
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Gaw Capital
Asset Management (HK) Limited pursuant to which Gaw
Capital Asset Management (HK) Limited is responsible
for the management of one of the Company’s investment
properties, Kwai Fong Plaza.

The Asset Management Agreement entered for a term
commencing on 13 June 2018 was restructured on 13
March 2019 and shall continue and remain valid unless
terminated in accordance with the terms of such agreement.
Management fee of approximately HK$6,174,000 was paid
by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the businesses of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

The Bye-Laws provide that, to the extent not avoided by the
statues, the Directors are entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses, liabilities and
costs which he/she may sustain or incur in connection with the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

Directors’ liability insurance policies containing permitted
indemnity provisions have been taken out and maintained in
force during the financial year and as at the date of approval
of this report to provide appropriate cover for the Directors
and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group in respect of the
relevant liabilities and costs associated with legal proceedings
against them.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

For more details about the principal risks and uncertainties
in which the Group are facing and also the relevant risk
management objectives and policies, please refer to the “Risk
Management and Internal Control” section contained in the
Corporate Governance Report and Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the businesses of the Group are set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section and the consolidated financial
statements of this Annual Report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The Group mainly carries out its businesses in Hong Kong.
As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations in Hong Kong that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, there was no material breach of, or
non-compliance, with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. To constantly
enhance the sustainable development and strengthen the
awareness of environmental protection of all staff, the Company
has formulated and implemented the Green Office Policy, and
such policy will be updated from time to time in accordance
with actual market conditions so as to cover more scopes,
thus benefiting the implementation of green office culture.
The Green Office Policy states that the Company is committed
to the materials saving, energy saving, waste reduction, and
strives to minimise the consumption of natural resources and
energy; reduce the creation of waste and recycle material
whenever practical; ensure all waste is disposed of in a safe and
responsible manner; and monitor and evaluate progress and
performance for continuous improvement.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019 is set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section on pages 85 to 129 of this
Annual Report.

Relationship with Employees and Customers

The Group ensures all employees are reasonably remunerated
and regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration
and other benefits.

Details of the practices in relation to employment are set out in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section on
pages 85 to 129 of this Annual Report.

The Group maintains a good relationship and close contacts with
the customers and conducts regular review of requirements of
customers.
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Retirement Benefits Scheme

The Group’s principal retirement benefits scheme available
to its Hong Kong employees are defined contribution scheme
(the Mandatory Provident Fund) which is administered by

RKERETE

AEEOESEBRNENEEERAEHK
AHEl (B ATEE) BB FEAETE 25
HAREKEEFRSZEEFENETANERR

independent trustees. Both the Group and the employees — EYEfHF -
contribute respectively to the schemes sums which represent a

certain percentage of the employees’ salaries.

Continuing Connected Transactions BHERERS

(1) Continuing Connected Transactions — Asset

80

Management Agreement in relation to the Provision
of Discretionary Asset Management Services

On 29 June 2017, Great Wall Pan Asia Asset Management
Limited (RBWEIRLEEERBRAR]) (‘GWPA-AM”), wholly-
owned subsidiary of Company, and Great Wall International,
controlling Shareholder of the Company, entered into an
amended and restated asset management agreement (the
“‘Restated Asset Management Agreement”), pursuant to
which the parties thereto agreed to amend and restate
certain terms of the asset management agreement dated
19 May 2017 previously entered between the aforesaid
parties. Pursuant to the Restated Asset Management
Agreement, GWPA-AM conditionally agreed to provide
discretionary asset management services to Great Wall
International for a term of three years commencing on 11
October 2017 at a management fee equal to 1.5% per annum
of the assets as consideration for performing discretionary
asset management services. Details of the Restated Asset
Management Agreement and the agreed annual caps set for
each of the four financial years ending 31 December 2020 are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 30 June 2017.

As Great Wall International is a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
entering of Restated Asset Management Agreement and
all the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms
that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate
amount of management fee received by GWPA-AM under the
Restated Asset Management Agreement was HK$36,572,652
which is within the annual cap for the year ended 31
December 2019 of HK$40,500,000.

(2) Continuing Connected Transactions — Tenancy

Agreements in relation to the tenancies of portions of
certain floors of the Group’s premises in the Bank of
America Tower

On 8 March 2019, each of Sunny Bright Development Limited
FFEZER AR AR (“Landlord 17) and Sunny Success
Development Limited ¥ #|5K3% R AR 27 (“Landlord
2”) (collectively the “Landlords”), being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, received a letter of offer from
Great Wall International, a controlling Shareholder of the
Company, (‘“Tenant”) which offered to rent Premises 1A and
Premises 1B (as defined in the CCT Circular) from Landlord
1 and Premises 2A and 2B (as defined in the CCT Circular)
from Landlord 2, respectively (collectively the “Tenancies”).
Upon the approval of the Tenancies by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 30 April 2019, each the Landlords and the Tenant
entered into a formal tenancy agreement on 31 May 2019
(collectively the “Tenancy Agreements”). Details of the
Tenancies and the agreed annual caps set for each of the
three financial years ending 31 December 2021 are set out
in the circular of the Company dated 4 April 2019 (the “CCT
Circular”).

As Great Wall International is a controlling Shareholder of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
entering of the Tenancy Agreements and all the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate
amount of rents received by Landlords under the Tenancy
Agreements was HK$11,182,520.00 which is within the
annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2019 of
HK$11,182,520.

(2)

BE_T-NWFT+A=+—HLFE R
BEIEEEERHRE NHERME S BEH
BEIREARTEA)/A36,572,652/8 70 © WHEBH
HE_ZT-NF+A=1+—"HLEFENF
& £FR 40,500,000 7T °

FEREXS - BRNEEREEALRE
RBTHONMES TEREZ2HEHSR

RZZE—NF=ANB  ARE2EMBR
&]Sunny Bright Development Limited #7532
ZEREAMR AR ([#E1]) XSunny Success
Development Limited #TFIZERE BR A F]
(T#E2]) (FBIEEX ] HWBIARBIER
R RSB ([FABAD OTAIRHEBEELD

DRRHEXE1HEMEIARYH 1B
(EERBEBEXZRK) REEX2HE
MENRE B (ERRAFERERI R
) (B [HE]) - KBURER-_ZT—N
FHA=THABTHRRFRIA® LHEM
g% XEHREABAR-ZT-NFAHA
=+—HFTZEAHERZE (B AEH
B HEREBEBEE-_T-_—F+=A=
+T—HIE=EAMBFEHRETFNFE LR
FEERAARIRBHA-—E—AFHNANA
B K ([FFERER B BR )N

BRRMER R ETREIE14AZRIB AR
ANEEALT HEBBEMEILREBT#
TR X SIRIE LR RIS 14AFZ B AR
NANFHERER S - NARIEREDEST
BiE EHRBIELASHEBERT

BHE-_ZT-hAF+ZA=+—HIEFE -
BEHERZEE THEFTWRNHESEE
#11,182,520.00/87C * WHEBHEBEZE_-Z
—h"WF+-A=+—HLEFENFELR
11,182,520.0078 7T °

REBRTEZERERLR[ —T-NFERE | 81



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
=W

82

The Group has followed the terms of the continuing
connected transactions conducted during the year as
mentioned in the sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) above, which
were determined in accordance with the pricing policies
as set out in the relevant circulars of the Company. Such
continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
who have confirmed that the transactions have been entered
into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the agreement governing the
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor of the Company has issued an unqualified letter
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in
accordance with paragraph 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and
confirmations of the matters set out in that rule. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions, other
than continuing connected transactions as disclosed above,
undertaken in the normal course of business are provided under
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, none of which
constitutes a connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this Annual Report.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance. Details of the Company’s corporate
governance practices are set out in the “Corporate Governance
Report” section on pages 29 to 65 of this Annual Report.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of
the Company’s Shares which were in the hands of the public
exceeded 25% of the Company’s total issued Shares as at the
date of this Annual Report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by the auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Zenan
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 18 March 2020
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About the Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
serves as a review on the sustainability efforts and achievements
of the Company. The Report attends to major stakeholders’
concerns, disclosing the Company’s responsibilities and
long-standing commitment to the environment, social and
governance (‘ESG”) areas. In order to gain a more comprehensive
understanding of the Company’s performance in relation to ESG,
the Report shall be read in conjunction with GWPA Holdings’
2019 Annual Report, in particular the Corporate Governance
Report contained therein.

Reporting Boundary

The Report covers the Company’s ESG issues, as well as
correlated policies, measures, and activities under the control
of the Company. Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the
period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting
Period”). Due to office relocation during the Reporting Period,
the Report encompasses the two offices operated by GWPA
Holdings, which are the rented units at “Units 6507-6510, 65/
F., The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong”, and the
self-owned units at portion of “21st Floor, Bank of America
Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong”, which our
occupancy at the former units ceased in December 2019, and the
latter unit has been in use since May 2019. All existing policies
and procedures have already been applied to our new office.

Basis of Report Preparation

The Report complies with all the “comply or explain” provisions of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) and
was prepared in adherence to the following reporting principles:
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Materiality: ESG Issues that are considered relevant and material
to the Company (the “material issues”) during the Reporting
Period were identified through materiality assessment by
engaging stakeholders through online questionnaire and were
validated by the Board. Accordingly, the Report was prepared
with the focus on these material issues.

Quantitative: Information in the Report is presented
quantitatively whenever feasible. The Report compares past
and present environmental performance data, which lays the
foundation for the Company to set environmental performance
targets in the future. Meanwhile, social performance data has
been disclosed in the Report for the first time, showing the
Company’s devotion in addressing both our environmental and
social impacts.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the methodologies used
for data calculation are consistent with previous years to ensure
comparability.

Approval and Confirmation

The Board is fully responsible for overseeing the Company’s
management and implementation of ESG-related policies, and
is also responsible for ensuring the reliability, truthfulness and
completeness of our non-financial disclosures. The Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board in March 2020.

Feedback to the Report
We welcome your feedback on our sustainability performance
and reporting. You can contact us by mail to 21st Floor, Bank of

America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder engagement is indispensable to the Company’s
endeavours in promoting sustainable development. The Company
will only succeed by working collaboratively with stakeholders.
Hence, the Company pays high attention to the vastly different
expectations from stakeholders, and has been maintaining

i ESE
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regular communication with its stakeholders through various  {EH[EIfE °
platforms to thoroughly understand their concerns and demands,
and spare no effort in addressing them.
Regular Stakeholder Communication EREOERR
Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels Frequency
0 EE5 BERE AR
Shareholders and « Corporate reports and other « Bi-annually/Depending on operational
Investors announcements needs
« Shareholder meetings « Annually/Depending on operational
+ Website needs
« Recurring/Depending on operational
needs
RRRIZEE . BERBERRE - BY¥EF /RIBEEFE
- BREXR® - BE /RBEETE
. A8 . REERBELRE
Government and « Corporate reports and other « Bi-annually/Depending on operational
Regulatory announcements needs
Authorities
B M E TR - BERERAE - BEE RIBELE
Employees «  Employee performance appraisal «  Annually

+ Meetings and trainings
« Email and notice board
« Team building activities and festive

activities
BT . BIRAFE
© EHERIE

- BEBLRAER
- BEBEEBNEREE

Recurring/Depending on employees
and operational needs
Recurring/Depending on employees
and operational needs

Regularly
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Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels Frequency
0 EE5 BERE BRR
Customers « Customer satisfaction survey «  Upon completion of the terms of
+ Interview, site visit and email services with each customer
- Customer service hotline and email «  Depending on customers’ needs
+ Depending on customers’ needs
B - BFmEERAE . TERBLEF ORI ERRZ
- HHR - REEZEENED - BEEPRE
. BPRBEGRLER - REEFPHE
Suppliers « Public tender + Depending on procurement needs
s - AT - REREFE

Professional Group

BEXEE

General Public
HEAR
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Professional group satisfaction survey
Meeting and email
EXERHEERE

SEMER

Media conference
Interview
BEeR

H] 7

Charitable activities and donations

BERDNIBH
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Depending on business needs
Depending on business needs
REEHERTR
REBXHHRBR

Depending on media needs
Depending on media needs
REERFR
RIBEERFR

At least once a year
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Setting Our Priorities

Focusing on the material issues of our business and our
stakeholders is an essential step for the Company to maintain
a sustainable business. Each year, we use a structured process
to identify the Company’s priorities, in addition to our regular
communication with stakeholders. In 2019, with the assistance
of an independent consulting firm, we have undergone the
materiality assessment exercise with our key stakeholder
groups to review, refine and identify material ESG issues that
are uniquely material to the Company and our key stakeholders.
The process is vital for us to be responsive to the changing
ESG context as we evolve our business, along with stakeholder
expectations, and serves as a reference for the Company to
establish its sustainability strategy in the future and determine
the scope of reporting.

In order to build efficiency in our materiality assessment, we
have conducted the stakeholder identification process during
the Reporting Period to select key stakeholder groups across
our stakeholder spectrum based on the level of influence they
have over our business, and vice versa. As a result, the Board,
senior management, Shareholders and investors and employees
are stakeholder groups with high likelihoods to be influenced by
our business or exert influence on our business, and therefore
are considered as key stakeholders of the Company. Individuals
from our key stakeholder groups were invited to participate in the
materiality assessment exercise.
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The materiality assessment process involves 4 basic steps and is ~ EZ M FHHBIES RIUEREALSE - BE0T -
summarised below.

Initial step: Identifying ESG issues
F£—&  BBIESGHRE

The Company reexamined the pool of ESG issues and a total of 15 issues were identified for
this year’'s materiality assessment exercise. 3 issues were removed from the pool, given their low materiality as
a result of the materiality assessment conducted during the previous reporting period and their low impact on
our stakeholders and business, they are “air pollutants emission and management”, “wastewater discharge and
management”, and “environment and natural resources policy”. Additionally, review was also
conducted across international reporting guidelines and peer ESG reports, and “corporate governance”
was added as a new issue this year in response to the “governance” aspect of ESG.
RNATEHEFESGHREE - ASFNEENEZNE THEZE - AR [RERBENETIE] - [BEKEEMERER | &
[BRIFERARAERBOR | =280 F—EREHETHERETRERPEREERERERE
RIRH MR E REBTZETA - Bt - HMEESCEBEFIRELZER - BRI - RIIHERRERSER
NETTHEMESGHREHEI TR - AREFIE [ BEE R ZEULEESGH M [ E)al B -

4

Second step: Ranking ESG issues

=% HESGEBEETHF

Selected ESG issues were incorporated into online questionnaires.

Key stakeholder groups of the Company, which are the Board, senior management, Shareholders and
investors and employees, were invited to rank the ESG issues based on the their level of importance.
RARZHBREEROEFRNHNE - BRESFE  SRBEE BRRIREEMETL -

A S RENT A S EENESGRBMEZ METHT -

4

Third step: Results analysis

B=L  IWER

Responses were analysed under two dimensions, the “level of concern to the Company” and the
“level of concern to stakeholders” to understand substantial impact of different ESG issues to the Company and
stakeholders. As a result, 6 ESG issues (ranked at 5 or above out of 10 in both levels) were considered as material.
RATIMRIE B RBIRGEREGNTE | R EFNENTE | MEREHERETH -
TR TARESGEBEHARRNFNENTERE  HBINEEENZE (EMERE FEDFIERHIAL)

4

Fourth step: Validating the results
BOL  BRER

The Board validated and endorsed the material ESG issues to ensure that the issues are
adequately relevant to the Company’s ESG impacts, thereby disclosing in the Report in a targeted manner.

EZgRRUTRAIERERENEREEEARRARES  MASTEIHEARREPIE -
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The below materiality matrix illustrates the result of the BEEMFENLERIATEZHEEBFTR °
materiality assessment.

GWPA Holdings Materaility Matrix

RBIRGE R ERMRERER
Antl-corruption Labour standards
E#&E B»IRp
’ Compliance with
Health and safety laws and regulations
Product responsibility R EE MTFEMER
EREE
B Employment and employee
% % | benefits
T : P 05 0 R T 5 @ soclal Aspect lssue
Community engagement and Corporate governance P
g 1’ contribution SRES HEMERE
g HESNE AR
=]
B Supply chain management . g L] Enuirnn;:mul
o= fLE e EUREL Mpow
§ & * . : Employes A T A
i & Green office measures development and
5 1 Energy usage and efficiency HERAEE el
TR HES B
e i ’ RTHRNE
Water usage and efficiency
FEREEEDS
Greenhouse gases emission
and management
EEaMiknEE Solid waste discharge and
management
B

Level of concern to stakeholders
HisthEnEE
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As a result, 6 ESG issues were considered material to the BN EEU T AP LG NEEE
Company. The Report was prepared with particular focus on  IRERREEEFIFFIAIENEZ M EEN

the material issues in accordance to the materiality reporting 53| MEZHEEREA - Hﬁvﬁi%%rfﬁ%kﬁi\

principle emphasised by the ESG Reporting Guide, while ample ~ FEHMHVER - LD IR EMESGRE

understand other ESG issues. Our responses to the material  Z&R5IH T HEREES
ESG issues are summarised in the Report, and corresponding

sections are outlined in the table below.

Our Priorities

ENHEERERT

ESG Issues How GWPA Holdings responds
ESG= & RIPIRIZER A FE

Corporate Governance Corporate Governance
TEER TEER

Compliance with laws and regulations

BTIRRER

Anti-corruption
R&3

Employment and employee benefits

ERES TR

Labour standards
&5 T AER

Health and Safety
EREEZ S

Corporate Governance
EER

Integrity and Honesty
SIS
Employment and Labour Practice
B K45 T A8

Health and Safety
EENZR

Product Responsibility
EmaftE

Environment

B

Integrity and Honesty
S VeI

Employment and Labour Practice

TR fR Ko 55 T 2R

Employment and Labour Practice

TR Ko 55 T#R

Health and Safety
[EEI TS
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Corporate Governance

Robust governance is fundamental to ensuring that the ESG
issues the Company faces are well-considered and incorporated
into our business agenda, and is of paramount importance for
us to continuously create value for our stakeholders. As the
Company’s highest governance body, the Board sets the direction
for our business strategy as well as the management of our
business activities, along with a well-established governance
framework in place to govern our corporate behaviour. The
Company adheres to high ethical and business standards and
ensures compliant operation at all times under the rigorous
implementation of policies and procedures. To ensure that all
pertinent requirements are complied with, regular review on
current laws and regulations are conducted jointly by the Legal
and Compliance Department and the Company Secretarial
Department, necessary changes are then made to the Company’s
policies accordingly.

The Board has established and delegated authority to the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees, in which the Audit
Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Company has
formal and transparent arrangements for considering matters
relating to risk management and internal control systems.

The Board
EE

EXER

RENDEERERRARRIMNESGEEREIT
DERIMAFEBHEIZOER - TFEREFIRHE
RFNELEBEZEEE - (FAAARNERS
BAKE EESAUMNEBBBRUAREKE
BRI 5 M WY SEENEARE - RE M
HBRTR - ARBBRSBREBERE &
BORMARFF OV BARBIT I BRI MHREDR S AR
g o RERARPETHARBEN  EZEE
R R ARWE MR RITDARERETES
BE - WHARBNBERETREN S ZE

EEECRUIBRTER  FHMERZE Sk
N AP HEZZESRERERARTMELIER
KEFERENZEE - AEREEREEMAEE
EHIZ AR R -

Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
BEZEEE FMEEE

Relevant corporate governance information, including
director profiles, Board and committee charters and Company
policies can be found in the Corporate Governance Report
in the Company’s 2019 Annual Report and on our website
(www.gwpaholdings.com/en/corporate_governance).

Nomination
Committee

RBRERE®

BREARRINEEERER  BRESEHN S
ENEEEERUNARBER - F2HARR—F
—NEFEREETNERE AMENRFINBUL

(www.gwpaholdings.com/en/corporate_governance) ©
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company is committed to the identification, monitoring and
management of risks associated with our business activities
across the Company. The Board acknowledges that it has overall
responsibility for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company, and plays a critical role in monitoring
the risk exposure of the Company. It considers key risks in an
active manner so as to safeguard stakeholders’ interests and
the Company’s assets, and recognises the importance for the
Company to continuously improve its internal control systems to
the extent that the risks impeding the Company from achieving
its objectives are properly managed.

The Company has in place an Enterprise Risk Management
(“ERM”) framework to effectively identify, assess, report, mitigate,
and monitor key risks. Risks faced by the Company fall into a
number of principal categories: strategic risk, operational risk,
compliance risk, financial risk and information risk, and risks
monitoring mechanisms were then developed to facilitate risk
monitoring and control.

Furthermore, the Company operates a “Three Lines of Defence”
risk governance model to delegate and coordinate essential risk
management and control duties in a clear and cohesive manner,
with our business units effectively executing risk and control
procedures on a daily basis as our first line of defence, and their
work overseen by relevant departments such as the Business
Management Department and the Legal and Compliance
Department as our second line of defence. Internal audit serves
as our third line of defence, providing independent assessment
over the effectiveness of our risk management and internal
control systems and makes recommendations based on the
audit findings.

For more details of the Company’s risk management and internal

controls, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s 2019 Annual Report.
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Integrity and Honesty

Integrity and honesty are the cornerstones of good corporate
governance, and shall not be compromised in any way. The
Company rests on the foundation of integrity and honesty to
build and maintain stakeholders’ confidence. We are committed
to operating with the highest standards of ethical conduct and
professionalism through adopting a zero-tolerance approach to
any forms of bribery and corruption.

The Company strictly complies with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company’s operation
in Hong Kong with bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, including, but not limited to, the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission. During the Reporting
Period, the Company did not receive any allegation against
the Company or its employees of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering that would have a significant impact on the
Company. No whistleblowing incidents related to anti-bribery nor
anti-corruption were received.

The Company has been working painstakingly to combat all
forms of corruption by establishing and putting into practice
a comprehensive set of anti-bribery and corruption policies.
We have a Compliance Manual in place clearly setting out
the internal monitoring systems and procedures, the Code of
Ethics for employees, the declaration and approval procedures
of the acceptance of gift or entertainment, etc., to protect the
Company’s integrity and reputation. Meanwhile, we established
the Anti-bribery and Corruption Policies and Procedures, and
has put the new Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Policy into effect in January 2020, for replacement
of our previous policies in these regards, aiming to further
strengthen relevant work mechanisms by providing ample
guidance regarding the delegation of investigative units and
their respective responsibilities, requirements for customer due
diligence process, requirements for record keeping process, and
other requirements.

BRI
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In parallel to the aforementioned policies, we established the
Whistleblowing Policy to provide guidance to employees to
raise complaints in relation to fraudulent acts, unethical acts
or non-compliance with laws and regulations that may lead
to adverse risk on the Company’s reputation. The Company
endeavours to handle all complaints in a highly confidential
manner and is committed to protecting and keeping the
whistle-blower’s identity confidential.

As for maintaining long-term relations with partners, internal
audit is performed by an independent professional advisory firm
on an annual basis to protect the interests of the Company and
its related parties. Moreover, the Company hires independent
auditors to conduct external audits on the Company. Malpractice
and unethical behaviours are accordingly prevented and
controlled through internal audits and external audits.

In addition, the Company established an Anti-money Laundering
Working Group (the “Working Group”) led by the Chairman of
the Board. The Working Group is responsible for anti-money
laundering affairs, and specialises in customer due diligence and
other compliance matters. By sharing anti-money laundering
information through email and training programs with our
employees regularly, the Working Group raises employees’
awareness on this aspect and hence fosters a pod anti-money
laundering work environment.
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Employment

The Company believes that our success is inseparable from
the dedicated efforts of our employees as well as the human
resources management system in place that attracts and
retains the right talents. We are committed to protecting the
legitimate rights of our employees and fostering an inclusive
and people-oriented corporate culture, and building on this
foundation, we harness the Company’s competencies and our
employees’ unique capabilities to gain a competitive advantage
in the marketplace.

Employment and Labour Practice

The Company sees safeguarding the rights and benefits of our
employees a business imperative. To establish an understanding
and respectful relationship between the Company and its
employees, the Company established the Employee Handbook,
which contains details on personnel policies, regulations and
employee benefits to ensure that all employees are treated fairly
and reasonably. From time to time, the Company reviews our
human resources policies and procedures to ensure that it is in
line with the existing labour laws and regulations and keeps pace
with the latest market development, to allow the Company to
remain competitive in the market in attracting the best talents in
the market, and to meet the expectations of our employees.

Our human resources policies and procedures are in place
to ensure compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company’s operation in Hong Kong
with compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, including,
but not limited to, the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Employee Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
receive any irregularity nor complaint relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare that have a significant impact on the
Company.
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The Company established the Management Methods for
Recruitment for standardising the employee recruitment
procedures to attract the right talents and to allow human
resources allocation to better align with our business
development needs. The Company adheres to its fundamental
recruitment principles of justice, equality and diversification,
always working towards a diversified composition of employees
with various races, education background, work experience,
nationalities, knowledge and skills. With the comprehensive
recruitment and promotion mechanism established, we assure
that all candidates are treated fairly. Decisions made on
employment and promotion solely focused on the assessment
of candidate’s work experience, technical skills and work
performance and will not take into account their age, gender,
race, marital status, sexual orientation and physical disability.
Besides, the Company proactively checks the identity certificates
of candidates during recruitment and employment to prevent
recruiting child labour. Also, we in no way force employees to
work overtime, straightly prohibiting the occurrence of any forms
of forced labour. During the Reporting Period, the Company did
not receive any complaints about illegal child and forced labour
that would have a significant impact on the Company. The
Company also enters into Employment Contract with employees
which sets out the terms of dismissal of employees, prohibiting
any forms of unfair or unreasonable dismissal. The termination
of Employment Contract and dismissal of employees are carried
out in strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations to
fully protect the rights and obligations of the Company and
employees.
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The Company clearly sets out the compensation system and
the types of employee benefits in the Management Methods
for Compensation and Welfare, providing competitive employee
compensation and benefits package to attract and retain our
employees. Employee performance appraisals are conducted
once a year to determine the compensation package, and are
remunerated based on their work performances and standard
market salaries with discretionary year-end bonuses awarded
according to individual performance, reasonable adjustments
are also made in due course as a recognition to employees’
work effort. In addition to a competitive salary, the Company
also provides employees with medical insurance that covers
employees and their eligible family members. Labour insurance,
rental reimbursement allowance, overtime allowance, holiday
allowance, birthday allowance, monthly transport and
entertainment allowance are also provided as part of employees’
total compensation package. The Company also provides
study subsidy to employees to encourage them to continuously
enhance their knowledge and skills. Moreover, the Company
sets out employees’ work and rest periods in the Employment
Contract, and ensures that they enjoy statutory holidays, paid
annual leaves, sick leaves, casual leaves, marital leaves and
maternity leaves, according to the Hong Kong’s labour legislation.

We encourage open communication in the workplace, where
our employees can freely express their views and ideas with the
senior management. Hence, various channels were set up to
facilitate effective communication and collaboration between
all levels of employees, creating an encouraging environment for
creativity and innovation.
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Health and Safety

The Company is committed to creating a healthy and safe
workplace for our employees. Employees of the Company spend
most of their time working in an office environment, therefore
have limited health and safety hazards as compared to other
industries. Yet, the Company remains immensely concerned
about employees’ health and safety in office and has various
precautionary measures in place to minimise any risks in the
working environment, and complies with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company’s operation in
Hong Kong relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards, including, but
not limited to, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter
282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any
prosecutions in relation to occupational health and safety that
have a significant impact on the Company.

The Company offers versatile medical insurance plans and
arranges regular body examinations for employees and their
eligible family members. We provide flexibility in the insurance
package and the body examination plan so that employees can
personalise the plans according to their needs. The Company
invited the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme provider to
hold a briefing session and provide detailed information of tax
deductible voluntary contributions during the Reporting Period.
The Company also arranges employees to participate in fire
drills regularly to strengthen their preparedness to emergencies.
Meanwhile, the Company regularly carries out air-conditioning
system cleaning and puts up health and safety reminders in the
office.

The Company actively promotes work-life balance by
discouraging employees from working off the clock as employee
morale may be at risk if employees continuously overwork
and adverse health effects may be arise from long working
hours. In response, the Company organises various sports and
leisure activities regularly for employees to help employees
to develop a habit of exercising and to prevent them from
exposing to occupational diseases. Meanwhile, we organise
employee engagement activities, such as birthday parties, festive
celebrations, team building activities, etc., to promote employee
friendships and to enhance employees’ sense of belonging to the
Company.
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Development and Training

The Company regards every employee a valuable asset and
sees investing in our employees essential for a sustainable
business growth and success of the Company. We attach
immense importance to the training of employees, committed to
connect employees’ personal development with the Company’s
development by providing a wide range of training opportunities,
building career advancement paths for our employees and at the
same time developing a competent and industry-leading team.

In order to build employees’ capacity to improve the execution of
the Company’s business priorities and strategy and to meet our
employees’ training needs, the Human Resources Department
develops an Training and Development Plan each year, with the
objectives to allow employees to learn about the updates of the
Company’s internal systems and policies, to build employees’
management capacity, for business development advancement,
and for improving employee competencies regarding their job
positions. No less than 12 sessions of trainings were organised
annually. During the Reporting Period, over 90% of our employees
received training with each employee received an average of
21.6 hours of training, exceeding the average hours of training of
employees in Hong Kong by 28%'.
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1 The average training time per employee in 2018 was 16.9 hours as stated in the “2018 Training & Development Needs Survey”

released by Hong Kong Institute of Human Resource Management.
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To support our financial practitioners to adequately embrace
the changes in the financial industry, and maintain professional
competence with knowledge and skills updated continuously,
professional trainings were held regularly in 2019 with internal
and external subject experts invited as lecturers, covering a
broad array of topics, such as securities, investment, compliance,
anti-money laundering, asset management and capital funding.
This also ensures that our financial practitioners meet the
annual Continuous Professional Training hours as required by
the SFC. Apart from providing trainings that build on employees’
professional capacity, induction trainings were also provided to
new employees enabling them to integrate into the Company
smoothly.

As we recognise younger colleagues’ potential in inspiring
creativity and innovation to the workplace, we had for the first
time organised the Young Colleagues Seminar in 2019, inviting
young colleagues to exchange views with the Company’s senior
management on the Company’s corporate culture, business
development and day-to-day work management, which serves
as a channel for our employees to effectively communicate their
ideas with the management level.

Subsequent to the completion of training, training assessment
forms are collected from employees to evaluate the effectiveness
of the training, in particular on the training arrangement, course
content and lecturer performance, commensurate adjustments
are then made to cater for the training needs of our employees.
Simultaneously, all training materials are uploaded to the
Company’s shared drive to create a culture of knowledge sharing,
enabling all employees an easy access to the information they
need.
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The Company’s employees attended professional training on Anti Money Laundering and Analysis of Non-performing Asset cases
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Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Company emphasises cooperation and collaboration with
our supply chains as we believe that the success of our business
links inextricably to the performance of our supply chain, and
only by maintaining good relationship with our suppliers can we
achieve a win-win relationship. Hence, the Company established
the Guidelines on Procurement (‘Guideline”), a comprehensive
supply chain management to manage our suppliers, which
mainly include service providers that provide property valuation
service, property management service, company secretarial
service and other services.

The Guideline prescribes the transparent procurement
mechanism and clearly sets out the tendering process,
responsible personnel and its responsibilities, ensuring that
suitable suppliers are selected in an open, fair, just and honest
manner with their qualification verified.

For every centralised procurement, a procurement assessment
team is formed including no less than 5 members, to assess
their business reputation, quality, service, price, and terms of
sale, aiming to reduce procurement risks as well as to improve
procurement efficiency.
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Although the financial sector does not traditionally have much
concerns in regard to supply chain sustainability, we aim
to cooperate with like-minded suppliers that share similar
sustainability philosophy of the Company. Meanwhile, in support
of a stable local economy, we actively work with suppliers that
are based in Hong Kong.

Since property investment is one of the principal activities of the
Company, we pay high attention to the environmental and the
occupational health and safety performances of our property
management service providers. The Company’s major property
management service providers hold corresponding certifications
such as the ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management, ISO 14001:2015
Environmental Management Systems — Requirements with
guidance for use and OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health
and Safety.

The Company monitors the performances of our suppliers
regularly, to ensure that relevant requirements are met.
Meanwhile, we regularly review and amend our procurement
requirements such that we could achieve greater sustainability
in the near future.
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Product Responsibility

The Company has always upheld our business philosophy
in serving our customers with sheer professionalism under
a prudential and proactive approach, and unceasingly build
successful win-win business relationship with our partners
and customers. While we deliver quality financial products
and excellent services to our customers, we ensure that our
operations strictly comply with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company’s operation in Hong Kong with
health and safety, advertising, and privacy matters relating to
the products and services we provide, including, but not limited
to, the Landlord and Tenant (Consolidation) Ordinance (Chapter
7 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Securities and Future Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company was
not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with laws and
regulations concerning the provision and use of the Company’s
products and services, including but not limited to, marketing
communications including advertising and promotion, and
property rights including intellectual property rights that have a
significant impact on the Company.

As discussed in the former “Integrity and Honesty” section
in the Report, operating in a compliant manner is of utmost
importance to the Company, hence we provide ample guidance
for our employees to follow to ensure compliance. We also place
significant emphasis on managing our employees’ work ethics,
requiring our employees to adhere to the Company’s moral
principles, and have zero tolerance for any forms of corruption.
Details of relevant policies are described in the “Integrity and
Honesty” section in the Report.

Financial Services

The Company has a due diligence procedure in place which
enables us to better understand and familiarise with customers’
financial situation, investment experience and investment
objectives, such that any recommendation or inducement made
is appropriate in all circumstances. At the same time, we ensure
that customers are informed with the terms and conditions
and associated risks before engaging in any kind of financial
transaction. If the Company is exposed to a high-risk customer or
business nature, stringent measures will be taken to manage in
mitigating such risks.
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Property Investment

As a property investment company, we always choose
experienced service providers to manage our properties and
outdoor billboards. Cushman & Wakefield Property Management
Limited, Gaw Capital Asset Management (HK) Limited and
Asiaray Advertising Media Limited were selected by the Company
to manage our properties and outdoor billboards respectively.
As of 31 December 2019, GWPA Holdings had the following

WEKE

ER—EMERERR B —BEREFLEN
RIEHERKERRMNDMENPINESE
BRI FREREERITYEERER AR - Gaw
Capital Asset Management (HK) Limited & Hft
HEESERBERAREERMNYERPINES
BoHE_ZT—NF+-A=1+—H8 " E¥ERSD
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properties under our management in Hong Kong:

No. Types Address
fmen R Y 3t it
1 Offices and car parking 20th and 21st Floors and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 21, 22 and 23 on 4th
spaces Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
WA= FORERL EAPRERBBI12HEBRITPO20 R 2118 R4 221 ~ 22 R 2357 )REAL
2 Industrial building Ground and 1st Floors, Block B, Ko Fai Industrial Building, 7 Ko Fai Road,
IE Yau Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENERESIBE7 RSB L EREBREM T R11&
3 Offices and retail shops The lobby on G/F and the front (or southern) portions of the 1st, 2nd and
MAERTEE 3rd Floors including the staircase therein leading up to the 3rd Floor and
the lift therein serving the 1st, 2nd and 3rd Floors only and portion of
the canopy on the 1st Floor level, Yue King Building, 26, 26A, 27, 28, 29
& 30 Canal Road West, 1-7 Leighton Road and 41-47 Morrison Hill Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
BRETR2EIN26 - 26A ~ 27 ~ 28~ 29 %305 ~ BEE 1 E7 R REEE
B Z47R MR EM TRERT ~ 2 R3E2ATH (S E) (BiEEM3E
VAR K RIS M 218 2 FHER ) - ARVBERD £
4 Industrial building 8th Floor of Block C, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, North Point, Hong
IE= Kong
Rt AREESER NECHESE
5. Commercial area and car Kwai Fong Plaza, 177 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories,
parking spaces Hong Kong.
BRI KORE R BBKRES K77 RESES
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We assure that all tenants’ needs are attended to by requesting
our property management service providers to collect the
views and recommendations of the tenants on a regular basis
and provide timely feedback to us. Meanwhile, the customer
complaint handling process is also clearly set out in the
Company’s Compliance Manual, which requires all customer
complaints to be handled in a prompt and reasonable manner.
When a customer complaint is received, relevant head of
department will handle the complaint. A register of complaints
is maintained to record all customer complaints and the results
subsequent to proper handling in order to avoid the recurrence of
similar events.

To ensure that the disclosure of inside information is central to
the orderly operation and integrity of the market, and to maintain
a fair and informed market, the Company established the Policy
on Disclosure of Inside Information, stating the responsibilities of
the Board and senior management in monitoring all disclosures
in accordance with the provisions of the SFC. In order to identify
and handle inside information in a proper manner, the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
are informed of potential inside information, if any, from the
Company’s employees, and are then reported to the Board upon
consultation with professional advisors, for the Board’s prompt
decision on any disclosure of inside information that complies to
the SFC provisions.

Meanwhile, the Company prohibits any forms of false or
misleading statement in the course of publicity, ensuring that all
advertisements and marketing materials truthfully describe the
matter and are approved in accordance with the provisions of the
SFC before they are issued.

The Company also attaches importance to the protection of
customer privacy. The Company’s Compliance Manual and the
Data Security Policy reinforce the importance of confidentiality
and stated that any customer’s confidential information shall be
properly and adequately protected from leakage. The Company
neither experienced any customer data leakage, nor received
any complaints about inappropriate use of customer information
during the Reporting Period that would have a significant impact
on the Company.
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Environment

The Company is committed to fulfilling its environmental
responsibilities and minimising the potential environmental
impacts of its daily operation as far as practicable. Since the
operation of the Company focuses on property investment and
financial services with major activities involving clerical work
and business meetings in office environment, the Company
poses limited impact on the environment and has relatively
low environmental impact as compared to other industries.
Nevertheless, in fulfilling our corporate social responsibilities
as responsible corporate citizens, we are aware of the negative
impacts that climate change has on where we operate, hence we
take proactive measures in energy conservation and emissions
reduction to do our part in fighting against global warming.
Meanwhile, we never cease to reduce waste and use resources in
a smart way.

The Company strictly complies with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company’s operation in
Hong Kong with air and greenhouse gas (‘GHG”) emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste, including, but not limited to, the Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there
were no non-compliance incidents or infringements in relation to
environmental protection that would have a significant impact on
the Company.

We progressively raise employees’ environmental awareness by
educating them the importance to be environmentally conscious
in our day-to-day work routines, and to join the fight against
climate change by making small steps of our own.
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To manage our office activities with sound environmental
practices, we have put into effect the Company’ Green Office
Policy since 2017, which the management of a green office
was established with green office measures standardised and
implemented. We are committed to fulfilling our environmental
responsibilities, and thus continuously strive to

«  Minimise the consumption of natural resources and energy

« Reduce the creation of waste and recycle material whenever
practical

«  Ensure all waste is disposed of in a safe and responsible
manner

+ Monitor and evaluate progress and performance for
continuous improvements

Responsibilities of our green office management are clearly
stated in the Green Office Policy, with responsible employees
notified. All employees are clearly informed of the Green Office
Policy, and could easily access the policy document in the
Company’s shared drive. Relevant training is also provided to new
employees by the Human Resources Department. Meanwhile,
various channels are set up to collect employees’ opinions
and suggestions on the Company’s green office practices and
performance.

Alongside the Company’s Policy implementation as well as
employees’ earnest participation, the Company was successfully
granted the title and logo of the “Hong Kong Green Organisation”
led by the Environmental Campaign Committee along with 10
organisations such as the Environmental Protection Department,
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service, chambers of commerce
and other business organisations. The Company also received
the “Energywi$e Certificate (Basic Level)” green certification, as a
recognition of the Company’s effort in reducing its environmental
impacts.
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Hong Kong
Green Organization Certification |

fiV g Al
EnergywiSe
—Certilficate—
TAEREMER

Basic Level

SRR
Great Wall Pan Asla Holdings Limited

Certified as
FE W
Hong Kong Green Organisation
(2018 - 2020)

Energywi$e Certificate (Basic Level) Hong Kong Green Organisation Certificate

[EnaEEE (AR ]
Emission Reduction and Energy Conservation

The Company recognises the importance of emission control.
In our business operation, the sources of emission are limited
to direct emission from vehicle use and uncontrolled sources
(volatile organic compounds generated from printers for
instance) and indirect emission from purchased electricity. So
far we have only used one vehicle during the Reporting Period,
hence its emission is insignificant as compared to our indirect
GHG emission generated from our electricity consumption, a
number of energy-saving measures were therefore implemented
to reduce electricity usage and GHG emission.
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According to the Green Office Policy, we are committed to the
following responsibilities in energy conservation:

«  Turn off lights when not in use and use natural light when
possible

« Turnon the lights at specific spots in the office for employees
working overtime and turn off the other lights in the office
when not in use

« Turn off air conditioning at or before 7:30 p.m. every day, in
order to save energy

- Provide fans and purifiers for employees in the office after
7:30 p.m.

« Arrange monthly cleaning for air conditioning system

«  Power off electrical appliances that are not in use after office
hours

« Arrange regular maintenance for appliances

«  Affix reminders to all electrical devices to remind employees
to:

«  Switch off lighting, air conditioning, fans and purifiers
after use

- Switch off/switch the office equipment into standby
mode in the office after use

During the Reporting Period, all employees strictly followed the
energy-saving measures as set forth in the Green Office Policy
and our electricity consumption has been continually monitored
by responsible personnel. Yet, due to office relocation and the
simultaneous operation of two offices, there was a considerable
increase in electricity consumption in the Reporting Period as
compared to 2018. As we settle in the new office, we will continue
to observe our electricity consumption and make efforts in
reducing it.
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Waste Reduction and Resources Saving

Although our business nature does not lead to the generation
of a large amount of wastes from our day-to-day activities, we
spare no effort in reducing wastes and using resources in an
efficient manner. We identified our major types of non-hazardous
wastes to be domestic waste and paper waste, and toner
cartridges as our only hazardous waste. During the Reporting
Period, recyclable materials such as paper waste, plastic bottles
and glass bottles were assembled by types and collected by
the third-party property management company for recycling.
Meanwhile, we encourage the use of recyclable toner cartridges
and returned all used toner cartridges to suppliers for recycling
purposes.

According to the Green Office Policy, we are committed to the
following responsibilities in waste reduction and resources
saving:

«  Use electronic means for communication whenever possible

«  Apply double-sided printing whenever possible

+ Collect and reuse single-sided printed paper and old
envelopes for printing

«  Collect and reuse old box files and apply electronic means for
filing whenever possible

+  Replace rubbish bag not more than twice a week whenever
possible

« Collect and repair computer accessories, electrical
appliances and repairable items for reuse

+ Reuse rechargeable batteries whenever possible

« Reuse decorating materials
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«  Collect recyclable materials for recycling, including:
«  Waste paper
«  Metal
« Plastic
« Used toner and ink cartridges
+ Glass bottles
« Rechargeable batteries

+ Encourage employees to use municipal water supplies
instead of bottled water

«  Affix reminders near all printers and photocopiers to remind
employees of saving paper

« Affix reminders at collect points and notice boards in the
office to encourage waste recycling

«  Affix reminders on taps in the office to remind employees of
turning tap off after use

During the Reporting Period, only 10 recyclable toner cartridges
were used, which reduced by half as compared to those used in
2018, as an achievement of employees’ efforts in reducing paper
use. The Company always encourages employees to avoid the use
of disposable materials. Hence, the collected amounts of plastic
bottles and glass bottles are limited in the office during the
Reporting Period. The implementation of the Green Office Policy
has shown a positive impact on the environmental performance
of the Company.

We also promote the importance of water saving in the office.
The Company’s water is sourced from municipal supply and
controlled by the third-party property management company.
Despite not having any issue in water sourcing, the Company still
proactively raises employees’ awareness of water conservation
by affixing reminders next to water taps in order to save water.
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Community Investment

The Company is committed to giving back to the community. As
a responsible corporate citizen, it is one of our core values to
dedicate to the society, striving to make positive contributions
to the community we thrive in through employee volunteering
programs and donations, building trust with our community and
other stakeholders.

With years of unremitting effort in community investment, we
are proud to announce that we have been acknowledged as a
“Caring Company” for the year of 2019/20 again this year, as
a recognition of our lasting commitment in fulfilling our social
responsibility, and our long-term partnership with charitable
organisations.
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In the pursuit of creating a positive impact in the community,
we encourage employees to be actively involved in volunteering
programs, and have been creating opportunities for our
employees to have direct engagement with the community. For
instance, we have been supporting U-Hearts, an influential local
charitable organisation for their efforts in empowering youths
in Mainland China and Hong Kong, and caring for elderly locally.
We have established a long-term relationship with U-Hearts, and
formed a GWPA Holdings’ volunteer team under their guidance,
aiming to support them by participating in voluntary work and
donations. We consider collaborating with more charitable
organisations in the future in order to provide more channels for
employees to participate in charitable activities.
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Means of participation
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U-hearts Elderly Caring Program
[t —0 | REBIEAE

The Company has been continuously supporting
U-Heart's initiatives, and supported its Elderly Caring
Program during the Reporting Period by preparing “lucky
bags” of essential daily necessitates, such as rice,
noodles, toiletries, etc. More than 3,000 “lucky bags” were
delivered to grass-roots families and singleton elderly on
a monthly basis since October 2018, supporting people in
need in Hong Kong.

RAR—EBEE SR [t — 0 #EE) - WERE A%
wWEARK  EF HARRERELFRN[ER] -8B
T N\FTARE BAREERENEERERE[EEX]
- HRBEEBA=TE[ER]  REBBERFEALRMED -

REBRDEZERERDE —T-NFERSE | 115



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRGE ALE RE IR

Our Performance Data BEMEE
Environmental Performance RIBEN
2019 2018 2017
Emissions® BEi 4
GHG Emissions® B E & §&¢
Total Total Total

Types Units Emissions Emissions Emissions

ki) B BURE BYHE BINE

Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from vehicle use’ Tonnes CO,e 5.63 = =

$E—: EWMEAEENERAEREBHMRS RS iREE

Scope 1 emissions per employee Tonnes CO,e per 0.28 S =

BREINEE—HW employee

RE—S(CHiREE
BHRET

Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from electricity use®  Tonnes CO,e 49.68 24.03 19.71

BE— - BEELNRZREREBIRC RS iREE

Scope 2 emissions per office area Tonnes CO.e persq. ft 2.17x10°  2.22x10°  2.18x10°

MAEGTHRNVEE _HEH RE_SIREE

BFAR

3 Avehicle was purchased and used by the Company during the Reporting Period. Since the Company did not use any vehicles
in 2018 and 2017, hence, did not have any air pollutant emissions, direct GHG emissions and gasoline consumption.

4 RRREREFHANBEREHA—WAE - ARAEZ—//\FN_Z—+FIWLEHRARE - BILZEEMAR5RWHI -
BEOREREBYATREFE

5 According to A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard issued by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, Scope 1 emissions is
defined as the direct GHG emissions occur from sources that are owned or controlled by the Company, for example, emissions
from combustion in owned vehicles, while Scope 2 emissions is defined as the indirect GHG emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity, steam, heating and cooling consumed by the Company.

6 MEEEREBZABIAEGH(EEGERRERE)  HE—FR/RERRRAKIEHNIOR - fli0 - BB BEEHF ThA
BFEANBERAZREHINE #E_FEAEAFERNE N - )7 ROFLAMEENHZREREBYNE

7 The calculation method and relevant emission factors of direct GHG emissions are referenced to the Guidelines to Account
for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes)
in Hong Kong issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department and the Environmental Protection Department of
Hong Kong.

8 EHAERBHENNHENARMEMIBRAATN2ERETRBMRERES ARARMO(EBREY (AR - FEXAHA
%) HRERBEHHURR R EN®REES]) -

9  The calculation method and relevant emission factors of indirect GHG emissions are referenced to A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standard and the Sustainability Report 2018 issued by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol and the HK Electric
Investments respectively.

10 BHEAZERBHMA E AR RL2 ERERBLABRMEMN (R REFERREIRE) LERBNREBRA
BIEMEC2018FAIEEREE)
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2019 2018 2017
Wastes EEY)

Total Total Total
Types Units Emissions Emissions Emissions
BR By BEhE BENRE BHNRE
Non-hazardous waste: Domestic waste™ Tonnes 3.29 3.22 =
BEBERY - £EIR? N
Domestic waste per employee Tonnes per employee 0.16 0.15 =
LB TELNEFEIR nW/BEET
Hazardous waste: Toner cartridge Pieces 10 21 10
BEEEY - HHR (58
Toner cartridge per employee Piece per employee  0.50 1 0.56
BHREIESNOHBNHE H/B%ET

11 The calculation method of domestic waste of 2019 is referenced to the Monitoring of Solid Waste in Hong Kong — Waste
Statistics for 2018, and calculation methods of domestic waste of 2018 and 2017 are referenced to the Monitoring of Solid
Waste in Hong Kong — Waste Statistics for 2077 issued by the Environmental Protection Department.

12 ZE-NENERENFENE2ERGERETEMICEEEREDERRE —

R EFENEERRF E A2 ERERET R M (EARRENES RS — T LFHSAET)

REBRDZERERIE — T NFERE

“E\FHEEEF) c —E-\FR
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2019 2018 2017
Use of Resources EiR A
Types Units Amount Amount Amount
E<Fid] By ¥E HE e
Electricity consumption™ kWh 62,102.00 30,416.82 24,953.00
AEs F R
Electricity consumption per office area kWh per sq. ft 2.72 2.81 2.77
MAZEGTHRNEIER FTEE,/BFHFR
Gasoline consumption?® Litres 2,115.20 - S
vk ol
Gasoline consumption per employee Litres per employee  105.76 = =
BHEINTHAE DA/ BRET
Purchased water'® m3 6.56 4.64 =
SN E 0 K
Purchased water per employee m? per employee 0.33 0.22 =
BRETHINERKE AR/ BRET

13 The reason for the significant increase in electricity consumption was due to office relocation from May to December 2019
when both offices were under operation simultaneously.

14 BINERANEBENNRARAA—ZS—NFRAAZ T ARAENRERFARKELMERAE -
15 The Company operates in an office in which its supply of water is managed by a third-party property management company

and the water usage data could not be obtained. Hence, purchased water includes purchased bottles of drinking water for
office use only.

16 ARRAERAEES  FRREEHRE=J7MEEERRIES - FIARNESRKEE - it - INBRKERBEHBAER
FARVSNEEHRECK -

118 | GREATWALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019



ENVIRONMENTAL., SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B i E KB

Social Performance’ EER
Total Workforce EE &
No. and rate of employees By sex Male 13 65.0%
BT ABKIGLL RIERIE S S
Female 7 35.0%
L8
By employment type Senior level 4 20.0%
REEEEES BE
Middle level 10 50.0%
B
Junior level 6 30.0%
LE
By age Below 30 3 15.0%
REREI D 30BRA T
30-40 7 35.0%
30-405%
41-50 8 40.0%
41-505%,
571 or above 2 10.0%
51RREIA L
By geographical region Mainland China 7 35.0%
it & o RIS
Hong Kong 13 65.0%
Eo

17 We started to collect our social performance data during the Reporting Period, hence figures of 2018 and 2017 are not
available and are not shown in the table. In the future, we will continue to collect social performance data with consistent

methodologies to allow meaningful comparisons over time.

18 REREHAMGRELSENEE  WREH T \FN T FNHEBBIRETRE - ARBREREH » KK

BB A — BRI AR E SEREUE - ARRRE BEMLE -
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Employee Turnover & Tifi%k

No. and rate of employee turnover By sex Male 1 8.7%
BIREABKE I RAEX RIERIB ES
Female 1 13.3%
o8
By employment type Senior level 0 0%
REREIED =E
Middle level 0 0%
TE
Junior level 2 36.4%
2E
By age Below 30 1 28.6%
REERE D B0BA T
30-40 1 12.5%
30-405%
41-50 0 0%
41-505%
51 or above 0 0%
51Bxak A E
By geographical region Mainland China 0 0%
i & B A 3
Hong Kong 2 14.8%
iy
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Development and Training 2% /& £23% 3|
No. and rate of employees trained By sex

B TIHEIIAB KRG RIERIE D

By employment type
REREIED

Average no. of training hours per By sex
employee ZMRIE D
F5 8 TP

By employment type
RERERE S

Male

B
=]

Female
Z

Senior level
BE
Middle level
HE

Junior level
AE

Male

3

Female

z

Senior level
=/

Middle level
HE

Junior level

£

13

21.4

21.9

13.7

20.5

26.5

92.9%

87.5%

75.0%

100%

87.5%
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Occupational Health and Safety Bi (@ FEHEZ 2

No. and rate of work-related fatalities & T {ERB{E ML T A A S M bR 0 0%
No. and rate of work injury A T{EBIE T 15 H) A S b & 0 0%
No. of lost days due to work injury B TYERIR M SIS FTEAMN TIER 0 =

Supply Chain Management & fE$E & 12

No. and rate of suppliers By geographical region Mainland China 0 0%
HERHE Kbt it = 2 PR
Hong Kong 14 100%
B8

Product Responsibility &R
No. of complaints received &M FEE 0 -

Anti-corruption R &5
No. of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Company or 0 -

our employees
HETASHESRL W EENE THRRRMHEE

Community Investment Lt E#& &

Donation amount (in HK$) 26,800
Bl RE (OB)
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Appendix: The Environmental, Social and

Governance Reporting Guide Index

By : BEXPTESGHE 5| R 5l

General
Disclosures and
Key Performance

Indicators (KPI) Relevant Section
—-BEER Description in the Report
BRENERKP) | #H AHEEEEERD

A. Environmental

A REHE

Aspect A1: Emission

BEAT : B

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and

generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

AR RERBHN - MKRLOES  AEREEEZYNELSN

(@) B &

(b) BFHBEITABEATENERER LRV ER

Environment
1B

KPIAT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Not material '
BERUIR R MR E R TEED
KPIA1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Environmental
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
BERBAYNE MR Rk (ER) BE (MABES SN - BEREE) RIEBEM
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Environmental
per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
PESASEEYES CAEE) &k (nER) 28 (MABES £ - BERMHE) | RREN
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | Environmental
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
FEABRZEZENEE CAEE) & (Eh) BE (MASESEN - BERMAE) | RIFEN

19 The Company conducted materiality assessment during the previous reporting period, where “air pollutants emission and

20

management” issue was considered as a low materiality issue that have low impact on our stakeholders and business, and
was not considered material to the Company during the Reporting Period. Meanwhile, the amount of air pollutants generated
by the Company is limited since only one vehicle was purchased and used by the Company during the Reporting Period. With
these reasons, the Company has decided not disclosing respective types of emissions and emissions data in the Report.

RATN E—ERREET T 22T - HP [ERPERER | ZEE T RERNRENZE - ANHRMORNERER

FEIK  IRBEHARARFRRR/TER - B ARBERESHARBERER T —WAE - EEBROARISRY -

ENELRE - NABPRENMEATRE P IR FE LSRR LR s -
REBRTEZRERAR —F

—NEFEHRE | 123
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RE-iak

R §

initiatives and results achieved.

HilREAEREZRRZYNIE  REELENERIAEKR

General

Disclosures and

Key Performance

Indicators (KPI) Relevant Section

-REER Description in the Report

BREREREKP) | #Hid AREERED

KPIA1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. Emission Reduction

TIURE B E OB B S A 1S AR and Energy

Conservation
AL

KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction | Waste Reduction and

Resources Saving
BRI E B RE A

Aspect A2: Use of Res
BHA2 : ERER

ources

General Disclosure

—RKE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BRERER (BEER - KEEMEREMH) OHE

Waste Reduction and
Resources Saving
VIR RS

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in Environmental
total (kWh in’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). | Performance
RENEDMERER/ FREER (WE - fdoh) @ (UTETRENE) REE | RFEX
(WAGESEN - §ERmEAE)
KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Environmental
facility). Performance
BFKERTE (MABESEN - BERGAE) RIREN
KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Emission Reduction
LB IR I A s AT &I RS AR and Energy
Conservation
B RE A HE
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, | Waste Reduction and
water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Resources Saving
HACKEVERKR LRI A EREE - RER KGR B RAERER BEYIRE R EREK)
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, | Not applicable?
with reference to per unit produced NERY
S m AT BEMHNESE (UNETE) &k (ER) BEEE(LE
21 Since there are no sales of actual products in the direct business operation of the Company, the use of packaging materials

was not involved d

22 ARARREEREENERTIEHEERER

124 |

uring the Reporting Period.
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
-REER

Description

BRENIEEZ(KPI)

it

Relevant Section
in the Report
FHRERAED

Aspect A3: The Enviro
BEA3 : RIERAARE

nment and Natural Resources

R

General Disclosure

—RiKE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

BEBETABRERAREREXNBAT ENPR

Environment
RIE

KPIA3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

Not applicable?
TER

B EREDHRBERAAE RN EATERE KN ER BT ENTTE
B. Social
B. 2 EHE

Aspect B1: Employme
EEB : {EfE

nt

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits

and welfare.

BN RE  RERET  TERE B FERE St RERARE

tFB IR

(a) B &

(b) B FHBEITABEATENERER LRV ER

Employment and
Labour Practice

BfER S TS

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region. | Social Performance
RILR - EEER - FhRARIEE S MESRH HEBEN
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Social Performance

RITH - AR SRS D HEE KL X

HEEN

23 Due to the minimal impact of the Company’s direct business operation on the environment and natural resources, no activities

were taken to man

age the impact.

24 ARARFEERLENEBTHRENAANERNFEGD  FIDRARNERARTENED -
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General

Disclosures and

Key Performance

Indicators (KPI) Relevant Section
—REER Description in the Report
BRENESKP) |l Sy ]
Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EHB2: RRERZ

General Disclosure | Information on: Health and Safety
—BHE (a) the policies; and REREZE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

ARRHEZ2TERERREREESSEBENLEW

(@) B &

(b) BTHETAREATENEREZLRDNER

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Social Performance
RIEBEMIETHAZR LR HEBEN

KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Social Performance
RIGBATIERE HEEX

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are Health and Safety
implemented and monitored. BEREZZ

HRFRARNBEERET 21 - AREBRTRERTE

EMEB3 : B/E K

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description of training activities.

BRI EE BT TIERE O ME MR MEBR - HUsdlEg

Development and
Training
BRERRIE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior | Social Performance
management, middle management). HEEN
BRI REEER (MBRERE - PREEES) NN IEEAD L
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee Social Performance
category. HEBEN
IR REB BRI - B2 E 8T XTI
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
-REER
BRENIEEKP)

Description
AL

Relevant Section
in the Report
FHRERAED

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EEBs . & TEE|

General Disclosure

—RiKE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BEAIEETSARHIZTE

(@) B &

(b) BFHETABEAY ENRBERLANNER

Employment and
Labour Practice
BERSTER

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced | Employment and
labour. Labour Practice
R RSP EEAR R ET REHST {EfR R % TR

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Employment and

HAEERERBERSERABERARRO TSR

Labour Practice

EfE RS TR
Aspect B5 : Supply Chain Management
fEEBS : fEEER
General Disclosure | Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain
—REE BRHREENIRE Rt ERBEE Management
HERE R

KPIB5.1

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

ZRE R EREE

Social Performance
HEEW

REBREZERERAE —T-NFERS |
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI) Relevant Section
—REER Description in the Report
BRENESKP) |l Sy ]
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EHEB6 : EmEMR
General Disclosure | Information on: Product
—BHE (a) the policies; and Responsibility?
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact | ERE T
on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
REAMRHERNRBHRREELZ S - BS RERMBFEUARERIEN :
(@) B &
(b) BTHETAREATENEREZLRDNER
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are Product
dealt with. Responsibility
REBNERMRBORFEE AREE T E EmAE
Social Performance
HEBEH
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property | Product
rights. Responsibility
Hi B 4 T AR PR AR EERE R V1B D) EmAE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are Product
implemented and monitored. Responsibility
HEEE B RHRE RALBER - UREBRITRERNE EREL

25 Since there are no sales of actual products in the direct business operation of the Company, no matters relating to product

labelling were involved during the Reporting Period.

26 ARARREEREENERTIERHERRER
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
-REER
BRENIEEKP)

Description

it

Relevant Section
in the Report
FHRERAED

Aspect B7: Anti-corru
EBEB7 : RES

ption

General Disclosure

—RiKE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

AR LB HER - BEF LR EN -

(@) B &

(b) BFHETABEAY ENRBERLANNER

Integrity and Honesty
eSSV EE

KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the | Social Performance
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. | &4
REHRPALETASHEERLYDEBENE SRARGNHE RFDER

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are | Integrity and Honesty

implemented and monitored. B RBE
e LR RE R - LRSI TRER

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HBIRE

General Disclosure | Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities | Community

—BE where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the Investment
communities’ interests. HERE
AU R2ERTREEMEHERENRREEB DG EBHRAGNEER

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, | Community
health, culture, sport). Investment
EIEREE (0HE  BREE 4IFK  #E - Xt BE) HERE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Social Performance

ERIREMHAER (e EkHE)

HEEN
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Great Wall Pan Asia
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 138 to 223, which comprise:

« the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

« the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

« the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

« the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

« the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

130 |

BRBRTERARQFRR

(R BEFREZMEIZNBRAR])

=R
EMAEHFTHAR

RHREZERAERAF (ATEHEBIERR DR
HIMB AR (A THEIEREDIIFNFE138E

223 AR ARS8

s RIE-NFF+_A=+T—HNGREER
B
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Eo
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EMHER
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

RRHNER

BN AT BEHAAREHNH(TEE A
B ((EBBEEAD DEITRE - RIVERS
R TR EN B EREARE R EH
AR A YEROE (E HH(A S B — L -

BAHRE - RPPESHENREE TR EE
HRRPINE BRI AR -

By
REEZBSAMASRBN(EXSHENERT
ACUATERITAD - HABLR E&E -
YEREITTAFNEMERBEREL -
BAREEE

FAs =R SRR MM EEHE - RAEAR

PR RANETRAEENER - GLE
ERERMETERGSMBEHRREHAZRE
ETRIER - BT EHELRREHREBNE
E/ o
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Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to valuation of ~ FIFEEFTP BRI RET BB EIGEYE

investment properties.

MRERR -

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRETSEE BANET R EERETSE

Valuation of investment properties Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation
REMEMLE of investment properties included:

Refer to notes 2(h), 3(a) and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

B2BRA T HRERMTE2(N) ~ 3(a) &6 °

The investment properties are a key component of the
Group’s net assets value as at year end and financial
performance for the year. The Group recognised the fair
values of the investment properties of HK$3,351.2 million
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2019 and the investment properties revaluation gains
of HK$169.2 million in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2019.

ZEREYER ESEBEERANEEFERFANNS
REMERAEKBS - RZT-NF+ZA=+—H &
EENGEEERBRTHERREME A TESIG1.2AE
BTk BEEEREE_T-NF+_A=+—HILF
ERFa2RRGERTHRAREMFEELKZE169.2888

7‘|:o

LEREEHIREYENGE - RFPTRITNEF 21 -

« Assessed the Valuers’ competence, capabilities
and objectivity;
. FHMEHHERIRERS - SR REEIE

« Obtained and read the valuation reports issued by
the Valuers which covered the property valuation
of all investment properties of the Group;

- RBEXMEMGERLANGERS  HERE &%
B 2 EIRE M ERYELE

+ Agreed the management data used by the
Valuers, including tenancy schedules and
relevant details, to the tenancy agreements of the
Group;

- REMGERMEANEEREEE - SEHERRERX - 8
sk EEEEERZ
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Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMPNE R EBERETSE

The investment properties of the Group comprise retail
shops, office buildings, industrial buildings, and car
parking spaces. Management determined the fair values
of these properties, with reference to the valuation
performed by external valuers engaged by the Group (the
“Valuers”), both using the income capitalisation approach.
The income capitalisation approach involved significant
estimates, the key assumptions used such as rental yields
and capitalisation rates taking into consideration of the
locations, sizes, and qualities of the properties to derive
the fair values of each of the properties.
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The valuation was inherently subjective due to the
significant estimates involved. Changes in these estimates
could result in material changes to the valuation of the
properties and hence the results of the Group.
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Assessed the valuation methodologies and the
key assumptions used by the Valuers, including
involvement of our internal valuation specialists;
and
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Involved our internal valuation specialists to
compare the rental yields and capitalisation
rates used in the management’s valuation
process, with our independently formed market
expectation of similar properties.
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We found the key assumptions used in the valuations
were supported by the available evidence obtained.
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Other Information

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Li Lien.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 2020

"AUDITOR’S REPORT
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31 December

31 December

2019 2018
—E-NIF —E—)N\F
+=ZHA=+—H8 +t=—A=+—8H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
gz BT T BT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets JEMEBNEE
Investment properties wEME 6 3,351,200 3,791,800
Investment in associates REE N R 2 RE 8 3,811,900 3,405,706
Financial asset at fair value BATE AR
through profit or loss TEEE 9 1,116 1,141
Property, plant and equipment ERE S 5 631,807 4,073
Right-of use-assets EREEE 10 21,986 -
Loan receivable FEWE K 1 - 115,903
Restricted cash SRR HIEE 16 10,226 9,199
7,828,235 7,327,822
Current assets MBNEE
Amounts due from associates JE LB & R B F IR 8 65 -
Prepayments, deposits and ENER  Zek
other receivables HAth fEURIR 13 16,848 12,765
Current tax recoverable BN A= F I8 889 -
Accounts receivable FEUs R IA 12 3,740 3,064
Cash and bank balances H& RIRTTH 28 182,255 169,593
203,797 185,422
Total assets EE 8,032,032 7,513,244
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities JEmEBAE
Loans from an intermediate REFEHERA T
holding company ZER 15 3,848,434 3,915,009
Bank borrowings RITIEE 16 897,285 893,529
Lease liabilities MERE 18 17,952 -
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTISTR & 14 3,610 1,913
Other payables and accrued liabilities H e RIERE G 17 254,549 125,262
5,021,830 4,935,713
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Continued)

?wA

GaREARE ()

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
—E-NE —N\&F
+=ZA=+—-8 +—A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BRE BT T BT T
Current liabilities mEaE
Amount due to an intermediate FE(T R AR A )
holding company - 91
Amounts due to associates AR NEIECE] 8 - 958
Bank borrowings RITEE 16 - 49,792
Lease liabilities HEEE 18 4,712 -
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFT{S R B & 3,591 1,432
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hh N FIE R ET A E 17 42,727 52,664
51,030 104,937
Total liabilities mEfE 5,072,860 5,040,650
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital %N 19 156,775 156,775
Reserves i 20 2,802,397 2,315,819
Total equity HarELs 2,959,172 2,472,594
Total equity and liabilities wrESkaE 8,032,032 7,513,244

The notes on pages 144 to 223 are an integral part of

F144BEE 2238 2 T AL ELR

these consolidated financial statements.

Mr. Chen Zenan
BUERI A
Chairman

ESE

Mr. Huang Hu
BERAE
Director
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Year ended 31 December
BZE+t=-A=1+—HILEE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

Notes HK$’000 HK$000

BEE BT T BT

Revenue W= 4 168,345 144,874
Other income HABKA 151 2,375

Cost of production AR - (5,232)

Rental and utilities e K& (13,559) (17,461)

Depreciation e 5,10 (20,914) (2,004)

Other operating expenses Bz s 22 (63,962) (69,585)
Fair value gain on investment properties &% N FEWS 6 169,192 400,561
Operating profit KEBR 239,253 453,528

Net finance cost BATE KA ER 23 (173,399) (143,674)
Share of profits of associates FE(REE R A & F 8 427,393 279,717
Profit before income tax BRETEH AT E R 493,247 589,571

Income tax expense PSR Sz 24 (6,296) (6,116)
Profit for the year 2FEER 486,951 583,455
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

a2 I ik ()

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HLHFE

2019 2018
—B-hE —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
BT BETT AT
Other comprehensive loss Htt2EEE
ltem that may be/has been reclassified Hign /BENHEZE
subsequently to profit or loss: Bm AR
Currency translation difference ERERES
on consolidation ZIEHZRE (373) (965)
(373) (965)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, 2FHM2HEEE
net of tax (BRBit2) (373) (965)
Total comprehensive income for the year 2FER2HWALE 486,578 582,490
Profit attributable to: FEAL BRI
Shareholders of the Company 7 /NG| 486,951 583,455
Total comprehensive income attributable to: FE{E 2 UK AZZE :
Shareholders of the Company ANEIRRER 486,578 582,490
Earnings per share BRER 26
Basic E-YIN HK31.06 centsi#fll  HK37.22 cents/Bll
Diluted e HK31.06 centsifll  HK37.22 cents/Bll

The notes on pages 144 to 223 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_T-hF+-A=1T—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAREE ARG
Reserves
e
Share Share Contributed ~ Merger Other  Retained Total
capital premium  surplus  reserve  reserves profits equity
RE ROBE HABY AHRE EtRE RERF 0 48R
HK$000  HK$O000  HK$000  HKP000  HK$O00  HK$O000  HK$O000
ATr BEtn A%Tn B¥Ttn AThn B¥Tr B%Tn
Balance at 1 January 2019 RIF-NE-A-R&H 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333,974 1,629,633 2,472,504
Comprehensive income 2EKRA
Profit for the year 2EEF - - - - - 486951 486,951
Other comprehensive loss EwrEER - - - - (373) - (373)
Total comprehensive income 2HUAEE - - - - (373) 486,951 486,578
Balance at 31 December 2019 R=B-hE+-A=t+-R&H 156,775 50,382 310841  (9,011) 333,601 2,116584 2,959,172
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZ-\§-A—-A&H 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 334,939 1,046,178 1,890,104
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Profit for the year 2EEF - - - - - 583455 583455
Other comprehensive loss Et2EER - - - - (965) - (965)
Total comprehensive income 2HUANLE - - - - (965) 583455 582,490
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZB-NF+-A=+-BE&H 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9011) 333974 1,629,633 2,472,594

The notes on pages 144 to 223 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GollemER

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —TN\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiE BETR AT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHZRERE
Cash generated from operations REELE 7RG 28(a) 70,982 1,518,527
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBMEH (3,329) (11,112)
Net cash generated from operating activities  &&EBEL 2 FHRE 67,653 1,607,415
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHZHATRE
Purchase of property, plantand equipment ~ BEAYIE - #2E KR E 5 (4,382) (935)
Addition of investment properties NEREWE 6 (19,958) (818)
Interest received B A S 197 152
Loan to a third party RE=HER - (116,700)
Repayment of loan receivable EEENEN 116,700 -
Investment in an associate R—ZKBE AR RE 8 - (3,123,382)
Dividend income from an associate RE— R AR EUA 8 7,474 -
Repayment of loan from an associate RE—REERAANERESR 8 13,725 -
Acquisition of business and subsidiaries WEEBKIEA 27 - (714,319)
Restricted cash RBHRE (1,027) (9,199)
Net cash generated from/ REEZBEL/(FTA)2FHE
(used in) from investing activities 112,729 (3,965,201)
Cash flows from financing activities METBH RTRE
Repayment of loans from an intermediate KB H R A R
holding company BEEN (66,576) =
Repayment of bank borrowing BEIRITEE (49,792) =
Proceeds from loans from an intermediate REFEERARZ
holding company SRFETIA 28(c) - 2,479,342
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE 18 (13,198)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEEEHIA 16 - 52,013
Interest paid ERFIE (38,022) (22,410)
Net cash (use in)/ generated from MEBEE (R EE2FRE
financing activities (167,588) 2,508,945
Net increase in cash RekBe%EEL
and cash equivalents il 12,79 51,159
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate ExEH o w2 (132) (127)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BAzRekIeFE 169,593 118,561
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ~ ATZA=t—BHZHRERkREEE  28(b) 182,255 169,593
The notes on pages 144 to 223 are an integral part of these S144BEFE 2238 2 M RULFLRE M BERE

consolidated financial statements.
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1.

(a)

(i)

144

Corporate information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability. Its principal place of business
in Hong Kong is 21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12
Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are (a)
property investment and (b) financial services.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”).
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties and financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss, as further explained below.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2019:

-  HKFRS 16 “Leases”

« Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments.

The Group had to change its accounting policies as a result
of adopting HKFRS 16. The Group elected to adopt the new
rules retrospectively but recognised the cumulative effect of
initially applying the new standard on 1 January 2019. This
is disclosed in Note 2(b). Other amendments listed above
did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior
periods and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

1.

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ij) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
by the Group

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2019 reporting periods and have not been early adopted
by the Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16
“Leases” on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
and discloses the new accounting policies that have been
applied from 1 January 2019 below.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively from 1
January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for the
2018 reporting period, as permitted under the specific
transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications
and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are
therefore recognised in the opening consolidated balance
sheet on 1 January 2019.

Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of HKAS
17 “Leases”. These liabilities were measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019.
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 3.43%.

The remeasurements to the lease liabilities were recognised
as adjustments to the related right-of-use assets
immediately after the date of initial application on 1 January
2019.

2.

(a)
(ii)

(b)
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16

2. EREBRREE (R)

(b) BB ZSBRKE (F)

A B B EERE 165 ER .2

(Continued) I (4E)

2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
BT T

Operating lease commitments disclosed R-ZE—\F+_A=+—HBEE
as at 31 December 2018 R4 T B I 36,424

Discounted using the lessee’s incremental A ARYIAER B BHeEE
borrowing rate of at the date of initial application BERMEETIER 34,868
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019 R-E—-hE—F—HERNHEEEES 34,868

Of which are: Hep

Current lease liabilities nEHEERE 12,204
Non-current lease liabilities FERpHEAR 22,664
34,868

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following
types of assets:

T EERRERNCHREAEEE -

31 December 1 January

2019 2019

=B-NF ZEFNF

+=A=+-8 —A—A

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Properties S 21,986 37,148
Total right-of-use assets EREEEAE 21,986 37,148

As at 1 January 2019, right-of-use assets were measured
at the amount equal to the lease liabilities, including
an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group of
HK$2,280,000 in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset.

R-ZE-NF—A—B  £AREERESENE
SRR eR (BRAKREREMERABEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(@)

(Continued)

Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16
(Continued)

The change in accounting policy affected the following items
in the balance sheet on 1 January 2019:

Right-of-use assets — increase by HK$37,148,000
Lease liabilities - increase by HK$34,868,000
Provision — increase by HK$2,280,000

The net impact on reserves on 1 January 2019 was nil.

Impact on segment disclosures

Reportable segment net profits and segment assets for the
year ended 31 December 2019 have changed as a result of
the change in accounting policy.

The following segments were affected by the change in
policy:

2.

ERETBEREE (&)

(b) BB ZSBRKE (F)

RANE BRI BHEERF16 5 EZZ
A (E)

R—ZE—hhF—H—8"
TYEEAERMNIER -

SRRESTE

5 FIRES &= —121137,148,00078 7T
B —1202,280,000/8 7T

HIN=F
/4%}‘}\0

—NF—-A-BNRENFTER

Ho BB E

BE_ZT-NAFT_A=T—"HLEFE 7

&%%ﬁ A ﬂ&”*ﬁé?i’]l 2R

TN HBZBRESZE

Reportable
segment Segment
net profits assets
RS
DEBFHEF PEMEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BETT
Property investment YIS E (677) 21,986
Financial services T RLARTS - -
(677) 21,986
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(ii)

148

(Continued)

Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16
(Continued)

Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used
the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

+ the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics

« the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend or terminate the
lease.

The Group leases various offices and buildings. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years.

Until 31 December 2018, leases of properties were classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the
lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each year. The
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(i)

(Continued)

Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16
(Continued)

Practical expedients applied (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

« fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable

« payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined,
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the
rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,
and

« restoration costs.
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2.

(c)

(i)

150

i 7 ik (48)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December 2019.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Except for acquisitions under common control, the Group
uses the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G 6 BB R I A

2.

(c)
(i)

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Interests in subsidiaries in the Company’s balance sheet are
accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwiill.
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2.

(c)
(i)

152

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)
Business combinations — common control combinations

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the combining entities in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining entities first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling parties’
perspective. No amount is recognised in consideration
for goodwill or excess of acquirers’ interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common
control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the
controlling party’s interests.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
includes the results of each of the combining entities from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities first came under the common control,
where there is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the
common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities had been
combined at the previous year end date or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by those
entities. All intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between combining entities
are eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

(c)
(i)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

Business combinations — common control combinations
(Continued)

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration
fees, costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs
or losses incurred in combining operations of the previously
separate businesses, etc., incurred in relation to the common
control combination that is to be accounted for by using
merger accounting is recognised as an expense in the period
in which itis incurred.

(ii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and post-acquisition movements in reserves of associates
is included in the Group’s profit or loss and consolidated
reserves respectively. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. Dividends received or receivable from associates
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.
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2.

(c)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(ii) Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses/
profits of associates’ in the statement of comprehensive
income.

(d) Segment reporting

(e)
(i)

154

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2. EESTHBERRBE (B

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e) SNEITE (4E)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) X5 Rk

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss, except when
deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on investments in equity instruments
classified as available for sale financial assets are included
in other comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated
in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale are
analysed between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of the security and other
changes in the carrying amount of the security.

Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying
amount are recognised in equity.

(iii) Group companies

On consolidation, the balance sheet of subsidiaries and
associates denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date
whilst the statement of comprehensive income is translated
at an average rate. The resulting translation differences
are included in the translation reserve. When any of these
subsidiaries or associates is sold, any translation differences
previously recognised in respect of such subsidiary or
associate are reclassified to the profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate. Currency translation differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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2.

(f)

(8

156

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when these
benefits can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i) rental income, in the period in which the properties
are let out and on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms;

(i) asset management and investment advisory related
services, based on the period in which such services are
rendered; and

(i) corporate investment advisory related services, based on
the period in which such services are rendered.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than assets in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers
from hedging reserve of any gains/losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant
and equipment. Assets in progress represents property,
plant and equipment under construction or instalment and is
not yet ready for use. They are transferred to the respective
category of property, plant and equipment when they are
ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

()]

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes
available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on other assets
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
as follows:

— leasehold improvements  Shorter of remaining lease term of

21050 years or useful life

- buildings 100 years

- computer equipment 3to 4 years
- office equipment 3to 10 years
- office furniture 3to 10 years
- vehicle 3to 10 years
- others 3to 10 years

No depreciation/amortisation is provided for assets in
progress.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(h) Investment properties

158

Investment properties are properties that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment
properties are measured initially at costs, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are carried at fair values, with changes in fair
values recognised in the profit or loss. The methods used to
determine the fair values of the investment properties are
set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

Subsequent expenditure on an investment property is
included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its fair
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for
accounting purposes.

If an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, any difference
resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value
of this property at the date of transfer is recognised as a
movement in the asset revaluation reserve. Such movement
will not be subsequently recycled to profit or loss. However,
if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the
gain is recognised in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

(i)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases

As explained in Note 2(b) above, the Group has changed its
accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee.
The new policy is described below and the impact of the
change is shown in Note 2(b).

Until 31 December 2018, leases of property in which a
significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership
were not transferred to the Group as lessee were classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which
the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

« fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payment that are based on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

« amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

« the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.
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2.

(i)

160

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

« the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

« any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received;

« anyinitial direct costs; and
- restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

(i)

@)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated balance sheet
based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a
result of adopting the new leasing standard.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets
is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the carrying amount of the assets to
their recoverable amount.
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2.

i 7 ik (48)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Financial assets

0]

162

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: financial instruments measured at amortised
cost, financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments designated
at fair value. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. By the adoption of
HKFRS 9, management reassessed the classification of its
financial assets at 1 January 2018.

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Financial assets that are held to collect the contractual
cash flows and that contain contractual terms that give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest, such as most loans and advances
to third parties and some debt securities, are measured
at amortised cost. In addition, most financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying value of these
financial assets at initial recognition includes the directly
attributed transactions costs. If the initial fair value is lower
than the cash amount advanced, such as in the case of some
leveraged finance and syndicated lending activities, the
difference is deferred and recognised over the life of the loan
through the recognition of interest income, unless the loan
becomes impaired.

The Group may commit to underwriting loans on fixed
contractual terms for specified periods of time. When the
loan arising from the lending commitment is expected to be
held for trading, the commitment to lend is recorded as a
derivative. When the Group intends to hold the loan, the loan
commitment is included in the impairment calculations set
out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2,

(Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued) (k)

EREBREE (&)

ERMEE (&)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value through other  (ii) %2 -FEFI A B2 E Wiz ([HBA-FE

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

Financial assets held for a business model that is achieved
by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows and
that contain contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at FVOCI. These comprise primarily
debt securities. They are recognised on the trade date when
the Group enters into contractual arrangements to purchase
and are normally derecognised when they are either sold or
redeemed. They are subsequently remeasured at fair value
and changes therein (except for those relating to impairment,
interest income and foreign currency exchange gains and
losses) are recognised in other comprehensive income until
the assets are sold. Upon disposal, the cumulative gains
or losses in other comprehensive income are recognised in
the income statement as “Gains less losses from financial
investments”. Financial assets measured at FVOCI are
included in the impairment calculations set out below and
impairment is recognised in profit or loss.
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(iii) Equity securities measured at fair value with fair (iij) 2 FlEF1 2 A -FIELZE KR

value movement presented in OC/

The equity securities for which fair value movements are
shown in OCI are business facilitation and other similar
investments where the Group holds the investments other
than to generate a capital return. Gains or losses on the
derecognition of these equity securities are not transferred
to profit or loss. Otherwise equity securities are measured at
fair value through profit or loss (except for dividend income
which is recognised in profit or loss).
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Financial instruments designated at fair value

164

Financial instruments, other than those held for trading, are
classified in this category if they meet one or more of the
criteria set out below and are so designated irrevocably at
inception:

- the use of the designation removes or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch;

- when a group of financial assets and liabilities or a group
of financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on the fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy;
and

- where the financial liabilities contains one or more
non-closely related embedded derivatives.

Designated financial assets are recognised when the
Group enters into contracts with counterparties, which is
generally on trade date, and are normally derecognised
when the rights to the cash flows expire or are transferred.
Designated financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group enters into contracts with counterparties, which is
generally on settlement date, and are normally derecognised
when extinguished. Subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in the income statement in “Net income from
financial instruments measured at fair value”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

(k)
v)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derivatives

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value
from the price of underlying item such as equities, interest
rates or other indices. Derivatives are recognised initially
and are subsequently measured at fair value. Derivatives
are classified as assets when their fair value is positive or
as liabilities when their fair value is negative. This includes
embedded derivatives in financial liabilities which are
bifurcated from the host contract when they meet the
definition of a derivative on a standalone basis.

(vi) Impairment of amortised cost and FVOCI financial

assets

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) are recognised for loans and
advances to customers and other financial assets held at
amortised cost. At initial recognition, allowance is required
for ECL resulting from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (or less, where the remaining life
is less than 12 months) (“12-month ECL”). In the event of a
significant increase in credit risk, allowance (or provision) is
required for ECL resulting from all possible default events
over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial
assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are considered to
be “stage 17; financial assets which are considered to have
experienced a significant increase in credit risk are in “stage
2”; and financial assets for which there is objective evidence
of impairment so are considered to be in default or otherwise
credit-impaired are in “stage 3”.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)

(vi) Impairment of amortised cost and FVOCI financial

(l)

166

assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL,
are unbiased and probability-weighted, and incorporate all
available information which is relevant to the assessment
including information about past events, current conditions
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events
and economic conditions at the reporting date. In addition,
the estimation of ECL should take into account the time
value of money.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The par value of the
shares issued and fully paid is recognised in the share capital
account. Any excess of proceeds from a new issue of shares
(net of any incremental costs directly attributable to the new
issue) over the par value of the shares issued is recognised in
the share premium account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(m) Other payables

(n)

Other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it
will then be recognised as a provision.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(o) Current and deferred income tax

168

Income tax expense is the aggregate amount included in
the determination of profit or loss for the year in respect of
current tax and deferred tax.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

2.

(0)

(p)

(q)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Shareholders, or directors, where appropriate.

Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.
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3.

(a)

(b)

170

Critical accounting estimates and judgement

Management are required to exercise significant estimates
and judgments, which are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, in the selection and
application of accounting principles.

Fair value of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties is performed in
accordance with the “Valuation Standards on Valuation
of Properties” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation is reviewed semi-annually by
qualified valuers by considering the information from a
variety of sources including but not limited to:

() comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market; and

(i) rental income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for any reversionary income potential.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by
using valuation technique. Details of the judgement and
assumptions have been disclosed in Note 6.

Changes to the assumptions used in deriving the valuation
could have a significant risk of causing material adjustment
to the carrying amounts in the balance sheet.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges
for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The depreciation for future periods are adjusted if
there are material changes from previous estimates.

3.

BASEESHbET R

EEETHENMNEREHRABATRER
it R AE - AR KA AR R
TERNBELRMEMAER (BRERAERIE
AN RERBERARREFEE) o

(a) REMEXZAVE

REMEDRBEEBANSMBEMERZ
[MEMBEZGEER ETRE - HESF
FRAEERMBEMERZ S EERMIELR
A BREENRR

ERAT S LREAMELL B ZHER S
&

e
=
VI

(i) RAEMEEEZHSWAREMELEE
U E S B

BEWMFE 2 A HEDLERGBETEZEE - B
R HIET I FRAR A RHIS I FR IR MY REG ©

HEMAZBEREDHEEREERBRVE
EEARARARNEARLR -

(b) ¥I%% - BB RRIEH A ERAFEH

| GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

AEBEEBETHDE - #a8 MmN
AR A F AR E R X - %A
EETTRIBRUIEE RINEERN YR ~ ez
RiBHERRAERFHBELRES -
HEBENBEBEANRE - BIERKEHE
AEITE o



=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

3.

(c)

(d)

Critical accounting estimates and judgement
(Continued)

Investment in associate

The Group’s management applies critical judgements on
the classification of investment in an associate for the
acquisition and the subsequent shareholding restructuring
of an associate during the year. The judgement involves the
assessment of the financial and operating decisions of the
Group on the associate. For details please refer to Note 8.

Lease term and discount rate determination

In determining the lease term, the Group’s management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive and concluded not to exercise a
termination option. Periods after the expiration of the
termination options are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certain not terminated. The assessment
is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and
that is within the control of the lessee.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to
exercise considerable judgement in relation to determining
the discount rate taking into account the nature of the
underlying assets and the terms and conditions of the
leases, at both the commencement date and the effective
date of the modification.

Revenue and segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEQ”) of the Group, who reviews
the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. The Company’s management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group has two reportable segments, property investment
and financial services segments, for the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.
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RRERR - BREE - F2HMES -

(d) ExHEH KRR

EETHEDR  ~AKEBEEBEEMERE
REEFANEE RBER » WRHFTTTER
LHEESRE - RIDEREARROBMEERS
EREEAAB IR IENER T AREY
A e MEEBBAEHHBERLIREREE
FENGALEAEAZS ZF - RIEE/EF
EEITIRET -

EEEMRERE  AEEARHERK B S
REFHLMERERABEEEMNIEE MM
BT RIGI - HEERBERERERH
ﬁﬁ' o

Wz e 3 BRE R

ITEREARARECKEESANEEITRAAE
(MTHAER ) @ REFAEE 2 WEBHREIA
FHAERBEEDEER - AARIEEEBERE

HEREETEEDE

RE-F-NER-F\E+=A=+—
BULEE - AREEMERE RS BEBA
TR HE -
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4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

172

Property investment segment holds various retail,
commercial and industrial properties in Hong Kong. It derives
revenue through leasing out its properties.

Financial services segment mainly holds licences to carry
out Type 1 (dealing in securities) (restricted by certain
conditions), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO. It also derives interest
revenue from loan investment.

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the performance
of the operating segments based on profit or loss after
tax. The Group considers that the measurement principles
for profit or loss after tax are consistent with those used
in measuring the corresponding amounts in the Group’s
financial statements. Hence, profit or loss after tax is used
for reporting segment profit or loss.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies except that interest in the profit or loss of
associates is accounted for on the basis of dividend received
or receivable in segment profit or loss while such interest
is accounted for under the equity method in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different marketing strategies. Transactions (if any) between
reportable segments are accounted for on arm’s length
basis.

Revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 consists of revenue from property investment and
financial services segments. The revenue for the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 were HK$168,345,000 and
HK$144,874,000 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)
Substantially all the activities of the Group are based in
Hong Kong and below is segment information by reportable
segments:

(a) Reportable segment profit or loss

For the year ended 31 December 2019

4. WK 7 EEF (E
AEEARE BB AE SRR - T
RETRED BED 2 HBEMMT :

(a) AIRE D BB

BE-_E-AFT-A=1t—-HLEE

Property Financial
investment services Total
NERE SER ®st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T B¥T T BYT T
Revenue from external customers  INRE P 2 Wzs 120,884 47,461 168,345
Profit for reportable segments AIERE D EBAF 200,174 6,893 207,067
Net finance cost BATE R AFEE (38,602) (3,329) (41,931)
Depreciation e (9,406) (637) (10,043)
Income tax expense FTiST R (6,256) (40) (6,296)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HE_ZT-\F+_A=1T—HIEFE

Property Financial
investment services Total
YR E ©EARTES HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
Revenue from external customers SMNREFE 2 Wz 92,413 52,461 144,874
Profit for reportable segments RIS D EBRF 422,870 13,881 436,751
Net finance cost BTSN 5 8 (20,573) (3,628) (24,201)
Depreciation e (248) (382) (630)
Income tax expense FiSHi = (4,640) (1,476) (6,116)
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4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss to

4. Wk 2 ARE R ()
(b) THESBEREDFRIHERER

profit for the year
For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1t—HLEE
2019 2018
—Z-hEF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit for reportable segments ARG D EBEF 207,067 436,751
Reconciling items: HARIAR -
Share of profits of associates under BEERGARNG
equity method of accounting Fa NP 427,393 279,717
Finance cost for the acquisition of W — e E A A
an associate (Note) BAFS R AN (BT7t) (131,240) (119,463)
Other corporate and treasury activities ~ H ¥ K ERES (16,269) (13,550)
Profit for the year 2T 486,951 583,455

174

Note: The finance cost of HK$131,240,000 (2018:

HK$119,463,000) is not allocated to the above reportable
segments as this finance cost was incurred for the
acquisition of an associate. Please refer to Notes 8 and 15
for details.

BfiE: 131,240,000 T (=F— )\ :
119,463,000/ 7T ) Z SR AR D ELE
VARl sk 5 20 T R R sx A IS A AN B sk
WKL NRMES - F15m2H
fizE8 & 15 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

5. Property, plant and equipment

5. ¥% - BBERRE

Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment  equipment furniture  improvement  Buildings Vehicle Total
HENE
ElEE BOAZRE  BOZEA BEIR BT B b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BTn AT BT A¥Tn
Net book value at RZE-NE—A—-AH
1 January 2019 LEHFE " 944 628 1,809 - 681 4,073
Additions AE 2 494 149 3,737 - - 4,382
Reclassification (Note () EXTHHE (Hiit(a) - - - - 629,750 - 629,750
Depreciation & (5) (306) (118) (1,628) (4,198) (143) (6,398)
Net book value at RZE-NE+=R
31 December 2019 =t-AZEEFE 8 1,132 659 3,918 625,552 538 631,807
At31December 2019 W=E—N%E
+ZA=+-A
Cost KA 2,139 2,462 1,105 8,538 629,750 M7 644,711
Accumulated 2RHE
depreciation and RREEE
impairment losses (2,131) (1,330) (446) (4,620) (4,198) (179) (12,904)
Net book value at RZE-NE+=R
31 December 2019 =+-AZEREFE 8 1,132 659 3918 625,552 538 631,807

Note (a): On 1 May 2019, portions of 20th Floor and 21st Floor of Bank
of America Tower together with a car parking space were
reclassified from investment properties to property, plant and
equipment in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2019 as the owner occupies such portion of the properties as the

Group’s head office. For details, please refer to Note 6.

REBBRDZERERDE — T NFERE

\E 2z
B ﬁﬁé}

ffit@: R-ZT—NFERA—H » EEBITH L2042
ko1 z B ER—EEEISENBIREY
EREROEERN_E—NE+=_RA=+—
HirGEEBBRTHME « HR MEE -
HIHREFERZYESMI D IEREASE

B2 s - AR BIREEG
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5. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

5. ¥I% - #Es R RkiE ()

Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment equipment furniture  improvement Vehicle Total
BENF
St  BOERE  BAERE ¥ELR BE &5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BB BETT BT AETr BTt A%Tr
Net book value at 1 January 2018 RZZ-\&—A—-A
LEREEE = 1,335 716 3,258 = 5,309
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 27)  WEBMB R (#7:227) 14 14 - - - 28
Additions ME = 20 48 80 77 935
Depreciation i (3) (316) (120) (1529) (36) (2,004)
Written off A = (179) (16) . = (195)
Net book value at RZZ-N\E+ZR
31 December 2018 =+—-AZEEEFE 11 944 628 1,809 681 4,073
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\F+-A=1-R
Cost R 2,137 1968 956 4,801 717 10,579
Accurnulated depreciation and ZRTERAESE
impairment losses (2,126) (1,024) (328) (2992) (36) (6,506)
Net book value at R=Z-\E+=A
31 December 2018 =t—AZRERE 11 944 628 1,809 681 4,073
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

6. Investment properties 6. REYE
2019 2018
—B-hF —T)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T PBEET T
At 1 January R—H—H 3,791,800 1,781,500

Reclassification to property, plant and BHHBEEME - #as

equipment (Note (a)) K& A (K15t (@) (629,750) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note (b)) WEEM B AR (A7aE b)) - 1,608,921
Capitalised expenses BERbR 19,958 818
Fair value gain NFEEWZS 169,192 400,561
At 31 December WT—_A=+—~H 3,351,200 3,791,800

(a)

On 8 March 2019, both of Sunny Bright Development
Limited and Sunny Success Development Limited, being
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, which hold
certain office units and car parking spaces of the Bank of
America Tower as investment properties, received letters of
offer from Great Wall International, an intermediate holding
company, which offered to rent portion of the above premises
from 1 May 2019 to 31 December 2021. The remaining
premises are used as owner-occupied properties starting
from 1 May 2019 and are thus reclassified from investment
properties to property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had
completed the acquisition of Patrol Hall 12 Limited which
indirectly owns Kwai Fong Plaza as disclosed in Note 27.
Kwai Fong Plaza is under renovation since March 2019 which
the fresh market would be converted to retail shops, the
renovation is completed as at 31 December 2019.

REBBRDZERERAE —T-NFERS |

R-Z—NE=ZAN\B @ FFEBEEEEREQ
AIRFFRERERAR (BELARRNE
BMBAR - WIFFEERITHILETHA
TR REBESEMNERREME)HEF
R A R R EREE B KT - ZHA
—E-hFRA-RAEE=-—F+=A=
+—HEELAMEN—HD - BT WES
—E-NFRA—BRIEAEZHAYERS
B YAMBREMESTOEEYE K
BN o

K27 R ETIRE B2 T \&+—A
=+—HIEFE AEBEKKERERS
R 7 Patrol Hall 12 Limited © 2% E
BEZT-NE= ARETEE  HPEE
EMBMREKTEE  EER T —NEF
+=ZA=+—H®&T -
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6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. REWE (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2019, direct operating (ZET-NF+TZA=+—RIEFE &
expenses of HK$22,781,000 (2018: HK$22,347,000) SrHEWRRENRHEEHSWAZEKRE
arising from investment properties that generated rental MESI B s BEEEERE 22,781,000 7T
income and no direct operating expense arising from (ZZ—/)\F :22,347,00087C) * REATE
investment properties that did not generate rental income ERESRAZIREMERES| B EELEER
(2018: nil), were charged to the consolidated statement of S(CE—NF:HE)e
comprehensive income.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total future minimum RZZF—NF+ZA=1+—H  xEBERE
rental receivables under non-cancelable operating leases for HITEWHE 2 TR HHS S HE 2 KRR &R
its investment properties are as follows: MERYRIBETENT -
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Not later than one year TEmE—F 62,586 42,841
Later than one year but tBim—FE
not later than five years TEBRF 90,907 25,328
Over five years tRim T F 16,776 -
170,269 68,169
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. REYE (&)
Particulars of investment properties held by the Group as at RZZE-—NEFER=FT—N\F+=-A=1+—H
31 December 2019 and 2018: REBFFHEEMZEFS

Property Type Lease term

L3 EEil FHHA

() 20th and 21st Floors and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 21, 22  Offices and car parking Long
and 23 on 4th Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt spaces
Road, Central, Hong Kong
FRTREBBI2FXBRITHO20R21ERMEZ21 - BAEREFESHEU  KY
22 R 23RS HIGE L

(i) Ground and 1st Floors, Block B, Ko Fai Industrial Building, Industrial building Medium
7 Ko Fai Road, Yau Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
ERNEEHESEE7 RSELRAEBEM N N1 I= R

(iii) The lobby on G/F and the front (or southern) portions of Office and retail shop ~ Medium
the 1st, 2nd and 3rd Floors including the staircase therein
leading up to the 3rd Floor and the lift therein serving the
1st and 2nd Floors only and portion of the canopy on the
1st Floor level, Yue King Building, 26, 26A, 27, 28, 29 & 30
Canal Road West, 1-7 Leighton Road and 41-47 Morrison
Hill Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BSETELEFT26 - 26A - 27 ~ 28 - 20[%305% « 1BlEE WAZERTER £
127 RERBE LB B47HRMREM TARERT ~ 2K
3B ATEB (SN &) (BIEEm B IERE MRS 1 K218 2
THEEHE) - AR1EED L&

(iv) 8th Floor of Block C, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, Industrial building Medium
North Point, Hong Kong
L AERESRERAECESIE IE 5
(v) Kwai Fong Plaza, Kwai Fong Estate, 177 Hing Fong Road, Retail shops, fresh Medium
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong (acquired in market and car
2018 (Note 27)) parking spaces
(Note (a)
ERMRLBEFR77HRESBEFES (R_Z2—/\F ZTEE WEETR i HA
WEE (Hat27)) BEISEAL) (K15t (a)
Note (a): Kwai Fong Plaza is under renovation since March 2019 which [z (a): ¥ EHEE S — NE= ABETEE &
the fresh market would be converted to retail shops. The RESEEMEBBCERZESE « EE N =
renovation was completed as at 31 December 2019. —NE+ZA=+—HET -
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6. Investment properties (Continued)

6. REW=E (H)

Investment properties comprise: REMZHEBIE -

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Long term leasehold (not less than 50 years) RHIFRL (RLRA+F) 600,000 1,186,000

Medium term leasehold (less than 50 years FRHAFRL) (DR E+E
but not less than 10 years) BADRTE) 2,751,200 2,605,800
3,351,200 3,791,800

Fair value measurements using significant

EREAFIBREABENQFES

unobservable inputs 3%
Retail shops,
fresh market
and car Office Industrial
parking spaces buildings buildings Total
2EE - @E
HTREEGEN N 3 IE H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-/\—A—H - 1,479,000 302,500 1,781,500
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Vote 27) ~ WEHBAR (H/i£27) 1,608,921 - - 1,608,921
Capitalised expenses BAMEAR 818 - - 818
Fair value gain - unrealised ATEYHE-RER 70,261 287,000 43300 400,561
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\F+=A=+—H 1,680,000 1,766,000 345,800 3,791,800
At 1 January 2019 RZE-nF—A—H 1,680,000 1,766,000 345,800 3,791,800
Reclassification to property, plant ~~ EHHDEEME - #aER
and equipment (Note 5) i (Hits) - (629,750) - (629,750)
Capitalised expenses BAMEAR 19,908 - 50 19,958
Fair value gain - unrealised ATEKE-RER 132,092 13,750 23,350 169,192
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+ZA=+—H 1,832,000 1,150,000 369,200 3,351,200
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6. Investment properties (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were revalued by
independent professionally qualified valuers, Cushman
& Wakefield Limited (“C&W”) and Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited (“Savills”) at 31 December
2019 and 2018 respectively, who both hold a recognised
relevant professional qualification and have recent
experience in the locations and segments of the investment
properties valued. For all investment properties, their
current valuations are based on the highest and best use.
The Group’s finance department includes a team that
review the valuations performed by the independent valuers
for financial reporting purposes. The revaluation gains or
losses are shown as “Fair value gain or loss on investment
properties” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

At each financial year end the finance department:

« verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

« assesses property valuation movements when compared
to the prior year valuation report;

« holds discussions with the independent valuer.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

6. REWX (F|)

REENLERRE

AEBZEENEI IR _FT-—NER_F
— N+ A=t BEHRBUEXEERME
AhERRITARAR ([BERTHEE—A
FRENEEREXBEARAR ([E—
K¥RAaE D) (RERAERANEBEESR
Bif - AR BHEENREME Z I
KREFAETHE)  MEREMETIRER
ARAYMEETNER - NEENHTTEP
P75 — (B P2 B i B L (R s R 5 s
RENBERS - ERREIEBEREER
R R A R E M E R FEWR R ERE 15
BE o

REMBEER - FH5EFT -

e REBIUMERENMEEZH AHK
ERE

o EREMEEES L — R E R
&

o HBVHERAMRWE °
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6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. IWEWE (&)

Valuation techniques fHERE

Fair values of the retail shops, fresh market, office buildings, TEE  8EEM - BoKE  TEREFEE
industrial buildings and car parking spaces are derived BEUNATEFARGERNMOEESR - I
using the income capitalisation approach. The income HERNEETDERRAEE 2 BN X
capitalisation approach is based on the capitalisation of the WA H5 RBEEBRATAE R MG
net income and reversionary income potential by adopting o MEBEMELEETIRBYMENERUE -
appropriate capitalisation rates, which are derived from REREEVERMER CTSEERTE -
actual location, size and quality of the properties and taking RIGEF AN E RIS HESERBEYESN
into account market data at the valuation date. The prevailing BERUE  BARBEEET  WAERREB
market rents adopted in the valuation have reference to MANER - Efth e QS IMEZR BRINELITE
the actual location, type and quality of the properties and MERITHSHASIESH -

supported by the terms of any existing lease, other contracts
or external evidence such as current market rents for similar

properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during RER - HEFELEED)

the year.

Significant inputs used to determine fair value EEATENTERARE
Capitalisation rates are estimated by management, after B R TR E 1R B 4 A RV E 1R
consultation with valuers based on the risk profile of the HEMENRRIEARMGET o LEBS - 2
properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower FEABE RZT-—AF+-A=+—
the fair value. At 31 December 2019, capitalisation rates of B RABKABRNETAHENTEE I
2.5% t0 3.75% (2018: 2.5% to 3.75%) are used in the income ARE - IEREBEHEN(ZTE—NEF :
capitalisation approach for the retail shops, office buildings, TEE  WEEM - BARE  TEREFEE
industrial buildings and car parking spaces. (2018: retail SEAM)ER25%23.75%(—F— /\F :
shops, fresh market, office buildings, industrial buildings and 25%E3.75% ) ERMELLE o

car parking spaces)

Rental rates are estimated based on recent lettings of HK$55 M HRBIBTEEGFHIRSEBTE
psf to HK$85 psf (2018: HK$55 psf to HK$110 psf) for retail B¥HREEET(ZZT—/N\F : FFHFR55
shops, nil (2018: HK$41 psf) for fresh market, HK$30.7 psf BTEFFHFRI0EBIT) - BEEME(Z
to HK$100.5 psf (2018: HK$39 psf to HK$100 psf) for office T-N\EF: BFEARLBERL) BAKEE
buildings, HK$13.3 psf to HK$31 psf (2018: HK$13.3 psf FHR30.7ETEFFLHTR100.587T (= F
to HK$29.5 psf) for industrial buildings and HK$3,326 per —N\F : FEFRIGBELEFFHFR100%B
space (2018: HK$3,229 per space) for car parking spaces L) s TEEFHRI13.IBILEFFHRS]
respectively. The lower the rents, the lower the fair value. BT(ZE—\F: BFARI3IBTES

FHR29.5%8 ) R BEEEZEN3,3268
T (ZE—N\F : BEEEHEMNS,2298
TS TER - HEBE - AFELBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

7. Interests in subsidiaries

Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to

the financial statements.

7. EAR 2R

TEMBARZFBENMIFRKRMFESS

8. Investment in associates 8. REtENRIZIRE
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —2—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At 1 January R—H—H 3,405,706 2,607
Investment in an associate R—KEERAZIRE - 3,123,382
Share of profits of associates FE(LEs R A & F 427,393 279,717
Dividend from an associate RE—REZARHIRE (7,474) —
Repayment of loan from an associate KE—FREENANERESR (13,725) =
At 31 December W+_HA=+—H 3,811,900 3,405,706

On 28 November 2017, GWPA Property | Holding Limited
(“GWPA Property”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, had entered into the shareholders agreement
(which was amended and restated on 15 February 2018,
12 April 2018 and 13 March 2019 respectively) with other
investors regarding the formation of a joint venture, Everwell
City Limited (“Everwell City”), of which GWPA Property agreed
to subscribe for 29.9% of class A ordinary shares of Everwell
City. Everwell City had participated in a bidding for and won
the bid for the purchase of a portfolio of assets comprising
17 diversified commercial properties and shopping centres,
retail shops and carparks across Hong Kong (the “Portfolio
Assets”).

Under the said shareholders agreement, GWPA Property also
agreed to provide an interest-free advance of not more than
HK$743,000,000 to Everwell City in consideration of the grant
of a call option which entitled GWPA Property to purchase
the relevant subsidiaries of the joint venture group, which
indirectly holds one of the Portfolio Assets, and the actual
amount of such interest-free advance provided to Everwell
City by GWPA Property was HK$725,051,488.

RZZE—+tF+—A=+/\H GWPA
Property | Holding Limited([GWPA
Property]) (AR &2 2 &M BT B
& %A AlEverwell City Limited([ Everwell
City ) EEAMIZEEFT L IRR B (25 5l
RZZE-—N\F_A+EHB T N\FH
ATZBRZZ-AE=A+=HEiTK
E:]) » BIHLGWPA PropertyE R ERE
Everwell City AJEE AR 2 29.9% ° Everwell
City2EBIEFEW R ERBERIESMHRES
W17EBZ T L EMEARBYF L - TE
[EREESGREEEE ([HEEE]) -

R A PR R H% - GWPA Property 7R
B &M Everwell CitylREERERTZR
743,000,000 8T Z B - MER/K LR
BBiRER ZMKE - &It - GWPA Property
ERASEEBREREZEES —BHSE
EN—RKEBAR - EGWPA Propertyd
Everwell CitylRItHIZ R ERRER SRR
725,051,48878 7T, °
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8.

Investment in associates (Continued)

The Group’s capital contribution to Everwell City
was completed on 22 February 2018 and the actual
contribution paid to Everwell City by GWPA Property was
HK$3,123,382,161, which was financed by loan from an
intermediate holding company of the Company. The purchase
of the Portfolio Assets by Everwell City was completed on 28
February 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
exercised the call option in May 2018 and completed the
acquisition of Patrol Hall 12 Limited and its subsidiary, the
major asset of which is Kwai Fong Plaza. Please refer to Note
27 for details of the acquisition of subsidiaries from Everwell
City.

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the
balances also included investment in another associate,
Dymocks Franchise Systems (China) Limited (“Dymocks”). It
operated as a bookshop.

Summarised financial information for the principal
associate

Set out below is the summarised financial information for
Everwell City as at 31 December 2019, which is accounted
for using the equity method. In the opinion of the Directors,
Everwell City is material to the Group.

8. REtE QTR ZIRE (&)

AEEERZTE—/\FZAZ+=HZEKRA
Everwell City&EZA&HE + BEGWPA Property
S ffFEverwell CityMERHERE B
3,1283,382,161/87C * EMARA]Z FEER
NRZEFHEA o Everwell CityBER T —
NEFEZAZ+N\HERKEEEEE -

E_E—N\F+-_A=+—HILFE K
NEIER - NERHATHREEEE
W5k U BE Patrol Hall 12 Limited K2 E KIS
REl(HFEBEEREFER) ° ftEverwell
City W iEHI B A7) 2 B2 HME27 -

RZZ—NF+_A=+—RAk=ZT—/\F
TZA=1T—H  &HRTEERS—HkE
‘A A]Dymocks Franchise Systems (China)
Limited([ Dymocks ) 218 & - HTiEREE
B -

IERME QR CMBENRE

N & Everwell CityR—ZE—h&FE+—-A
=T—HZHMBERE - HhEREA
BR - EERA ° Everwell City i AEBM S
BEKX -

Summarised balance sheet BEESEXHE
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Non-current assets IEMENEE 25,865,417 24,316,855
Current assets MBNEE 275,969 277,003
Non-current liabilities EmEBALE (23,548,603)  (23,432,142)
Current liabilities BB E (261,096) (224,885)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

8. Investment in associates (Continued) 8. REEENT2IRE (&)
Summarised financial information for the principal FEBRENTZHHERBE (F)
associate (Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income ZEK T E
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —2—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T PEEET T

Revenue Wzs 921,816 737,358

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ~ 2F & &2 U A L5 1,165,605 783,590
Reconciliation of summarised financial information B BRI E S A

2019 2018
—ZT-hF —T—-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T TSR T

Net profit attributable to equity holders EERERRA AZFET 1,186,498 783,472

Group’s shareholdings (Note (a)) RNEB 7 IXHE (et (a) 35.78% 35.78%

Group’s share of net profit attributable REBREEENMERTTR

to equity holders (Note (b)) A FBF (BizE b)) 424,529 280,326
2019 2018

—ZE-hE —E—N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BEETT

Amounts due from/(to) associates MR, (e ) B A B 5k08 65 (958)
The balances represent the amounts due from/(to) Dymocks REER BN (FE1ST) Dymocks K B B #1E AR
and its immediate holding company. They are unsecured and NAEFIE - HAEEREEE o

interest-free.
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8. Investment in associates (Continued)

186

Summarised financial information for the principal
associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

On 12 April 2018, one of the existing shareholders of Everwell
City had syndicated a portion of its interests to a new investor.
Due to regulatory reasons, the new investor had to directly
acquire a stake in each underlying Hong Kong subsidiaries
of Everwell City and as such, the Group’s interests in such
Hong Kong subsidiaries had been diluted. To facilitate
the new investor’s acquisition, the Group’s shareholding
percentage in Everwell City had been adjusted accordingly
and the Group’s interest in Everwell City had been increased
to 35.78% so as to maintain the Group’s effective economic
interests in the relevant Hong Kong subsidiaries and underlying
assets at approximately 29.9% following the acquisition.
Notwithstanding such adjustment, the proportionate voting
rights of the existing shareholders of Everwell City remain the
same.

The share of profits from Everwell City consisted of:

1. Share of profits of 29.9% from 22 February 2018 to 11 April
2018;

2. Share of profits of 35.78% from 12 April 2018 to 30 June
2018,

however, the effective share of profits of the Group from each
underlying Hong Kong subsidiaries of Everwell City remains
at approximately 29.9% notwithstanding such increase in
shareholding in Everwell City.

8. REtE QTR ZIRE (&)
FEBENT ZMBERNRE (&)

MBEEHBEL R (F)

i -

(a)

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

M-ZE—N\EMA+=H - Everwell CityH)E
F—EZEARRER—BIREEHEER
Everwell City )& n 4 - HREEEREA + 1
WEEBEEWFEEerwell CityBXBHEE
BB AR ZHBAER - AEBRZEDH
B R RIMER AL E Y - BRI
BEHEITIEE - AEER Everwell CityMi&
RELLFIE FRFEFHEE - B ANEEEH Everwell City
MR EIEMNZE35.78% @ RS AEERI
BN EEESHNB AR RBEEEENER
RS MR E4929.9%  BIF E % 8%
Everwell CityZR A IRR ML ZRELL Bl 45T

R & Everwell City B FE(G B F 15 :

1. BZE—NF_A=+=—HZ=Z=_ZF—N
F0A+—HHOEERF529.9%

2. B-F\FENA+=AE=F-N\F
NA=THBEERF A35.78%

SR BME R Everwell City I ARHEIE AN - A=
SR E Everwell City ) ZHERAB BB AR 2 &
BRIE B M7 704929.9% o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

9. Financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss

9. BAFEFAEENEHMEE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —2—)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000

AR T T BT T

Investment in fund, unlisted in the PRC AR FThES 2 18E 1,116 1,141

With effect of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the investment
was reclassified from available-for-sale financial assets to
financial assets at FVTPL.

The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning
balance to the ending balance for fair value measurement in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

BEEEREMBRELENFIRN_T—N\F
—A—BAX  ZRECHAHLESHE
EENORERATFEFABRSENESRE
% o

PRI FHERE NAEIR R FEFTE
FUEREFREHROVEER -

2019 2018

—e-hE T )\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Opening balance FOEEA 1,141 1,196

Exchange difference PE W =58 (25) (55)

Closing balance FAREH 1,116 1,147
Changes in unrealised losses for level 3 RZZE-NERZT-N\F
investment as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 TZA=1+—HMEIR

REREREIEE 25 55
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9. Financial asset at fair value through profit or

loss (Continued)

The above investment has been measured at fair value as at
31 December 2019 and 2018, and is classified under level 3
in the fair value hierarchy.

9. BRAVEFABENETHEE (&)

i EERN = E—NFER_T—\F+=
A=+—HB®&RA¥E:E  THEAAFE
BTN 2 EIRMNAFEFE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1) F21 FE3K st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT  B¥TrT AT
Financial asset at fair value BATEFABR
through profit or loss WEMEE
Investment in an investment fund RIEEES2IRE - - 1,116 1,116

188

There was no transfer between levels during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

The financial asset at fair value through profit or loss under
level 3 fair value measurement represents the investment in
limited partnership which is owned by Shen Zhen Great Wall
Pan Asia International Equity Investment Fund Management
Company* (FIIRMIRTEBRRIEREESERERATF), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is not traded
in the active market. The Directors have determined that
the carrying value of the investment based on discounted
expected proceed from exercising the redemption option
(2018: purchase cost) represents fair value at the end of the
reporting period for the investment in limited partnership.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group contributed
RMB1,000,000 to the limited partnership, which represents
0.03% of the equity interest in the limited partnership.

The above investment has been measured at fair value as at
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, by the Level 3 in
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value treatment is
categorised. For details, please refer to Note 32(e).

For identification purpose only
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FEIR A FEAEBR TR AFERT AER
MERMEESRARRZEMBRRFRYIE
WREERREREESERARAAME
BRZERERZIKE - BXENERTIHR
5 BERRR RITEBELEFRELEZE
FIRBHMGHRENREREE(ZF N\
FBERK)SRERABZIRENRSE
HIREAFE -

R-E—NER_TE—N\F+_A=+—
B AEBRAREZERMARE1,000,000
TG ' 1hZ BRAE % AR#E0.03% -

g EER = E—NF+_A=+—8xX
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BRIFFS - B2EWE320) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

10.Right-of-use assets 10.

The following represents the Group’s right-of-use assets as
at 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 and the moment
during the year due to adoption of HKFRS 16. Refer to Note
2(b) for details:

EREEE

MIAR_F-—NF-A—BR=F-—NF
T A=+ BAKEERREEKARE
MEBEBMBREERZ1RNFELZES - A
BARFIS A2 BIMTEE 2(b) -

2019

—E-hEF

HK$’000

BT T

Balance as at 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF— A —B&% 37,148
Depreciation (Note (a)) e (Wit @) (15,162)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 RZZF—NF+_A=+—B&% 21,986

Note (a): The provision for dismantling costs of HK$2,280,000 in
Note 2(b) was fully settled at HK$1,710,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2019. The over-provision of
HK$646,000 is reversed by netting off the depreciation
charges in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

11.Loan receivable 11.

As at 31 December 2019, all the loan receivable has
been repaid. As at 31 December 2018, loan receivable of
HK$115,903,000 represents the US$15 million second lien
term loan with a maturity date on 22 January 2026. The
loan receivable bears interest at London Interbank Offered
Rate plus 8% per annum. The carrying value of the loan
receivable approximates to its fair value. In deriving the ECL,
the Directors of the Company exercise their judgements
and consider various factors such as exposure amount at
default, the probability of default, and loss given default. ECL
of the loan receivable as at 31 December 2018 amounted
to HK$797,000, which was recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2018.

MizZ@: 2T —hhF+=-_A=+—H1t
FE - MeE2(0)PEIFEE RS
2,280,000/8 72 bA1,710,000/8 LR E
45 o HBEERE646,0008 TE BB
Brira EERERARITER D

W&

R-ZB—hF+-_A=+—8 BEEME
EKRER R_E—N\F+=-A=+—8"
FEUNEFX115,903,000 B TTIER =T ZNF
—AZ+-HEHH~N1,5008ETHNE=
BERER - BNERIZRGRRITRAERSE
IMEFEE%TE - BRERZRAMEHEE
A ERE - RESTEEEEEE - A2
EXCTEFESZ BN ERZERE - I
EERRAESR EBEIAXREREX
Ko NZBE—N\FE+-_A=+—8  EKE
R T EEE18797,000 8 TEREZE =
- \F+-_A=t+—BULFEZEAEMA
IWEERAMER ©
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12.Accounts receivable

12.FERFRE
BRBEHA - BKEIE Y BRR AT -

An ageing analysis of accounts receivable as at the end of

the reporting period is as follows:

2019 2018

=F-NF —FN\F
Balance Percentage Balance  Percentage
e Aok HEER Bkl
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
BT T % BRI %
Current BNEA 2,227 59.5% 2,226 72.6%
Less than 30 days past due #EHIVHR=+H 918 24.6% 236 7.7%
31 to 60 days past due BE=+—HZ=~1H 319 8.5% 119 3.9%
61 to 90 days past due wEN+—HEATH 200 5.4% 103 3.4%
Over 90 days past due BEAZ RN 76 2.0% 380 12.4%
Total st 3,740 100.0% 3,064 100.0%

Below is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable that are
past due as at the reporting date but not impaired:

AT AR#HRE B HEBMERHRREZE
WeBRR < Rl DT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Less than 30 days past due BE LR =41 918 236

31 to 60 days past due wmE=1+—RAZ=/<1H 319 119

61 to 90 days past due BmEN+—RAZEh+AH 200 103

Over 90 days past due BEIZ TR 76 380
Total accounts receivable past BB R IR RE

due but not impaired AR R AR EE 1,513 838

Accounts receivable past due but not impaired represent
balances that the Group considered to be fully recoverable

based on past experience.

The movements in the allowance for impairment during the

year are as follows:

BEEMERHBRREZ BEFIRE AR EIR
IRAE R AR A R B E 2 458 o

AEERERENESIFRANT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —TN\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 January R—HA—H - -
Impairment provision made EELBERE - 300
Accounts written off as uncollectible AU EMmiMEHAYER B - (300)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—8 - -
For the financial risk management on credit risk, refer to HEEREMNeREAREIR - F2HME

Note 32(d).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

13.Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

As at 31 December 2019, the balance represents mainly the
rental deposits paid of HK$5,106,000 (as at 31 December
2018: HK$5,106,000) and utility and management fee
deposits of HK$3,625,000 (as at 31 December 2018:
HK$3,346,000).

For the financial risk management on credit risk, refer to
Note 32(d).

14.Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax liabilities are calculated in full on

1B.ANER - REREMEWFOR
—NEFE+-A=+—8"

\—?

& 2 BfHR4£5,106,00058 7T (R-ZT—N\
¢+—H—+ H : 5,106,000 7T) kKB

EIBEIR43,625,0008 T (R=_Z—
+fﬂ_+ B :3,346,000/87T) ©

s E R
32(d) °

14 IEFEFTSH

2 Y < R 2

N A—h—
2R EI

. =4

CEES

NF

B B =

LL% SHEAERBaEEANERE=EES

temporary differences under the liability method. HEtHE
2019 2018
—E-NEF — N\
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Deferred income tax RIEFTISR 3,610 1,913
The movement on the deferred income tax liabilities account ELEFTSHR AR Esm T
is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NEF — N\
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 January n—H—H 1,913 1,814
Charged to profit for the year REE BB 1,697 99
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 3,610 1,913

The movements in deferred income tax liabilities and assets
(prior to offsetting of balances within the same taxation
jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

ELEMBRABENEE (REHERRF BB
RDARER Z R )R FERZEEINT

Accelerated tax

depreciation Total

InEBESTE o H
2019 2018 2019 2018
—EB-hEF —N\F ZE-hF — N\
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT EB¥Tr  B¥ETR
At 1 January R—H—H 1,913 1,814 1,913 1,814
Charged to profit for the year A& A& F|H% 1,697 99 1,697 99
At 31 December R+=—RA=+—8~ 3,610 1,913 3,610 1,913

REBDERERAR —Z—FERE | 191



BREN (8

14.Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$25,537,000 (2018:
HK$21,020,000) to carry forward against future taxable
income and the expiry dates of these tax losses are shown as
follows:

14 EEFTSH (48)

&8 R HIABRAR AN SRA
RSB BRKERT BN RERE - R
EBREET SRR - AEEAAEAER
ARKRERBTMAERH 2 RERBRABED
25,537,000 7T (ZZF—/\F : 21,020,000
BTL) REZ SRR R 2 JEiwm B BT

2019 2018

—EF-hEF —T\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BRI

After the fifth year ERFE 25,537 21,020
25,537 21,020

The Group has not recognised such tax losses and deferred
tax assets of HK$4,214,000 (2018: HK$3,468,000) as the
realisation of the related tax benefit is not probable.

15.Loans from an intermediate holding company

192

During the year ended 31 December 2017, an intermediate
holding company, Great Wall International, had agreed to
provide loan facilities up to HK$4,130,000,000 for financing
the Group’s investment in an associate as described in Note
8. As at 31 December 2019, the Group has drawn down
HK$3,848,434,000 (as at 2018: HK$3,848,434,000). The loan
from Great Wall International is denominated in HK$, interest
bearing at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.9% per
annum and is repayable by November 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Great Wall
International has further agreed to provide loan facilities
up to US$8,557,300 (equivalent to approximately
HK$66,576,000). As at 31 December 2018, the Group
has drawn down US$8,557,300 which is equivalent to
approximately HK$66,576,000. The loan is denominated in
US$, interest bearing at 3.5% per annum and is repayable
by February 2026. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the loan of US$8,557,300 (equivalent to HK$66,576,000) was
fully repaid by the Group to Great Wall International as the
loan receivable as mentioned in Note 11 was repaid by the
debtor to the Group.

The Directors of the Company consider the loans are on
normal commercial terms. The carrying values of the loans
approximate their fair values.
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NEB W AMERBER AR MELERIEE
4,214,000 7T (ZZ— )\ : 3,468,00075
70) * YR KAIREBIR AR ER TR AR -

15. RBFREERARZENR

MM sES Al - R E—T—+tFE+-A=
T—HIEFER  BREREER (—RBEER
A7) R ERETEB4,130,000,000/8 7THY
ER@E  UAAEERER —RBE A7
RBHEE N -_ZT—hhE+_-_A=+—8"
NEE P IREN3,848,434,0008 7T (M —T—
J\EF :3,848,434,000787T) ° 2K B KB
ZEFABTEE - FRRBEBRITRZE
WEFEN1.9%  WEAR-_ZT-_—F+—A
AIEHEE -

REBEE2_ZE—N\E+_A=+—HItHF
BEAR ERBERE—TRERETBR
8,557,300 7t (185 74 #4966,576,0008 7T )
MERRBE R_Z—N\F+_A=+—
B - A&EBEIREN8,557,300% 7T (EBZER
#166,576,000/87T) - EFRAETEE - F
FEAE3.5%  WEN-ZEZ/NE-AREH
EBE HE_ZT—NF+_A=+—HILF
£ - ARKIEE 1 ATl R E SRE RETSA
MASEE(EE - -ZE5X8,557,300%E 7T (18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

16.Bank Borrowings 16.8R1T1EE
2019 2018
—g-nE T )\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Non-current JEBNHR
Bank loan (Note (a)) SRITER Kz =) 897,285 893,529
Current BN EA
Bank loan (Note (b)) IRITER (K7t b)) - 49,792
897,285 943,321
Notes: BEE

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
has acquired a subsidiary with an existing bank loan of
HK$891,308,000. The loan is denominated in HK$. The
effective interest rate of the loan for the year ended 31
December 2019 is 3.74% (for the year ended 31 December
2018: 3.26%) and is repayable by 2021. As at 31 December
2019 and 2018, the Group has undrawn bank facility of
approximately HK$35,000,000. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group has pledged an investment property of fair value
of HK$1,832,000,000 (as at 2018: HK$1,680,000,000) and a
restricted cash of HK$10,226,000 (as at 2018: HK$9,199,000) to
the lender, as a collateral of bank loan.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
drawn down an US$ loan of US$6,400,000 which is equivalent
to HK$49,792,000 and the loan was repayable on 1 February
2019.0n 1 February 2019, the Group and the bank entered into
a supplemental letter to extend the repayment term of the loan
facility to 1 February 2020. During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Group fully repaid the loan. The effective interest rate
of the loan for the year ended 31 December 2019 is 3.70% (for
the year ended 31 December 2018: 3.96%). As at 31 December
2019, the bank has undrawn bank facility of HK$50,000,000.

(a)

REBBRDZERERAE —T-NFERS |

RBE-Z-—N\FT+A=+—HILHF
EA - AEBEKE—FEHEAR (RE
—IFERTTE 891,308,000/ 7T) - B
NABTE BE-_T—NE+_-A=
T—HLEFEERCERFEXA3.74%
(BEZZT—\F+=ZA=+—HLHF
€ :3.26%)WER-_E-_—FRI2HE
Bo-RZZE-NEFERZZT-—NF+=A
=t+—HB  AEBEZRERRITHELD
#%35,000,0008TT - RZE—NF+=
A=+—80 ' AEEERERAKBEQ
F{E41,832,000,0008 T (R=F—N
£ :1,680,000,000/870) 2 EWHEK
10,226,000 L2 ZBRHRE (KT —
S\ :9,199,000%87T) * tERIRITER
AR o

RBZE-_Z—)\F+=-A=+—H8H1
FERN AEBEERRN—BETLEX
6,400,0003 7T (L HHE 749,792,000
T)EREFN -_E-NE-_F—HE2
HEE RZZE—NF=-_A—H8 ' &%
B HEZIRITEI Y — BT RS E R
ERERIRIERE S _TF_A—
H-mBE-FE—hL&E+=-_A=1—~H
HFER  AEEEEHEEER - 8
BT NF+-A=t+—HILFEE
HZEBMEAI70%(BE-S—/\F
+ZA=+—HLEFE :3.96%) - K=
T-NF+-A=+—H8 £EBEZX
IREVERTTRLE A50,000,00078 7T °
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16.Bank Borrowings (Continued)

(c) Apart from the undrawn bank facilities mentioned in Note
16(a) and (b), the Group had an undrawn bank facility of
principal amount of HK$300,000,000 as at 31 December 2018.
On 11 October 2019, the Group entered into an agreement
with another bank and obtained an additional bank facility
of principal amount of HK$100,000,000. As a result, as at
31 December 2019, the Group had undrawn bank facilities
of total principal amounts of HK$400,000,000 (as at 2018:
HK$300,000,000).

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximate their
fair values, and are denominated in the following currencies:

16.8R1THEE (&)

(© B LT 16(a)E R (b)IE 2 RIZEER
MBI  RZE—NF+_A=+—
B A&EEABAALF300,000,000487T
ZARREIRITRE - RZZT—NEF+ A
+—H8 AEEHERZS BRI —H
Wk - WESAELEA100,000,00078
TLZBEIMRITRE - Bt - R=T— N
F+ZA=+—8 ~5EBELSHETH
400,000,000 7T 2 RIZEVRITREE (R
—Z— )\ :300,000,000/87T) °

RITEE 2 REEEEQXFEMRS - LAT
JIE¥EHE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT

HK$ BT 897,285 893,529
us$ ETT - 49,792
897,285 943,321

17.0ther payables and accrued liabilities

17. 2 ERRER ESEE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Interest payable JERTHE 256,210 125,463
Other payables and accrued expenses — EAhfEZIE K e+ & 17,974 22,574
Rental received in advance TEWEE 14,789 18,739
Deposits received from tenants WS 7,136 9,950
Others Hh 1,167 1,200
297,276 177,926

Represented by: Ex7V=
Non-current portion ERBEH D 254,549 125,262
Current portion mENE D 42,727 52,664
297,276 177,926
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

18.Lease liabilities 18.HHEEE
The following represents the Group’s lease liabilities (as at THAAEBEHERE (R=ZE—NLF—A
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019) and the movement —BRZZE-NAF+ZA=+—RH)KHER
during the year due to adoptions of HKFRS 16. Refer to Note RNE B BRELRFE 165N FEEE -
1 for details: BAAFIERE28M
2019
—E-hEF
HK$’000
BT T
Balance as at 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF— A —B&% 34,868
Interest expenses B H 994
Lease payment HER (13,198)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 RZE—NEF+-_A=T—H&% 22,664
Represented by: EllV=
Non-current portion ERBE D 17,952
Current portion mENER S 4,712
22,664
19.Share capital 19. 2
2019 2018
“E-hE —T-N\F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RE £ ] RE g
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each  EREE0.10/87T 2 L&Ak 5,000,000,000 500,000  5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: EETREAR
Opening and ending balance IR R e 1,567,745,596 156,775  1,567,745,596 156,775
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20.Reserves

(a) Group

Movements of the Group’s reserves for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 142.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess
of the nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in
exchange therefor during the Group reorganisation in 1990,
less dividend distributions.

The Group’s other reserves consist of the following
components:

20.f%&
(a) =&£H

rEBHE_ZE—NEFr_ZFT—)\F+=A
=+ BIEFEZHHESHFRENE142
B ZiREEREERNA -

AEBZBABKRTIE - NNTFAKEE
AR AN B AR 2 B EEBL AR BT
BT 2 BB EEE - BERIRE DR Z B
B o

AEEE MR E A TAKEMD :

Asset
revaluation Translation
reserve reserve Total
EEEMHREE B R st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
Balance as at 1 January 2018 RZE—N\F—H—H#&H 334,065 874 334,939
Other comprehensive loss Hib2mEEE
Currency translation difference ~ #R&AREBREELZ
on consolidation PE 3 =% = (965) (965)
Total comprehensive loss FHEBERE - 965 965
Balance as at 31 December 2018 R_ZE—N\F+_-_A=+—B#&&% 334,085 91) 333,974
Balance as at 1 January 2019 R-ZE—hFE—HB—B&ER 334,065 (91) 333,974
Other comprehensive loss Hit2mHEE
Currency translation difference #ZaIREBELZ
on consolidation EREHE - (373) (373)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEEBARE - 373 373
Balance as at 31 December 2019 R=-ZT—hE+-A=+—H&EE 334,065 (464) 333,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

20.f##& (&)
(b) RAF

20.Reserves (Continued)
(b) Company

Share  Contributed Accumulated

premium surplus losses Total

R RE #ABH 2EER @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT

At 1 January 2018 RZE—-\F—A—H 50,382 588,719 (27,664) 611,437
Loss for the year AEEER - - (125,845) (125,845)

At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZA=+—H 50,382 588,719 (153,509) 485,592

At 1 January 2019 R-Z-NE-A—H 50,382 588,719 (153,509) 485,592
Loss for the year rEEFRE - - (131,171) (131,171)

At 31 December 2019 RZB-AE+=A=t-H 50,382 588,719 (284,680) 354,421
Loss for the year of the Company mainly comes from finance KRl FEBEBREEE PK B B % K

cost of HK$134,732,000 (2018: HK$123,215,000), legal and AN134,732,000B L (T —)\&F :
professional fees of HK$4,415,000 (2018: HK$4,919,000), 123,21 5,000/%%573) FEREREEXEHA
rental expense of HK$9,683,000 (2018: HK$9,525,000) and 4,415,00087C (ZF—/\F : 4,919,000/
staff costs of HK$11,200,000 (2018: HK$13,810,000). 7T) - F4£ B2 9,683,000 L (ZF— N\
% :9,525,00087L) X8 TAZA 11,200,000

I (ZF—/)\%F : 13,810,000/7T) °

ARRZHBABBRIEA-NNEFAEES
MARTEL - AR AIECE 2 B EE R

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a result
of the Group reorganisation in 1990 and represents the
difference between the nominal value of the Company’'s BeMBRRINBMERRZAMHFEELE
Shares so allotted and the consolidated net asset value BRI BEDIREZZFE - BEBEARIEZE
of the acquired subsidiaries and associate less dividends Bl - BABBRAIINETERATDIER TR
distribution. Under Bermudan law, the contributed surplus is

distributable to shareholders under certain circumstances.

In addition, the Company’s share premium of HK$50,382,000 BEAN - NR R 2 B 1% B 50,382,0008 7T

(2018: HK$50,382,000) can be distributed as fully
paid-up bonus shares or applied towards eliminating the
accumulated losses of the Company.

(ZZ—/)\#F : 50,382,000/ T ) Al {ERE &4
RARDIRE - sSKAREEARR 2 REE
b=

21.Staff costs 21.E TR
2019 2018
—e-nE T \F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Staff costs BT HA
(including directors’ remuneration) (BREEEME)

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE& - e &l 30,714 41,140
Directors’ fee EEME 924 940
31,638 42,080
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21.8TRA (4R)
(a) B EREHMAL

21.Staff costs (Continued)
(a) Five highest paid individuals

FA - AfusSHFMALTZMESFHBEDT -

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid
individuals during the year are set out below:

2019 2018

—EF-hF —T-\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Salaries, allowances and e EEER 12,673 13,513
benefits in kind FEEF=

Retirement scheme contributions RIRGTEIHR 81 90

Bonuses paid and payable BN RERHTEAL 6,501 200

19,255 13,803

The remuneration of the five (2018: five) highest paid
individuals fell within the following bands:

R (ZF—N\F : A KRS HEA L 2B
ENFTIIEE :

2019 2018

—E-hE T \F

HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T — 2,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 77T — 3,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$3,000,001 - HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T —3,500,000/87C 2 2
HK$3,500,001 - HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T — 4,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$6,000,001 - HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7T —6,500,000/& 7T 1 =
5 5

The success of the Company hinges on the performance and
commitment of our employees. As the Company continues to
grow, the Company’s compensation philosophy is designed
to provide employees with the opportunity to excel and grow,
while aligning with our business strategies and values. The
Group’s remuneration policy aims to recognise outstanding
performance, retain and attract key talents and ensure
alignment with the interests of our businesses, and thereby
enhancing shareholder value.

ARBZKNEB T ZR[EALE S B
B - EAARIEBHEERE  ARFZH
MEEES I REERHBEEMRNER
M S - B RSB RRE REERHE
Ko ARBzHFHBRREESEETIZES
R - BBARTABEEAS W HEREARRF]
B E—BC MR IRREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

21.Staff costs (Continued) 21.E TR (48)
(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration (b) EER{THARM S

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is BEERITRES 2 MEFBNT -
set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2019: HE_ZT-NFT+_A=1T—HILEFE :

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person'’s services as a director,
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking:
REMES (ERALLTRENRLR SR ERATRIME |
Emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director's
other
servicesin
Remuneration ~ connection
Employer's paid or with the
contribution receivable  management

Estimated toa  inrespectof  oftheaffairs
moneyvalue  retirement accepting  of the company
Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas  orits subsidiary
Name :£3 Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director  undertaking Total
HESERALT

HEE AENECRSH

ReRAl  BIHEA ZEREZE  NAGERE
fig ge PR GRRE  GHEREE BURBOER dNaEMEE NdEiEE it
HK§ 000 HK§'000 HK§ 000 HK§000 HK§000 HK§000 HK§000 HK§'000 HK§ 000
ERTR ERTR ERTR ERTR ERTR ERTR ERTR ERTR BRTR

Non-Executive FHUTES

Directors
Huang Hu i - - - - - - - - -
otz (3) wis)
Chen Zenan REH - - - - - - - - -
(ote (12) wi2)
LvJia B - - - - - - - - -
IndependentNon-  BUFHTES
executive Directors
Song Ming it - 180 - - - - - - 180
Sun Mingchun FhE - 180 - - - - - - 180
LiuYan 2m - 180 - - - - - - 180
ExecutiveDirectors 5725
OuPeng Bk - 17 - - - 1 - - 18
(note 1) (Wtnn)
Huang Hu i - 167 - - - i - - 178
(ote (13) W)
Meng Xuefeng il - 200 - - - 10 - - 20

- 924 - - - 2 - - 946
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21

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

200

.Staff costs (Continued)

(Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is
set out below: (Continued)

Note:

(i) On 15 March 2019, the following changes are effective:

(1) Mr. Ou Peng resigned as an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

(2) Mr. Chen Zenan was appointed as a non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company.

(8) Mr. Huang Hu was re-designated as an executive Director
and was appointed as Chief Executive Officer, and ceased
to be a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
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THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
50 W TS WA 3 ()

21.Staff costs (Continued) 21.E TR (48)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration (b) EER{TEARME (&)
(Continued)
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is REENITHAE VNS EEBNT  (48)

set out below: (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2018: HE_Z-/\FT+_A=1T—HILFE :

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking;

HEHEZ (ERAT AR R SR BBl e -

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

nrespect of

director’s

other

senvices in

Remuneration connection

Employer's paid or with the

contribution receivable  management

Estimated toa  inrespectof  of theaffairs

mongy value retirement accepting  of the company

Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas  orits subsidiary
Name fi4 Fees Selary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director  undertaking Total

HESERANT

AERRER FENBLREH

LTI 2= S £ ST
i Be BRRL  HREER  MIENER BAREMER  JEMME RKEE fhif
HKSOD  HKSOD  HKSOD  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKBODD  HKBODD  HKBOND
BETL  AMTn  B¥Tm MRtn AT BB BT B M

Non-Executive FHUTES

Directors

Huang Hu i - - - - - - - - -

Lvdia Bt = = = = = = = = =
IndependentNon-  BUFHTEZS

executive Directors

Song Ming R - 180 - - - - - - 180

Sun Mingchun i - 180 - - - - - - 180

oo Chin Wan i - 165 - - - - - - 165

fote 1) o)

LuYanpois ) BEMWRIL) - 15 - - - - - - 15
ExecutiveDirectors ~ H72%

OuPeng Bk - 200 - - - 10 - - 10

Meng Xuefeng e = 200 = = = 10 = = 20

= 940 s . = 0 = = 960
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21.Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

202

(Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is
set out below: (Continued)

Note:

(i)  On 26 November 2018, the following changes are effective:

(1) Mr. Woo Chin Wan resigned as an independent
non-executive Director.

(2) Ms. Liu Yan was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director.

There was no arrangement under which a Director and/or
the Chief Executive Officer waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration in respect of the year.

Directors’ fees paid or payable to independent non-executive
Directors during the year were HK$540,000 (2018:
HK$540,000). There was no Directors’ fees received or
receivable by other non-executive Directors during the year
(2018: nil). Save from the aforesaid, there were no other
emoluments paid or payable to non-executive Directors in
2019 and 2018.

No options were granted to Directors and/or the Chief
Executive Officer to acquire Shares of the Company in 2019
and 2018.

The Director’s fee per annum of each of the independent
non-executive Directors of HK$180,000 (2018: HK$180,000)
is fixed by the Board of Directors pursuant to the authority
granted by the Shareholders at the Company’s annual
general meeting. Each non-executive Director, including
independent non-executive Director, serving on the Board
Committees does not receive any additional fee (2018: nil).

The Directors’ remunerations are determined with reference
to directors’ remunerations paid by other companies in Hong
Kong.
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21.8TRA (4R)
(b) EERTBARMS ()

BEERITRES CHEFBWT (&)

i -

i) ATEFER-_ZT—N\FE+—A=-+BH4E
g

(1) HRELLEFHEBEIFPITERRI

(2) BMLTERERBIIFNTES °

BEEERRITRASRE ML RE
SRERERENFAZHE -

FAESZMNREN TFRLIERTEECES
& £540,0008 7T (ZZF— //\F : 540,000
BIT) o FRMEEMIENITE S WSIE
WEEWE (ZT—\F : 8) - B EXF
MEIN RZE-NFRZZT—/\FHED
N ERFEITE TN EMBS -

ARAR-F-NFR-F-/\FAEXT
BERHATRAEREMBREAKBAR

AR -

BUBIYATEZSZ2FEEZNS
180,0008 7T (ZZ—/\F : 180,000/ 7T ) F
EZSRERERARAIRFBFASET
ZEENFETE - 2HEESETZEECE
MIEMITE S (BIEBYIERTES) Tk
B AEIMEE (ZE—N\F : &) -

EEMEI2RBBEM EHRRMANES
& mETE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

22.0ther operating expenses

Other operating expenses represent the following:

22. Ht &R

R BRI T SRR R

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Staff costs (Note 217) BIRA (BaE21) 31,638 42,080
Legal and professional fee FREEXER 5,542 6,391
Agency fee R8s 4,567 3,915
Asset management fee BEEES 6,174 3,601
Leasing fee HEZE 2,038 3,032
Telecommunication expenses BIERAX 3,054 2,897
Others Hh 10,949 7,669
63,962 69,585

Asset management fee and leasing fee represent the fee
charged by an independent third party for managing one
of the investment properties and for entering into new and
renewed leases with tenants respectively.

The remuneration of the Directors and the chief executives is
included in the staff costs (Note 21).

Auditor’s remuneration (included in the legal and
professional fee) for the current year amounted to

BEEEENHETHEBYFS = TMEER
PR —IAREYF A N BB P RTS#E &

BRITEAMEER -

EERITBARERF BT AR TR (M

21) °

AEEZEMMNE (BIEEZRREXRER)R
1,800,000 7T (=& —/\4F :1,500,0007%

HK$1,800,000 (2018: HK$1,500,000). JC) °
23.Net finance cost 23. B AR5
2019 2018
—E-NF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Finance cost/(income) BARERA, (W)
~ Interest expense on the loans —REFHEERARIZCER 133,085 121,416
from an intermediate holding Z MBI (K15#15)
company (Note 15)
~ Interest expenses on bank loans —IRTTERAEZ L (H7E16) 35,351 19,906
(Note 16)
- Loan arrangement fee — BT HER 4,090 2,504
~ Interest expenses on lease liabilities —FHEEERN S H 1,070 -
— Interest income from bank —SRITH BHA (197) (152)
173,399 143,674
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24.Income tax expense 24. FTSBIB X

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for
the year. The PRC corporate income tax rate is 25% (2018:
25%). The subsidiaries operating in the PRC are loss making
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018 are not subject to PRC corporate income tax.

BEAMEH I AFE NG ERB AR IR
16.5%(ZF—/\F :16.5%) TR KB -
FECEMERMEA2%(ZT—N\F :
25%) - RABEENHBARNEES
—hWF+_A=+—HBER=_ZE—\F+=A
=+ —HLLFERFEER  REAMNTER
EMEH -

2019 2018
—E-hF —ET-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current income tax BNERFF1S AR
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNIEN 5,694 6,017
— Over provision in prior year — SRR (1,095) -
Deferred income tax EIEFTISER
- Deferred tax expense —EERTER Y 1,697 99
6,296 6,116

The taxation on the profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rates
applicable to the places of operation of the Company and its
subsidiaries as follows:

FRETS BRI B A FTEL 2 A RBE KA
D) BB A R & B A B R AT B AT
EEZEWESEANR - #FHEWT

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —ZT—)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BT

Profit before income tax FREF1SHRTEF 493,247 589,571
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5%  ¥&Hi*16.5%

(2018: 16.5%) (ZZ—\#F :16.5%)5TH 81,386 97,279
Income not subject to taxation BARBUA (101,642) (114,239)
Tax losses not recognised KR BIREE 915 1,939
Recognition of tax losses wRBIEEE - 7)
Expenses not deductible for taxation — FRAEMEHFRBIIR 2 F

purposes 26,732 21,144
Over provision in prior year T FEREERE (1,095) =
Income tax expense FSHFI X 6,296 6,116
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 BB R I RE (48)

25.Dividends and cash payment

The Board has resolved not to declare any interim dividend
or to recommend any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2019 (for the year ended 31 December 2018: Nil).

26.Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to Shareholders
of HK$486,951,000 (2018: HK$583,455,000) and the
weighted average of 1,567,745,596 Shares in issue (2018:
1,5667,745,596 Shares in issue) during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from exercise of all outstanding share options granted
under the Company’s share option scheme. A calculation
is done to determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined with reference to the
latest available market share price of the Company’s Shares)
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights
attached to the outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, there
were no outstanding options to be exercised. Accordingly,
there was no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the
years 2019 and 2018.

25.RERIREAK

EXeZARTEREMTHRE - I TEH
EEBE-_T-NFt-_A=1T—"HLFE
ZERRERE (BE-T—/\F+ A=
T—HIEFE : &) -

26. 2R Z R

BREABADBREFAREEMLZ
B 486,951,000 L (=T —/\F :
583,455,000 7T) R F A 1,567,745,596 %
IEFHEBTRG (ZE—N\F : BE&81T
1,567,745,596 BN ) 5T & »

TS BN ARERETERBEAR AR ZE
PR RERT &I 2 P R AR T T2 B R AR T 2
EZFBEENBEE B RE - RE
AR 2 EBRA IR RBGTE - RIE
RITEBIERH 2 RBENEBEE - 51
BIRAFE(RBERARABBN 2SO R F
MEEE)ABAZKRNEE - RIE LA
AAEZBRNEE - REERBERECRITER
FRITZBENBEELER - RZF-NFR
“E-N\FtrA=t—B  BERKRTE
HIREARRE - It - RZZE—AFR=ZZF—N
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27.Business combination

As set out in Note 8, under the shareholders agreement,
GWPA Property was granted a call option (the “Option”) to
acquire one of the Portfolio Assets. On 11 May 2018, GWPA
Property exercised the Option for the purchase of the sale
shares (representing the entire issued shares of Patrol Hall
12 Limited (“Patrol Hall 127)) and the sale loan (representing
all of the shareholder’s loan owed by Patrol Hall 12). GWPA
Property had designated Great Wall Pan Asia Property
Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, to take up the sale shares and the sale loan on
completion. Purchase price of HK$725,051,488 was paid on
13 June 2018 (the “Completion Date”) by setting off against
the outstanding amount of the advance of HK$725,051,488
owed by Everwell City to GWPA Property. On 13 June 2018,
the Group completed the acquisition of Patrol Hall 12 and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Ray Glory Limited, which directly
owns Kwai Fong Plaza.

As a result of the above acquisition, the Group recognised
a gain of HK$1,513,351 upon exercising the Option in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

27. %56

MK FTE S - IRIBR R & - GWPA
Property B RIE IR 2R (B2 ) LUK
HEEEMAEP—EH R-ZT—-—N\FHA
+—H * GWPA Property/T{FiZ 12/ B #4
E W& (BlPatrol Hall 12 Limited([ Patrol
Hall 12]) 2 2EBE BTG ) RIBEEFK (A
Patrol Hall 1245k 2 2 EBRRERE ) © GWPA
Property Bl ERMIRE B X EBR AR
(RRRI 22 EMBAR)REKFEBHE
iy RIHEERK - BE(E725,051,488 87T
RZZE—NFRA+=H(RKBHE
K $HEverwell City45/K GWPA Property 2 i&]
KIEBEATNT 25,051,488 BT - R=F
—N\FRAT=8 ' AEEBE T Patrol
Hall 12 R EEERAERSBSC2EMBEA
AIIEEAR AR °

MR EREEETE - ITFERIEER - &K
BREE T \F+_A=1t—HILFE
MRS 2 mE SR P ERKE1,518,3517%8
7TE o

Acquisition of subsidiaries log= 0= NG|
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
BT
Cash consideration RERE 725,057
Realised gain of the Option B BRI 1,613
Total investment cost REKALREE 726,564
Less: Net assets of Patrol Hall 12 A, : Patrol Hall 12452 H#i 2 BEEFE
as at Completion Date 1,513
Amount due to the immediate holding company R 7R B #iPatrol Hall 12 FE < B #15R%
by Patrol Hall 12 as at Completion Date NAEIFRIA 725,051
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G0 BB R I RE (48)

27.Business combination (Continued)

(a) Details of fair value of net assets acquired as at the

27. X% a0 (&)

() REAABKEEEFEZAT

Completion Date are as follows: EFBEWT
2018
—N\&F
HK$'000
BT
Investment property B 1,608,921
Property, plant and equipment M - A RERE 28
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 7,115
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER 3,617
Accounts receivable FEWRSRIE 1,057
Accrued expenses fEEtE A (2,964)
Advance payment received from tenants M)A UE 2 FE SN IR (1,237)
Amount due to the immediate holding company  Patrol Hall 12 /& B % 12EA% A &) 708
by Patrol Hall 12 (725,051)
Borrowing & (891,308)
Other assets Hi&E 1,335
Net identifiable assets acquired Friiig < Al BRI E)FE 1,513
Notes: BzE :

(1) The acquired business contributed revenue of HK$35,000,000 (1)
and net profit of HK$68,482,000 to the Group for the period
from the Completion Date to 31 December 2018.

(2) Acquisition-related costs of HK$840,000 were included in the 2)
other operating expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018.

BExKAE—ZE—N\F+=-_A=+—
BERE  BEREBEBAEASE BB K=
35,000,000/8 7T M # £ 768,482,000/ 7T ©

U BE AR RARK 7N 840,000/ TN EL E — T — \ &
T A=+ —HIEFENGEEZERERIA
Hh A AR -

(b) Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the (b) ERWBEEEHRSRHEOMN
acquisition:

2018

—E—N\F

HK$'000

BT T

Purchase consideration WHERE 725,051
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAER (3,617)
721,434
Restricted cash XRHRE (7,115)
Net cash outflows arising from acquisition WEESIEEYA 2 FReRE 714,319
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28.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated

from operations:

28. GRS REBRMEE

() FEBAEELEELE CRAETHRR

2019 2018
—E-hF —E)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Operating profit R 239,253 453,528
Fair value gain on investment properties X &MEAF AWK (169,192) (400,561)
Depreciation and impairment TEXRE 20,914 2,199
Exchange gain Rz (216) (783)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FEWE R CRERD ), SRE
for loan receivable (797) 797
Gain on exercising option TT{ERE AR Y - (1,513)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts FEYERIE (3200),/ R
receivable (676) 6,979
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, ENER - e hEMEIIE
deposits and other receivables (#h0),F (4,083) 1,433,572
Increase in amounts due from associates  FEUREEE A BIFKIBLE AN (65) -
Decrease in amounts due to associates JE (P B8 B FRIE R A (958) (96)
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to e R R AR A B 5kIE CRd>), /12 0
an intermediate holding company (1,801) 91
(Decrease)/increase in other payables HiEA B R EAaECRD),/
and accrued liabilities A0 (11,397) 24,314
Cash generated from operations EBEE IR 70,982 1,518,527
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) BERBELSEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERE 100,060 149,517
Short-term bank deposits with original FHRER=EALATH
maturity of less than three months R ERERITIF K 82,195 20,076
182,255 169,593
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28.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (Continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out the movements in net debt for each of
the periods presented.

28.ZERERERME (B)

(c) BEBYIER

AR R R B A D) -

Total liabilities

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue its businesses as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group structures its capital with due consideration to
risk. The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure
in the light of the changes in economic conditions and risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, repurchase
Shares of the Company from Shareholders, issue new
Shares, or increase or reduce borrowings.

Lease  Short-term Borrowing from financing

liabilities borrowing  dueafter 1year activities

REME

R—F# EE

MERE BHEE BN ESR namE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT

As at 1 January 2018 RZZ—\§—H—H - (1,439,513) (1,439,513)

Cash flow Ban (49,792) (2,479,342) (2,529,134)

Other non-cash movement  Ef13FR ¢ &&) - (121,416) (121,416)

As at 31 December 2018 R=F—/\$+=-R=+—H (49,792) (4,040,271) (4,090,063)

As at 1 January 2019 RZE-N&E—F—H (49,792) (4,040,271) (4,090,063)

Recognised inadoptionof ~ FAFANEBI TR %8

HKFRS 16 F165R %R (34,868) - - (34,868)

Cash flow BeRh 13,198 49,792 66,576 129,566

Other non-cash movement ~ EftiFFR & 25 (994) - (129,288) (130,282)

As at 31 December 2019 R=ZZB-n1F+=A=+-A (22,664) - (4,102,983) (4,125,647)
29.Capital risk management 29. 74 [E T

AEEEREAZBER R RIBRANEER
RENFBCEERT - (EMEHEERESES
PRER SR it B3 N A EL M s AR R A £ ER AR

N
S o
Jomal,

AEBRKEEZERRENEEHERE
B ARERTRERR 2 ZERAAREEE
ZBEBRFEHEERABREENIEE - KR
SABEEARE AEESHEIRN T
RZBREEHE  FARRBLEARF RN - #
TTHA IR MR D B K

REBRDZERERIE —T-NFERSE | 209



29.Capital risk management (Continued)

For the purpose of calculating the net debt-to-capital ratio,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes
the loans from an intermediate holding company and bank
borrowings) less cash and bank balances, and capital as all
components of equity. The Group monitors capital on the
basis of the net debt-to-capital ratio.

The net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2019 was as

20. B RERREE (F)

RABEFABEALEMS  ARERKFER
AERQBEHAR (BRERETEERAF]
ZERRBITEE)RRS MRITESR - M
BARZ EH S FTAMAKEMD - AEE

REBEFABEERLLREIEA

RZB-NF+ZA=+—HZFEEER

follows: LR ¢

2019 2018

—E-hF —=-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Total borrowings BEEE 4,745,719 4,858,330
Less: cash and cash equivalents B IREMIREFE (182,255) (169,593)
Net debt FRE 4,563,464 4,688,737
Total equity A 2,959,171 2,472,594
Total capital BT E R 7,522,635 7,161,331
Net debt-to-capital ratio FEEEARLE 60.7% 65.5%

The decrease in the net debt-to-capital ratio is mainly due to
the partial repayment of loans from an intermediate holding

R-F-NF+=—A=1t—8"

BEEAR

e
HeF A ThE B A AR A R EE R

company and bank borrowings as at 31 December 2019. BERRBITEEM -

30.Capital commitments 30. EAEIE
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T

Contracted, but not provided for BEETABEREE
- Capital expenditures on —REWME 2 BEIEE

investment properties 1,514 1,575
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31.Balance sheet of the Company

NARTAEEREBER

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—)\F
+=ZA=+—8 +—A=+—H
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BRE BEET T BT IT
ASSETS AE
Non-current assets IERENEE
Property, plant and equipment  #7% - 122 K& 45 5,477 2,724
Investments in subsidiaries RSB AR 2% E 4,764,591 4,783,580
Interests in associates iG] ol - ey 2,607 2,607
Loan receivable JEUE TR - 115,903
4,772,675 4,904,814
Current assets mENEE
Accounts receivable W ERIE - 1,040
Prepayments, deposits BHNER - &e
and other receivables T E A fE UG X IE 7,641 6,093
Cash and cash equivalents Re MReFHE 63,853 42,969
71,494 50,102
Total assets wEE 4,844,169 4,954,916
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Loans from an intermediate REFEZERAR 2 ER
holding company 3,848,434 3,915,009
Other payables and ﬁ‘r@fgﬁ KIE K2
accrued liabilities [EEtBE 254,549 125,262
4,102,983 4,040,271
Current liabilities mEaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERIE A R FUE 226,461 214,672
Amounts due to associates Vﬁﬂﬁﬁ%”& FRIE - 1,125
Other payable and H AR5 IE&JE.#%?H
accrued expenses i 3,529 6,689
Bank borrowing RITEE - 49,792
229,990 272,278
Total liabilities Bas 4,332,973 4,312,549
EQUITY Es
Capital and reserves B R
Share capital &N 156,775 156,775
Reserves s 20(b) 354,421 485,592
Total equity arEa 511,196 642,367
Total equity and liabilities R N AE 4,844,169 4,954,916

ARRIBERBRAESEN _T_FF=
ATN\BHAETHAATALIRRESTSE

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on 18 March 2020 and was signed on its

behalf. E e
Mr. Chen Zenan Mr. Huang Hu
BRIZERI L BERAE
Chairman Director

B e
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32.Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
particularly liquidity and credit risks. Where appropriate, the
Group’s risk management policies seek to minimise potential
adverse effects of these risks on the financial performance
of the Group. The policies for managing these risks are
summarised below.

(a) Cash flow interest rate risk

212

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from cash
balances placed with authorised financial institutions, loans
from an intermediate holding company and bank borrowings,
which generate interest income and incur interest expense
for the Group. The Group manages its interest rate risk
for cash balances by placing such balances on various
maturities and interest rate terms.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had loans from an
intermediate holding company of HK$3,848,434,000 (2018:
HK$3,915,009,000) and bank borrowings of HK$897,285,000
(2018: HK$943,321,000). It is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would decrease/
increase the Group’s profit for the year and total equity by
approximately HK$46,094,000 (2018: HK$40,781,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the balance sheet date and had been applied to the
interest-bearing financial instruments in existence at that
date.

R2.eREREE

(a)
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AEEZEBEAZESRER  FRIZR
BESREEZTRAR - AEEZREBREIEK
REEREEBRT » SREZFRRBEAR
SEPBRACEEARZERERE © %
SREBRERBRMAMT -

BERA=RmE

AEREZ R AR ER KA FRRBA &
BB RSB  PRERARZERK
RITIEE - ERASBELF SWANSIZ
MEXH - AEBE B ZFEHRATRE
HRFRIGEREFRERE RS BRI X
[\ o

R_ZE—NF+_A=+—8 A£EEA
R EFEERA R 2 E5K3,848,434,000/%
T (ZZF— N\ :3,915,009,0007T) %
$RITEE 897,285,000 T (ZE—N\F :

BHRBTEZBERT » FIRBEEF T
100 EEZ S AEBEF AT RBEEIR
b YEAN#) 46,094,000 T (ZE— )\ :
40,781,000 7T) °

PRSRRED T HRRNEEHEREE B
B4 WEERARZBFEZFEERT
E\_ o



=
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

NR.cEBEMEE (F)
(b) REEL AR

32.Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The Group’s objective in managing this risk is to
maintain a balance between the continuity and the flexibility
of funding through the use of bank loans and overdraft, if
necessary, and the loan from group companies.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at the balance
sheet date, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates as at the
balance sheet date) and the earliest date on which the Group

nBETEREASERETESREER
Az EBREBNE R - NEBEEEZ
Rz BRTVEBERRITERNES - #
FESSEBUERBERE 2 TE (HWEE) KK
BEBQRZER

TRITREEEAEEERBEZHRTA
WHIRFFS - DERREOARFTR RS
mE (BRERASONRFEZFENK -
FEREBNE - AERGEER X)) R
AEBAXNFRZER B - BREBIEK
B EER AR 2 ERMIRTTREE 2 BT H

can be required to pay. The balance includes the accrued B o FIER2MME15K%16 °
interest for the loans from an intermediate holding company

and bank borrowings. For details, please refer to Notes 15

and 16.
Loans from
Otherpayablesand  anintermediate holding
accrued liabilities company Bank borrowings Lease liabilities
EftEATEREEE RETHERARDZER BATEE HEGE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
-0 ZT\F ZB-AE T\ 2B ZT\F ZB-AEF CT\F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000
AT BETr BMTn ABTr A%Tn BT BMTn  A%Trn
Within 1 year orondemand ~ —FRHIEER 41,066 52463 - - 3487 51795 5,416 -
More than 1but less BR—FRIORME
than 2 years - - - - 908,706 - 5,496 -
More than 2 butless EBMEESRRE
than 5 years - - 4,483,807 4,481,962 - 957,728 13,544 =
More than 5 years BRDE - - - 85,230 - - - -
Carrying amount REE 41,066 52463 4483807 4567192 945,193 1,009,523 24,456 =
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32.Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Currency risk

214

Currency risk arises on account of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency. There is no non-monetary exposure on the Group.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
are denominated predominantly in Hong Kong Dollars. The
Group’s only significant exposure to foreign exchange risk
arises from its cash at bank and financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss in RMB and cash at bank in US$.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash at bank in RMB
of HK$1,499,000 (2018: HK$19,642,000), financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss in RMB of HK$1,116,000
(2018: HK$1,141,000), cash at bank in US$ of HK$33,582,000
(2018: HK$9,435,000), nil (2018: HK$115,903,000) in loan
receivable in US$ and nil (2018: HK$49,792,000) in bank
borrowing in US$.

If the RMB had strengthened/weakened by 10% against
Hong Kong Dollars with all other variables held constant, it
would increase/decrease the pre-tax profit for the year by
HK$262,000 (2018: HK$2,078,000). As US$ is pegged to HKS,
the Group does not expect any significant movement in the
US$/HK$ exchange rate.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in exchange rate had occurred at
the balance sheet date.
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2.eRAERERE (&)
(c) E¥EE

ERERKE AT ERUINERFECE
BEENABENRE - AREYEIFERR

6 o
A

AEBZeREERERABHERINET
FHE - AEEEINEAR Z M —BRERK
BEAARBHEZRITRE KR A FER
AB#H 2 BMEENSAERTFHEZ ]RI1TR
%o

R-BE—AE+-A=+—8 KEEHMNU
ARBEHEZRITIRE1,499,0008 L (=8
—/\%F 119,642,000/ 7T) - KARKEHE
ZIRATFEGFABRCSREE,116,000
BIL(ZZ—)\4F :1,141,000/87T) « A=
TTEHE 2 $R1738 € 33,582,000 T (=& —
N\ :9,435,000/7T) * AETTEHEZ FEIK
BERE(ZZ—)\F 115,903,000/ 7T)
RIAETFEZRITEEE(ZS—N\F :
49,792,000 7T) °

ERAEHEMESERTE ZERT  HAR
W H B ITIHE, B2 E10% » AT A2 F]
#1200, Wi 262,000 T (28— )\4F -
2,078,000787T) ° ARZETTEB THEE » A
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32.Financial risk management (Continued)
(d) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk arises mainly from its deposits with
banks and accounts receivable.

Bank deposits are mainly placed with high-credit-quality
financial institutions. The credit quality of bank deposits
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if
available) as follows:

NR.cEBEMEE (F)
d) EERR

AREFEZ EERBRETEHREHRITERLE
WK

RITEREEGHNEARFNSERSR
WiE - RITERNEEERAT2RATINE
EEFHR (A )FHE

2019 2018

—E2-hEF —E-N\F

% %

AA- 28.2 34.2
A+ 59.8 46.5
A 2.7 2.5
BBB 9.3 16.8
100.0 100.0

The Group manages its credit risk associated with accounts
receivable through the application of credit approvals, credit
ratings and monitoring procedures.

As at 31 December 2018, the loan receivable of
HK$115,903,000 represents US$15 million second lien
term loan which was acquired by the Group during the year.
As at 31 December 2018, the external credit rating of the
issuer of the loan receivable was no less than “B”. The Group
considered the credit risk exposure of the Group as low.

Credit sales are only made to customers with appropriate
credit history or high credit standing while sales to new
customers or customers of low credit standing are usually
made on an advance payment or cash on delivery basis.

As at 31 December 2019, the total accounts receivable are
from 39 customers (2018: 24 customers) only.

The Group considers that accounts receivable, deposits
and other receivables are financial instruments that have
not exposed to a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition (“stage 1”) and considers the probability
of default of accounts receivable, deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018 to be close to zero as the counterparties have strong
capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near
term. As a result, no loss allowance has been recognised
based on 12-month ECL as any such impairment would be
insignificant to the Group.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are
set out in Note 12 to the financial statements.

AEEZBRAEEEM]  EEFRNEE
?f#hm BEHEBYIRBRZEER

RZZE—NE+-_A=+—0 " EKEXK
115,903,000;‘%7%#51%%%WH&ZE%E‘\J
1,5008ETTNE _BEHETHER - K=
Z-—NF+=-A= + H - ERE KRBT
AHIIMBIEERTRMERN[BIAR - REER
B AEEZEERBRE -

AEBEAFEARFEERHIRSEE
?%Z%ﬁﬁﬁq% ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ&@%
FEBEEF  BEFEABELNFEHEER
AR ETRS °

R=Z—hE+=A=+—B - AKX
BERE=TAERF (ZB—/\F: =+
mEEF) -

AR ERBEBERIE - 1S KA MR IR
TiBB SRR ([E1REE AR - mﬁﬂ
RIS | e WIE WREER S
HFBBRAENECSHABTEARES  »
—E-NF+=-—A= + AN —_Z—N\F+
“A=+—HZRKFUE « e REMER
MEWLET%T@LFT H it - ARME
IR ES AEE M S HTEK - T E
RIE 1218 A B B 18 rER B 1 B -

B B A S B P e 2 FE WK IR 2 (2 B R s
—HE(LHE - SR RRME12
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32.Financial risk management (Continued) N.cEEKREE (&)

(e) Fair value estimation (e) AFEMET

The Group’s investment properties and financial asset
are measured at fair value. The Group classifies fair value
measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

See Notes 6 and 9 for disclosures of the investment
properties and financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss that are measured at fair value respectively.

AEBZRENER S BEENRFER
B - ARBURIRRETEMBZBARELZ
B2 AFERBOBRATHERNE - AF
EZRBEDRIAT

— HREEXEEERNSHRE CREH
B)(E14) -

- BREERE1RZREIN BEXAEBZ
B & (AER) REE (BURAERE)A
BB ARE (F2/) -

— WIFRBAERMSEBETE 2 EEX
BEZEASE (AT EREAZE)
(ZBE3M) -

BRRAFEAABRSEZREVMERERE
EZEEER &0 h2HME6 k9 -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1R 28R SE3R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT A%t AB¥TT AT

Financial asset at fairvalue R-—T—hAF+-A=+—8H
through profitorlossand  RAFEFT ABIHHN
investment propertiesasat £RMEERREWE
31 December 2019

Investment in an RIEEREE 2 IE
investment fund
Investment properties WEYE

- - 1,116 1,116
- - 3,351,200 3,351,200

Financial asset at fairvalue R=ZZT—/\F+=A=+—H
through profit or loss and BRAVEABREN
investment propertiesasat & RBERKEWME
31 December 2018

Investment in an investment REES Z1%E
fund

Investment properties REME

= = 1,141 1,141
= - 3,791,800 3,791,800

There was no transfer between levels during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

32.Financial risk management (Continued)

(e) Fairvalue estimation (Continued)

(f)

The financial asset at fair value through profit or loss under
Level 3 fair value measurement represents the investment in
limited partnership which is owned by Shen Zhen Great Wall
Pan Asia International Equity Investment Fund Management
Company* (RINIRBIRTBEIRBEREEZSERARR AR, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is not traded in
the active market.

The directors have determined that the carrying value of the
investment based on discounted expected proceed from
exercising the redemption option (2018: purchase cost)
represents fair value at the end of the reporting period for the
investment in limited partnership.

Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable
inputs

The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning
balance to the ending balance for fair value measurement in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

NR.cEBEMEE (F)
(e) DFEMLE ()

EIRAFEAER TRAFERT AER
MEMEER/RRARRZ2EMBARRIIE
WREERREREESERARAAME
BZBERAERZIKE  AXINERMHR
5o

EERB - BITEEERBEE LY EHR
A S SRR R ARREE (8 — /\F -
MERA) BRERAE 2 RANBEHK
ATHE -

() BEFTEERARENESHTRENMG

(]

TRINFE R FERBENAEIRLFEFE
FUEREFRGERNVER -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Opening balance FHEERR 3,792,941 1,782,696
Acquisition g1 - 1,608,921
Reclassification to property, BN EEME - W REE
plant and equipment (629,750) -
Additions during the year FARE 19,958 818
Unrealised gain recognised FRBERHARZ R
during the year 169,192 400,561
Exchange difference M 5 Z=RE (25) (55)
Closing balance FRAEER 3,352,316 3,792,941
Net changes in unrealised gains FEIRIERE R W
for Level 3 investment M) FE 169,167 400,506

* For identification purpose only

* EHES
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32.Financial risk management (Continued) N.cEEKREE (&)

(f) Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable (f) E&FfERGAREN SR T AN

inputs (Continued) B (&)
Balances of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss RZFE-NF+ZA=1+—BEATFEFA
and investment properties as at 31 December 2019: BalemEERIREMENLEE
Valuation
Investment Fairvalue  technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE NHE  ERE FABERARE thl,/EE
HK$'000
BETT
Financial asset at fair value 1,116 Discounted 7.5% N/A
through praofit or loss - expected proceed
Investment in fund from exercising
redemption option
BAHET ARRH TEEREEE 2 TER
TREE-EERE FRESMA R
Investment properties 3,351,200 Income Capitalisation rate: 2.6%-3.75% The higher the capitalisation rate,
(Refer to Note 6 for capitalisation the lower the fair value
details) approach
REME EXLRE BARLE : 26%%Z3.75% EXMrxids - ATEAEE

(FEF2HMT6)
Rental rates:

Retail shops:
HK$55 psf-HK$85 psf

Office buildings: HK$30.7
psf-HK$100.5 psf

Industrial buildings: HK$13.3
psf-HK$31 psf

Car parking space: HK$3,326 per space

ik
ZEE:
FFIRSGETEGT RGBT
WA -
FHIR0.7TETESFFHIRI05ET
IE:
FYARIBIETEHTARIET
(RGN -

BERESE3,3265T

The lower the rents, the lower
the fair value

BEHME - AFEIBE
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32.Financial risk management (Continued)

Balances of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and investment properties as at 31 December 2018:

NR.cEBEMEE (F)

RZZ—\FE+_A=+—BRIHETA
BanefEENMREMENEER -

Valuation
Investment Fairvalue  technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE MHE  ERE FAREBAYE thl,/EE
HK$'000
BT
Financial asset at fair value 1,141 Recent transaction N/A N/A
through profit or loss - price
Investment in fund
NN L) TR HE TNER TER
TREE-EeRE
Investment properties 3,791,800  Income Capitalisation rate: 2.5%-3.75% The higher the capitalisation rate,
(Refer to Note 6 for capitalisation the lower the fair value
details) approach
REME BMemE BAMEE : 25%%3.75% EAexds - ATERME -
(RiEF2HMT6)

Rental rates:
Retail shops:

The lower the rents, the lower
the fair value

HK$55 psf-HK$110 psf
Fresh market: HK$41 psf

-HK$100 psf

Office buildings:

HK$39 psf-HK$100 psf
Industrial buildings: HK$13.3 psf

-HK$29.5 psf

Car parking space: HK$3,329 per space

vy
TR

BEME  RPERBE

FYARGATEFTFAR0BT

Brgfam

BEARLETT
EREARI00ET

HWAKE :

BEARIGATEETLARI00ET

IE:

FYARIBIETEHTHR295ET

FEGEN :

SEEESSBA33298T

The financial asset at fair value through profit or loss under
Level 3 fair value measurement represents the investment
in limited partnership and is not traded in the active market.
The directors have determined that the carrying value of the
investment based on discounted expected proceed from
exercising the redemption option (2018: purchase cost)
represents fair value at the end of the reporting period for the
investment in limited partnership.

For details, please refer to Note 9.

FIJMAFEAEER TR AFEABS
ZEMEER/NABRERZRE - BIAFN
REMIER S c BERRL - RITHEDERE
REL 2 ENRARMETANKREREE
(ZF—)\F: BERN)BRERER 2K
BERmERARNAFHERE ©

BTG - F2HME -
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33.Subsidiaries and associates

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and the
Group’s principal associate as at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018 are as follows:

BBHMBARIRBE AT

R-E—AFE+-_A=+—BE_T—\F
+ZA=1+—H AR EEMBEAR N
AEBNEBEENRFIHOT

Subsidiaries HiB A
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of Proportion held
registration and operations  issued/registered BELE
Company (Kind of legal entity) share capital Direct Indirect  Nature of business
AT,/ SRR EREE
NEEH (EEL¥EER) BRf1/AMRAEE E# Mg XBME
Great Wall Pan Asia Asset Hong Kong Ordinary HK$25,560,000 = 100%  Asset management
Management Limited services
RYRGEEERERRE BB LR 25,560,007 BEERRY
Great Wall Pan Asia Corporate  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000 = 100%  Corporate finance services
Finance Limited
RORTRERRAT &B L1B1R5,000,000% 7 CXRERY
Great Wall Pan Asia Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000,000 = 100%  Securities Services
Security Limited (Note (a))
RIRGERERAR (i) BA L1#A%10,000,000/87 EH MR
Lyton Investment Limited The Commonwealth of The Ordinary US$2 = 100%  Property holding
Bahamas
BlRSANE LERoER NERE
Macheer Properties Limited The British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Property holding
ERBARES LRk ET NERE
Nanchao Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100% - Dormant
BB ERR2ET TEex
Nanchao Yau Tong Limited The British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Property holding
RBAEBRES 3l NERE
Sunny Bright Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 = 100%  Property holding
Limited
HNEXRERAR £ LERVET NERE
Sunny Success Development ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 = 100%  Property holding
Limited
AR ERARAT i EBR2ET NERE
Patrol Hall 12 Limited The British Virgin Islands Ordinary HK$8 = 100%  Property holding
REAARES LRERSET NERE
Ray Glory Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 = 100%  Property holding
BERRAR &B EBRIAT S

Note (a): Great Wall Pan Asia Security Limited was dissolved on 12

July 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 BB R I RE (48)

33.Subsidiaries and associates (Continued) 33.MB AR REEE AT (&)
Associates AN
Place of incorporation Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
Company and operations share capital attributable to the Group  Nature of business
REER AR REFBE ERTRAEE REBEEREAEAIL FHME
Shen Zhen Great Wall Pan The PRC Registered capital of RMB13,298,655 100%  Corporate consultancy
Asia International Equity services
Investment Fund Management
Company Limited
MIFIRTERRERE  HE FHEAR AR 13,208,6557T RERRE
EEERERDT
Dymacks Franchise Systems ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$7,700,000 45%  Bookshop operation
(China) Limited*
&b L#R7,700,000% 7T EER
Everwell City Limited The British Virgin Ordinary HK$10,001 35.78%  Property holding
Islands
RERRRES LRR100018T YESS]

# The financial statements of this company were not audited by # ZARZYBHRRIIEAETEEZROKE
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong or the member firms of @5t E /5 FTsk PricewaterhouseCoopers
PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited. International Limited Z i B ‘A A1E% °

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company and EEDA 0 RN ZAATIHREAT KA

associates of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors, EBVHMANRHAEBFEANEEFEAY

principally affected the results of the year or formed a & FEAREEFEEEANLL - EER
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give B O BB AT RN T 2 EERE

details of other subsidiaries and associates would, in the HeFEMEERBEBOLE °

opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

34.Related party transactions 34.BBH AR B

As at the balance sheet date, the Directors regard Great Wall REEHE R - EH18Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI)

Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited as the immediate holding Holding Limited SRRz BEZERAF]

company of the Company, Great Wall International as an MBI RARRAR 2 RREZERAR - mHE

intermediate holding company of the Company and GWAMCC RMBERN R ZHBLER AT

as the ultimate holding company of the Company.
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34.Related party transactions (Continued)

(@) Transactions with GWAMCC and its group of

subsidiaries

Significant transactions with GWAMCC and its group of

46.FABAE RS ()
() BHBEIRHEERHENBARZRS

HABRREEREMNBARZEAR SN

subsidiaries are as follow: N
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Lease of investment propertiestoan  AEREYZ T EIER QA
intermediate holding company
— Rental income 11,183 -
Rendering of services to an RS T EER AR
intermediate holding company
- Asset management service —BEEERS 36,573 31,579
Loans from an intermediate REFPEIERAF 2 ER
holding company
~ Interest expense (Note 23) — MBI (K15#23) 133,085 121,416
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans from an intermediate REFPEIER AT ZER
holding company
- Loan payable 3,848,434 3,915,009
- Interest payable 254,549 125,262
(b) Key management personnel compensation (b) EEEBEAEBZHE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Salaries and other short-term o kEMRHESET
employee benefits 1,509 1,540
Post-employment benefits 22 20
1,531 1,560
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OLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 BB R I RE (1)

35.Subsequent events /B EEHBAREE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held investment RZZT—NF+ZA=+—8  A£EF
properties of HK$3,351,200,000 (Note 6) and investment %£3,351,200,0008 L 2 R E M (Mi5E6)
in associates of HK$3,811,900,000 (Note 8). With the KRB N R) 2 $84 3,811,900,00058 7T (F
COVID-19 outbreak occurring after the year end, it may F18) - EEFATRRETRBEREEHRE
potentially impact the significant estimates used in the T ZIBR R AR B A 2R E W K
valuation of the investment properties held by the Group and EREIFA 2 HBREMEMEMANEXR
underlying investment properties held by an associate. The HEEEECRE - ERERREERRS
management will continue to monitor the situation and its ZEARHEAEENZE -

impact on the Group.

36.Approval of the financial statements 36. B gk 2 fit
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the NFEUBHRERENR T EF=A+N\H
Board of Directors on 18 March 2020. BEEEHE -
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

KRRV RE

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(in HKS millions, unless otherwise stated)  (REAT - BAHHEIN “E-nE 5\ “EtF “ENE 51
OPERATING RESULTS fexiE
Revenue e 168 145 123 92 53
Adjusted operating profit** ERBTE R 70 51 44 Y] %
Fairvalue gain on investment properties  REMEATERE 169 401 21 118 191
Operating profit mERA 2% 454 268 150 8
Share of profits/(losses) of associates EEBen7IRH/ (B8) 47 280 0) (1) 5)
Income tax expense FriEhRx ®) (6) (12) @ ()
Net profit attributable to Shareholders RREGRESREEEHE TR

from continuing operations 487 583 252 308 285
Net profit attributable to Shareholders BREERAERBLEE 2 IR

from discontinued operations - = = 1,408 31
Net profitattributable to Shareholders Rl R R 487 583 252 1716 316

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK LERSR
Adjusted operating profit per share BIRERREERH (BI)

(in HK cents) 446 3.23 283 201 222
Basic earnings per share (in HK cents) SIREAEM (B 31.06 30 15.89 109.49 18.26
Diluted adjusted operating profit pershare  SREEEAREL R (1)

(in HK cents) 446 323 283 201 222
Diluted earnings per share (in HK cents) BREERA (B 31.06 37.22 15.89 10049 18.25
Dividend per share (in HK cents) SRS (A1) - - - - 280
Net asset value per share (in HK) BRFEE (BT 189 158 121 107 216

FINANCIAL POSITION BHHR
Property, plant and equipment ER =G 632 4 5 2 97
Total assets haE 8,032 7513 3,363 1,715 3,732
Loans from an intermediate REFEERAAER

holding company (3,848) (3915) (1,436) = =
Loan from anon-controlling Shareholder ~ RE—&FHEAIMRE 2 €30 - - - - 2
Total liabilities faf (5,073) (5,041) (1471) (36) (359)
Netassets attributable toShareholders ~ RRIEIEFAE 2,959 2473 1,892 1679 3318
Number of Shares in issue BEARO%A 1,567,745596  1,567,745596  1567,745596 1567745596  1,561,057,596

KEY RATIOS i
Adjusted operating profitto revenue e el 42% 35% 36% 34% 66%
Return on average equity HRABHE 17.93% 26.75% 14,00% 1230% %
Return on average total assets T EERSE 6.26% 10.73% 991% 11.30% 8%
Gearing BEafRNE 60.7% 65.5% 41.1% - -
Current assets to current liabiliies THAEHLRDER 399% 177% £956% 4.35% 4.69%
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (Continued)

The financial results for media business for the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016 were presented as discontinued
operations. The figures for the years ended 31 December 2015
have not been restated as they were not prepared using the
principles of merger accounting and it would involve delay and
expenses out of proportion to the benefit to Shareholders.

*** Adjusted operating profit is defined as operating profit before other
income and fair value gain on investment properties.

NCIAL SUMMARY (Continued)

PRI IR (R)

BE_ZT—+t&R T "F+-_A=+—HIt
FREEBEBIVMBEESINRERIERERE
BoBE_E—NFE+_A=T—RHIFEEIH
FARIEES - TIRAEW IS HEETRAFER
BB A TR & 5 B & A B AR R F 2 T A8
18 o

oo B E RN RE RARTTEMBARRE Y
NHER S EERT -
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GLOSSARY
] 5

“Board”

[EFg] 5

“Bye-Laws”
[A =48] ¥

“China” or “PRC”
(B 8

“Company” or

“GWPA Holdings”

[T [ RMIREER 5

“Corporate Governance Code”
[ E e~ 5

“Director(s)”

(&%) B

“Great Wall International”

[ I BB |

*  Foridentification purpose only

* o EHEE

the board of directors of the Company

RRREFE

the Bye-Laws of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRBEEHERT 2 R w48

the People’s Republic of China
REE A RHAE

Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited, an exempted company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the issued
Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 583)

RPWIRGEREGRAF  —FRBEBRETMRINERRERA
Al - HE BT S R £ (AR AL5E - 583)

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the

Listing Rules
ETHR R S A E ) (R R ER TR

(a) director(s) of the Company
KARIESR

China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings Company
Limited * a company incorporated under the laws of Hong
Kong with limited liability and a controlling Shareholder of the
Company

PERBEE (BR) ZERERQAR] - —KBEEEEDIZMA L
WBER QR RARE 2 ERARR
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GLOSSARY
] %

“GFOUD”, “We”, or “our”

[ E k(3R]

“GWAMCC”

[PEENEE]
“HK$”
[7&7T]

“Hong Kong”
[&&]

”

“Latest Practicable Date

[RIEERRATTEA
“Listing Rules”
[ Em#RA]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Memorandum of Association and
Bye-Laws”

MRS RE KM S A AR A |

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

R REARE 2B AT

China Great Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd., a financial
conglomerate engaged in a broad range of integrated financial
services and an ultimate controlling Shareholder of the
Company

TERUREEEERNERAR  —ARFRZGETRBRBZE
BEERARR R Z &EERIRER

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

B BAEEES

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REE BRI TR

21 April 2020
“E-EFMA=—+—H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (as amended from time to time)
B PrE s E AR R (EARERT)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by
the Stock Exchange which is independent of and operated in
parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

BMXAEENESRZ S (TREHETS) - HIB NI B

FTGEMII1TiE{E

the Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the

Company, as amended from time to time

RRBEIRHERT 2 BBERKE N A RIARA
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GLOSSARY
] 5

“Model Code”

“SFC”

ﬁ
il
i
i3
| S—

“SFO”

[ 78 77 & g 15 f |

“Share(s)”

[ Bt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 3

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 2 FA

“Us$”

E

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
FHRAIMEE TSNS EMBETAESTETEFRRINREST
)

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

ErEEFIMEEHERLZE S

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time)

FREDIFES7 BEF LB GO (B TARERT - /AT
HAEH)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the
Company
ARARIEARFEEN0E T2 B

holder(s) of Share(s) from time to time

P Z B EEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BB ARZAERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

of America

XL ENBERBDEEEH
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@ suEGERERAS)

\ . GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OFA P52 5 M7 2 A7 PR ZA )
(Stock Code AL 55 © 583)

T EREBE 12 SRR BRAT 0 21 B
21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
www.gwpaholdings.com

* For identification purpose only
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